
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 1 July 2019. 
 01476 406080

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 9 July 2019 at 4.00 pm
Shekinah Room - Jubilee Church Life Centre, 1-5 London 

Road, Grantham. NG31 6EY

Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Hannah Westropp, Cabinet Member for Communications and Engagement

Agenda
1.  Apologies

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2019.

(Pages 3 - 7)

3.  Disclosure of Interests (if any)

4.  Housing Strategy 12 month progress update (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing providing a 12-month progress update 
on the Housing Strategy delivery plan.

(Pages 9 - 22)

Cabinet

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


5.  Tenancy Strategy (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing on the Tenancy Strategy.

(Pages 23 - 49)

6.  Tenancy Agreement (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing on the Tenancy Agreement.

(Pages 51 - 89)

7.  Tenant Involvement Strategy (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing on the Tenant Involvement Strategy.

(Pages 91 - 108)

8.  Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning on the Housing Delivery Test Action 
Plan.

(Pages 109 - 144)

9.  Outturn 2018/19
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance on the outturn position for 2018/2019.

(Pages 145 - 176)

10.  Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees
Report of the Leader of the Council on matters referred to Cabinet by the Council 
or one of the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees.

(Pages 177 - 187)

11.  Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
Report of the Leader of the Council on decisions taken by Cabinet Members since 
the last meeting of the Cabinet.

(Pages 189 - 207)

12.  Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members
The Cabinet notes that prior to the publication of this agenda, no representations 
or questions had been received from non-Cabinet Members since the last meeting 
of the Cabinet held on 11 June 2019. The Cabinet may consider representations 
from non-Cabinet Members received following publication of the agenda for this 
meeting.

13.  Cabinet Forward Plan
Report of the Leader of the Council on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for 1 July 2019 
to 30 June 2020.

(Pages 209 - 218)

14.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Minutes
Cabinet
Tuesday, 11 June 2019

The Leader: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman)

Cabinet Members present

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Housing

Non-Cabinet Members present

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

Officers

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie Muddimer)
Strategic Director, Commercial & Operational (Gary Smith)
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Interim Head of Legal (Shahin Ismail)
Head of Communications (Bron Madson)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

1. Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Reid and Westropp.

3

Agenda Item 2



2. Minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019 were agreed as a correct record.

3. Disclosure of Interests (if any)

No interests were disclosed.

4. Street Lighting (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented his report on the 
utilisation of the Invest to Save Reserve for energy efficient LED replacements for 
South Kesteven District Council’s street lighting stock. He explained that the Council 
had approximately 3,500 streetlights that sat within the General Fund. The lights, 
which were generally found in villages, were maintained on a rolling 3-year cycle.

Reference was made to the recommendations of the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, which had initially been considered by Cabinet on 12 July 2018. 
The draft policy, which was presented at that time, had been considered sound but 
work was required on the financial aspects of the Committee’s proposal. Following 
the completion of that work, Cabinet was being asked to approve £100,000 from the 
Invest to Save Reserve to kick-start a self-perpetuating replacement scheme where 
savings could be reinvested so that each subsequent year there would be more, 
cheaper, energy-efficient lights until the full stock had been replaced. During debate, 
Members expressed support for the proposed levels of investment based on the 
projected payback period of different levels of investment.

In addition to the General Fund stock, there were also approximately 300 lights that 
sat within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). It was proposed that all HRA lights 
were replaced with energy efficient LED fully-funded through the HRA at a cost of 
approximately £80,000.

The emphasis within the proposed policy was keeping lights turned on and providing 
illumination when and where required that was safe, efficient and well-maintained.

Cabinet members were interested in arrangements for the installation of street lights 
that complemented an area’s heritage. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations stated that it was for parish or town councils to invest in the street 
furniture inside which SKDC would fit the necessary equipment.

Reference was made to the Council’s digital strategy and how the proposed 
approach gave the Council sufficient time to explore ‘the internet of things’ through 
which SKDC was looking to create a small network of intelligent street lights. 

Given that the majority of the Council’s lighting stock was in villages, Members 
recognised the proposals as an opportunity for the Council to show its support for 
rural communities.

The Cabinet AGREED to:

4



1. The allocation of £100,000 from the Invest to Save Reserve to facilitate the 
process of converting the General Fund street lights to energy efficient LED as 
part of a 12-year overall programme

2. The replacement of Housing Revenue Account street lights to energy efficient 
LED fully funded from the HRA (at a cost of approximately £80,000)

3. The procurement process and award of the contract/s for the works and 
maintenance (at a whole life contract/s cost of approximately £1,100,000), with 
authority delegated to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

4. Approve the Street Lighting Policy appended to the report of the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations

5. Proposed Statement of Common Ground - Stamford North (Key 
Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Planning presented his report on the draft Statement of 
Common Ground in respect of proposed development at Stamford North. He 
explained that in 2015 the Council commissioned a capacity study to identify 
potential development sites in Stamford. That study identified a 153-hectare parcel of 
land to the north of Stamford that extended into Rutland.

Cabinet Members were advised that the Localism Act 2011 introduced the ‘Duty to 
Co-operate’ while the National Planning Policy Framework placed a requirement on 
local planning authorities to co-operate with one another to masterplan and ensure a 
co-ordinated approach for cross-boundary development.

A development brief would be prepared for the site, which would be brought to each 
Council’s Cabinet. Following public consultation, this would be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document.

The Cabinet Member for Planning drew Members’ attention to the draft Statement of 
Common Ground between South Kesteven District Council, Lincolnshire County 
Council and Rutland County Council, which was appended to his report.

Members noted the comments and recommendations made by the Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
which were circulated at the meeting. It was noted that Appendix C to the draft 
Statement of Common Ground would be supplied following its agreement with other 
partners on the way in which costs would be managed.

Cabinet members were being asked to approve the draft Statement, and because 
South Kesteven was the first authority of the three signatories to consider the 
document, delegate making any minor amendments and the approval of the final 
document to the Cabinet Member for Planning in consultation with the Chairman of 
the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Strategic Director, Growth. This was to provide an opportunity to 
update the Statement of Common Ground with any minor changes required by 

5



decision-makers at Rutland County Council and Lincolnshire County Council without 
having to re-present the report to the Cabinet.

In commenting on the proposals, Cabinet Members recognised the importance of co-
operating across local authorities both in respect of planning matters and economics. 

It was AGREED:

1. Cabinet approves the Statement of Common Ground between South 
Kesteven District Council, Rutland County Council and Lincolnshire County 
Council regarding the planning arrangements to be established for the 
proposed development at Stamford North

2. Cabinet delegates the making of any minor modifications that may be 
proposed by Rutland County Council or Lincolnshire County Council and the 
sign-off of the final, amended version of the document, to the Cabinet Member 
for Planning in consultation with the Chairman of the Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
the Strategic Director, Growth

6. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees

The report of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet Members that no matters 
had been referred to it by the Council and summarised those matters that had been 
considered by overview and scrutiny committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 
7 March 2019.

7. Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members

The Cabinet Member for Planning was asked for an update on the adoption of roads 
and open spaces on the Persimmon development in Market Deeping. The Cabinet 
Member for Planning said that adoption of roads by Lincolnshire County Council 
would only take place where roads were built to an adoptable standard. Reference 
was made to the practice that had been employed by the developer in other 
instances, where open spaces were handed over to an in-house company. Members 
noted that the development also included allotments, which would become the 
responsibility of the town council. The Cabinet Member for Planning promised to find 
out the current position and provide an answer to the member.

A question was put to the Cabinet Member for Growth which asked for an update on 
when details would come forward for the new leisure centres proposed for the 
Deepings and Stamford. The Councillor was advised that negotiations were 
underway on potential sites. The timing of the announcement of the site would 
depend on the progress of those negotiations. Members were advised, however, that 
a report would be brought to Council on 27 June 2019 seeking budget to progress 
the project through the development of a business case for the leisure programme 
with a report being brought back to Cabinet later in 2019.

6



One member referred to the earlier agenda item on street lighting, asking about 
arrangements for provision of heritage street lights in conservation areas and how 
that could be accommodated in Grantham, where there was no parish or town 
council to make that request or provide the street furniture. A question was also 
asked about the Council’s policy for keeping lights turned on overnight. The Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations was asked to talk to the Member about 
those matters outside the meeting.

A final question was put to the Leader concerning information that had been 
requested during the previous term by the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
about the priorities and deliverables for InvestSK. The Leader responded stating that 
the matter was reserved for the new Companies Committee, the role of which would 
be to look at all the Council’s companies and understand how they were performing. 
Issues around business plans would be dealt with through the Companies Committee 
together with how the companies manage their performance and targets. The Leader 
also stated that if information was not forthcoming when requested by an overview 
and scrutiny committee, the matter should be taken up with the Chief Executive.

8. Cabinet Forward Plan

Cabinet Members noted the report of the Leader of the Council, appended to which 
was the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The Forward Plan gave an indication of the items 
that would be presented to Cabinet over the following 12-month period. The plan also 
included items that were scheduled to be considered at meetings of the Council 
during that period.

9. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non-Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.

The Cabinet noted the report of the Leader of the Council which informed Cabinet 
Members of decisions that had been taken by individual Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet was held on 7 March 2019.

10. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 16:36.

7



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee
9th July 2019

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson

Cabinet Member for Housing

        

South Kesteven District Council Housing Strategy Update 

The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the twelve-month progress update on year one 
delivery plan for the approved Housing Strategy (2017-2021).

Appendix 1 to this report shows the current status update on these actions and any further actions 
or comments for each one.

Report Author

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Service Improvement Officer

 01476 40 60 63

 c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Non-Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Harry Rai, Assistant Director - Housing 14 June 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 19 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for 
Housing 21 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Cabinet notes and acknowledges the content of this twelve-month progress update 
of the year one delivery plan attached as Appendix 1.

2. Cabinet notes the current refresh of the Housing Strategy taking place with a view 
to bring back the revised Document to the Cabinet for presenting to their meeting 
of 10th September 2019. 

9

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Housing Strategy (2017-2021) was taken to Cabinet under report HS6 on 12th April 

2018.

1.2 Cabinet approved the adoption of the revised draft housing strategy and the proposed Year 
1 (2018/2019) Internal Delivery Plan.  The one-year delivery plan has four themes identified 
and actions under each theme.

1.3 Cabinet agreed that the Cabinet Member for Housing will regularly monitor progress against 
the ‘Action Plan’ and report after an initial period of 6 months, with a view to then making 
annual reports.

1.4 The six-month update was taken to Cabinet on the 1st November 2018.

1.5 The annual review of the action plan has been attached for Cabinet as Appendix 1 and 
Cabinet is asked to note the following summary of achievements: -

A 5-year housing development programme developed for 300 units with funding approved 
for years 1-3 by full council.

Allocations policy reviewed in 2018 to address overcrowding and under occupancy and 
meet the new requirements of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017.

78 affordable homes delivered in 2018/19 across various tenures with a further 100 planned 
for 2019/20. (not including direct build from SKDC).

Planning applications submitted for 2 modular sites as an alternative way to deliver 
affordable housing.

Assessment and options to maximise the opportunities from the removal of the HRA 
borrowing cap undertaken with options being presented to Cabinet in 2019.

Assessment of Council owned [HRA] assets in 2018/19 has formed a longer term 7 pipeline 
housing development programme for 500 homes, of which years 1-3 have been approved 
as part of the Full Council decision in March 2019. 

Housing Enforcement Policy developed and approved by Cabinet on 1 November 2018.

Following receiving Royal Assent the Tenant Fees Act 2019 has informed the draft Social 
Lettings Agency scheme, which will be presented to cabinet for consideration during 
2019/20.

1.6 Cabinet at their meeting of 1 November 2018 were advised that after the 1st year a refresh 
of the Strategy is good practice to ensure its continued fit for purpose status. This process 
has begun and a slightly refreshed Housing Strategy will be presented to Cabinet at their 
meeting of 10th September 2019 for consideration and approval. No significant changes are 
proposed, however, Cabinet is asked to note some of the enhanced areas that will feature 
in the refresh: -

(i) Supporting Housing Independence for Older People and other vulnerable 
Groups - remodelling & technology

(ii)  Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement

(iii)  Improve Housing Services & Options

(iv)  Regenerate our priority neighbourhoods

10



(v) Energy Efficiency- Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments 
and current Housing.

The refreshed Housing Strategy will be supported by an action plan outlining key dates and 
milestones to ensure actions are on track to achieve the objectives of the Strategy

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1  N/A

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 N/A

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The 12-month progress update has been brought back to Cabinet as per the monitoring 

arrangements.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 N/A

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 None associated with this delivery plan update.

7.2 There may be resource implications in delivering each action.  These will be dealt with either 
through existing budgets; delegated authority to approve the use of any new budget or the 
submission of a report to seek the approval of new resources.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Since the repeal of section 87 of the Local Government Act 2003 on 26 May 2015 there has 

been neither a statutory or regulatory provision imposing a requirement to have a Housing 
Strategy.  However, it is nevertheless recognised as best practice to do so.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 The Impact Analysis of the Strategy was originally produced in September 2017 and has 

been reviewed and updated to reflect the consultation exercise.

9.2 The Impact Analysis has identified ways in which the Strategy can positively impact 
households with protected characteristics.

9.3 Outcomes of the Strategy aim to improve the delivery of affordable housing, provide choice 
to enable people to live independently in a home that suits their needs, ensure quality 
housing in the private rented sector and support housing need.  Many of the action plan 
activities which will achieve these outcomes support low income households, amongst 
whom protected groups are often disproportionately represented.

9.4 Individual Impact Analysis will be undertaken for the supporting policies which will underpin 
the achievement of the Strategy as they are developed.

11



10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 

the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls

Delivery of Corporate Plan 
priorities for housing growth

The refreshed housing strategy and associated action plan 
provide the mechanism to facilitate and drive forward the 
development of a wide range of homes, while supporting 
wider opportunities for growth within the district.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are not considered to be any direct community safety implications arising from this 

report.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified

13 Background Papers
13.1 Report HS6: South Kesteven District Council’s Draft Housing Strategy

Report HS6

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – year 1 delivery plan 12-month progress update.

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

10 June 2019

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 12 April 2018

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

12

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s19919/HS6%20Housing%20Strategy%20for%20Cabinet.pdf


Appendix 1

13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



Committee
9th July 2019

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson

Cabinet Member for Housing

        

South Kesteven District Council Tenancy Strategy
The previous Tenancy Strategy was published in 2013 and is need of a review. A Tenancy 
Strategy identifies the tenancies we expect to be used across the district and acts as a guide to all 
social landlords who operate in the area.

Report Author

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Service Improvement Officer

 01476 406063

 c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Harry Rai, Assistant Director - Housing 14 June 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 19 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for 
Housing 21 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Cabinet approves the draft South Kesteven Tenancy Strategy for formal Consultation and 
a further report be presented after the consultation for Cabinet to consider and adopt the 
Tenancy Strategy.

23

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Localism Act (2011 s.150) requires all local housing authorities to produce a Tenancy 

Strategy.  The role of a local authority’s Tenancy Strategy is to help guide social landlords, 
who operate in their area, in making decisions about what types of tenancies to offer.

1.2 Our current Tenancy Strategy was published in 2013 and is in need of review.  When it was 
formulated, it identified the tenancies we expect to see used.  It states that the Council 
supports the use of assured or secure and flexible tenancies appropriate to the household’s 
need or property type.  Under certain circumstances where flexible tenancies are used, it 
states that the Council would hope to see fixed term tenancies of five years or more used.

1.3 Tenancy Strategy needs to include:

 A recommendation on the type of tenancies local social landlords should grant
 If fixed term tenancies are recommended, a proposal of the preferred length of tenancy 

(e.g.  regulatory minimum or longer)
 The circumstances under which another tenancy will be granted at the end of an existing 

one

1.4 Our tenancy strategy aims to make the best use of stock, through the appropriate use of 
tenure, meet housing need and set out clear guidance to other registered providers on the 
types of tenancies to grant, so that all social housing across our district is used to it’s 
optimum.

1.5 The Localism Act introduced fixed term tenancies.  Prior to this, all social landlords (councils 
and other registered providers e.g. housing associations) were required to let their 
properties on secure/assured lifetime tenancies.

1.6 Case for the use of longer tenancies
1.6.1 Short term tenancies are contrary to creating sustainable communities.  Instead, they 

destabilise communities and make households feel insecure.  They can generate work 
disincentives and end up costing the Council and other social landlords more than longer 
term lifetime tenancies (due to officer time; court costs to evict if tenants who do not leave 
at the end of the tenancy; temporary accommodation costs etc.).

1.6.2 Longer term tenancies are especially important to households with dependent children or 
vulnerable people. As they provide households with children the security of a settled home 
whilst children are in school; vulnerable people e.g. elderly and people with physical 
disabilities or mental health problems in need of social housing, are more likely to have a 
lower income and less likely to have the practical resources to move home.

1.6.3 Longer term tenancies help to facilitate more balanced and mixed communities with 
households being in different financial and life circumstances.

1.6.4 Implications of shorter term tenancies.

Shorter term tenancies can lead to increased costs due to potential court possession 
proceedings and officer time in administrating the renewal or ending of fixed term tenancies 
and in processing any legal action.

1.6.5 In addition, regulations require local authorities to offer advice and assistance to tenants at 
the end of a fixed term tenancy and this could lead to additional costs to facilitate this.

24



1.6.6 Providing shorter tenancies discourage tenants from making significant improvements to 
their home and other investment in the property, which can cause increased maintenance 
costs for the landlord, this then leads to a more frequent turnover of tenants and landlords 
having to invest in decorating and general maintenance of the property more frequently.  It 
also adds to the officer time in the re-allocation and letting of the properties and increasing 
rent lost through a property being void.

Implications for meeting housing need.
1.6.7 There is no strong evidence that shorter term tenancies actually help free up more 

properties this is due to a large proportion of tenants having school aged children in the 
household and so they are more likely to renew tenancy so that schooling is not 
interrupted.

1.6.8 In regard to private renting, insecure tenancies are provided (often 6 or 12 month ASTs).  
Although these can be renewed, notice can be given to tenants at any point without 
landlords needing to give a reason.  This is the reason that many households approach 
the Council for housing in the first place due to difficulties in accessing the Private Rented 
Sector (PRS) if needing to claim UC/HB for housing costs

1.6.9 Government is keen to promote homeownership, however, many households will not be 
on an income which will allow them to buy a property or have sufficient savings for a 
deposit (even for affordable homeownership).  Longer term secure tenancies will help 
those tenants who are in a position to buy, they are more likely to buy their 
Council/Housing Association (in pilot areas) property under RTB and remain in their 
property.  

Impact on local community
1.6.10 Fixed term tenancies have the potential to undermine community cohesion e.g. private 

rented tenants are less likely to be involved in local groups and organisations than those 
on more secure forms of tenancy.

1.6.11 Fixed term tenancies make tenant involvement and empowerment harder to achieve, as 
new tenants are less likely to participate in this if they are on shorter tenancies.

Impact on tenants
1.6.12 Longer term, secure tenancies are more likely to create settled and stable homes creating 

a conducive environment for tenants to access employment.  If a tenant is concerned that 
any increase in their income through work will result in their tenancy not being renewed as 
it considered that they have sufficient means by which they can access housing for 
themselves, this may be a disincentive to work or aspire to a work promotion.

1.6.13 Shorter tenancies can cause anxiety for older and vulnerable tenants (e.g. those with 
learning difficulties and with physical or mental health problems), fearing that their tenancy 
may not be renewed.  These tenants are more likely to struggle with the bureaucracy of 
tenancy reviews.

Case for shorter fixed term tenancies
1.6.14 One of the potential benefits from offering shorter term tenancies in the social rented 

market is that at a review period landlord can ensure that tenancies are reserved for only 
households who are less likely to be on an income which is sufficient to rent or buy in the 
private market.

25



1.6.15 In addition, any tenants who are causing ASB or who have rent arrears, it may be easier 
to not renew their tenancy than putting a case forward for eviction, however, any first time 
tenants will be provided an introductory tenancy before becoming secure.

1.6.16 Finally, shorter term, tenancies potentially can create an improved sense of equality 
between tenants of social and private rented housing and can assist with properties being 
less likely to be under occupied.

1.6.17 The drafted new tenancy strategy favours longer term secure tenancies but allows for the 
use of fixed term tenancies, in exceptional circumstances. The information on affordability 
in the draft strategy shows that many households need social housing as private rental 
housing can be too expensive.  For households who can afford to privately rent, it still 
remains insecure as notice can be given without reason, after the initial fixed term expires.  
It is for these reasons that it is important for the Council and other registered providers to 
provide affordable and secure housing.

1.6.18 There are also alternatives to shorter fixed term tenancies e.g. encouraging the take up of 
home ownership options and increasing the rents for tenants earning over the income 
threshold to be accepted onto the Council’s housing register.

1.6.19 The next steps are to consult on the tenancy strategy.  Local authorities are required to 
consult social landlords in their area before adopting a tenancy strategy.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The recommendation is to seek approve the draft Tenancy Strategy for formal 

consultation, following which it will be presented to the Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for their comments before being presented to Cabinet for 
adoption. 

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 N/A

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The Localism Act (2011 s.150) requires all local housing authorities to produce a tenancy 

strategy.  Our current Tenancy Strategy was published in 2013 and is in need of review.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 N/A at this stage – approval being sought for consultation only.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There will be no additional costs to the Council in the implementation of this Tenancy 

Strategy.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Localism Act (2011 s.150) requires all local housing authorities to produce a tenancy 

strategy.  The strategy will be for a five-year period and will be monitored throughout.

26



Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 Refer to the Equality Impact Assessment (Appendix 2)

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 If the Council does not make recommendations to private registered providers regarding the 

types of tenancies to use, there could be a risk that short term, fixed tenancies are used.

11 Community Safety Implications 
Longer, secure tenancies have a positive implication on creating stable and safer 
communities.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified.

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – draft tenancy strategy

Appendix 2 - EIA

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

28 January 2019

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  9 July 2019

27



This page is intentionally left blank



2019-2024

29

Appendix 1



Tenancy Strategy

2

The Localism Act (2011 s.150) requires all local 
housing authorities to produce a Tenancy Strategy. 
The role of a local authority’s tenancy strategy is to 
help guide social landlords who operate in their area, 
make decisions about what types of tenancies to offer.  
Private registered providers are required to publish 
their own tenancy policies and take account of their 
local authority’s Tenancy Strategy (although it is not 
compulsory for them to do the latter). Local authorities 
are required to consult social landlords in their area 
before adopting a Tenancy Strategy.

A Tenancy Strategy must include:

• A recommendation on the type of tenancies local 
social landlords should grant

• If fixed term tenancies are recommended, a proposal 
of the preferred length of tenancy (e.g. regulatory 
minimum or longer)

• The circumstances under which another tenancy will 
be granted at the end of an existing one

Our Tenancy Strategy aims to make the best use of 
stock, through the appropriate use of tenure, meet 
housing need and set out clear guidance to other 
registered providers on the types of tenancies to grant, 
so that all social housing across our district is used to its 
optimum level.

1. Introduction

30



3

Tenancy Strategy

31



4

Tenancy Strategy

32



5

Tenancy Strategy

Our Tenancy Strategy needs to be shaped by our vision 
for the district.

The emerging Local Plan (2011 – 2036) states that by 
2036 the vision is that South Kesteven will provide a high 
quality of life, consisting of sustainable urban and rural 
communities, where people want to live and work and 
are able to do so in quality and enhanced environments. 
The district will be a safe place to live with strong 
communities.

One of the strategic objectives is to ensure that new 
residential development includes a mix and range of 
housing types which are suitable for a variety of needs, 
including the need for affordable and local need housing 
in the district.

The Housing Strategy (2017 – 2021) states that at the 
heart of it is the belief that homes are a fundamental part 
of our lives. Houses should be ‘healthy’, good quality, 
sustainable and secure, providing the environment for 
people to thrive and achieve. Good housing in vibrant 
and attractive towns and villages supports a strong 
economy and helps create a community where people 
want to live, work and invest.

2. Vision

33



Tenancy Strategy

6 34



7

Tenancy Strategy

The Localism Act introduced fixed term tenancies. Prior 
to this, all social landlords (councils and other registered 
providers e.g. housing associations) were required to let 
their properties on secure lifetime tenancies.

The Localism Act has allowed social landlords to let 
properties on fixed term tenancies. Regulations require 
that councils let properties on flexible fixed term 
tenancies for a minimum of five years. In exceptional 
cases, the statutory minimum of two years may be used.  
Assured shorthold fixed term tenancies can be offered by 
private registered providers to tenants of general needs 
social housing for a statutory minimum of two years. 

3. Background

35



8

Tenancy Strategy

4. Local Context

SKDC manages its own housing stock.

Gravitas – is the housing development arm of SKDC. It 
was established in 2017 and is a wholly-owned company 
that specialises in using pockets of council-owned land 
to deliver small scale housing developments that are 
suitable for local builders and ‘self-builders’.

DeliverSK – has been recently established as 50% 
SKDC owned and 50% private company owned. It 
includes a focus on medium and large scale housing 
developments (including social and affordable housing).

Local Plan (2011 – 2036) – is at the Examination in 
Public stage.
Housing Asset Management Strategy (2013 – 2018) – 
under review
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan (2014 – 
2019) – under review
Housing Strategy (2017 – 2021) – under review
Allocations Policy 2018 – under review

36



Tenancy Strategy

937



Tenancy Strategy

10

South Kesteven Housing Stock

Owner occupied Shared ownership Social Rented Private Rented Living Rent Free

69.4% c.1% 13.4% 14.6% c.1%

Detached Semi-detached Terraced Flat/Maisonette Other

42% 31% 18% 8% 1%

Figure 5: Peterborough Sub – Regional 2014 SHMA (source: Census 2011) – Tenure

Figure 7: Peterborough Sub – Regional 2014 SHMA (source: Census 2011) – House Types

Size
Owner 
occupied

Social
rented

Private
rented

Total

Number % Number % Number % Number %

1 bedroom 645 1.6 1,249 16.2 1,189 12.7 3,083 5.4

2 bedrooms 6,998 17.4 3,067 39.8 3,554 38.1 13,619 23.7

3 bedrooms 19,000 47.1 3,066 39.8 3,492 37.4 25,558 44.6

4 bedrooms 10,520 26.1 253 3.3 832 8.9 11,605 20.2

5 + bedrooms 3,148 7.8 66 0.9 265 2.8 3,479 6.1

Total 40,311 100 7,701 100 9,332 100 57,344 100

Table 7: Peterborough Sub – Regional 2014 SHMA (source: Census 2011) – House Sizes by Tenure

38



Tenancy Strategy

11

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed

20-25% 40-45% 25-30% 5-10%

Lower quartile purchase price £37,100

Lower quartile private rent £19,400

Affordable rent £15,500

Lower quartile social rent £13,400

Housing Need and Demand

The annual affordable homes required in the South Kesteven Local Authority Area is 238dpa 
Source: 2017 update of the Peterborough Sub – Regional 2014 SHMA

Affordability

Lower quartile house price to income ratio
 
Recorded as being 7.2 in 2012 in the Peterborough Sub – Regional 2014 SHMA (figure 42).

Estimated proportion of households with insufficient income to afford market housing  
without subsidy/savings

Recorded as being 33.1% taken from table 41 of the 2014 SHMA 
source: online estate and letting agents survey October 2013 and GL Hearn income modelling).

Minimum household income needed for the following: source: information taken from the 2014 SHMA Table 39

The highest need is for 2 and 3 bedroom properties, as evidenced in the table below.

Source: Online Estate and Letting Agents Survey (October 2013) and CORE

39



12

Tenancy Strategy

Estimated net need for 
equity-based products

Net need from households which could 
afford more than existing social rents 
but not equity products

Net need from households who cannot  
afford more than existing social rent levels

20% 56% 24%

Net need within different affordability categories

Source: SHMA 2014 (table 56)

The calculations are based on 3.5 times household income for house purchase and 30% of gross income to be spent 
on housing for rented properties. The figures for house purchase are based on a 100% mortgage for the purposes 
of comparing the different types of housing and it should be recognised that 100% mortgages are not generally 
available and households would need to have a level of savings to pay a deposit and cover transactional costs to  
buy a home.

The private rents across the South Kesteven local authority area and the amount of local housing allowance which 
is paid, shows that private renting is not affordable to households who need welfare benefits for payment of rent 
(as shown in the tables below).  In addition to this, many landlords will not rent a property to households on welfare 
benefits and ask for a guarantor for the rent, which many households do not have.

Lower Quartile Private Rents (per calendar month) across South Kesteven local authority area:

Source: Valuation Office Agency - Private rental market summary statistics: October 2017 to September 2018

Local Housing Allowance Rates
South Kesteven local authority area is covered by four local broad rental market areas (used to calculate local housing 
allowance). These are Grantham and Newark; Lincoln; Lincolnshire Fens; and Peterborough. The following are figures 
are for March 2019:

Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 or more bed

£347 £378 £515 £600 £830

Shared  
accommodation rate

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed

Mean Average of all BMRAs (PCM) £252.93 £365.83 £460.44 £528.21 £677.56

40



13

Tenancy Strategy

Secure or assured tenancies are favoured by the council 
to provide security to households and create sustainable 
communities.

Fixed term tenancies to only be given on particular 
properties and households e.g. households without 
dependent children/in full-time education; households 
without vulnerable or elderly tenants; households on an 
income which exceeds the threshold to be eligible for 
South Kesteven District Council housing, as stated in the 
most recent version of the council’s Allocations Policy.  
A minimum fixed term period would need to be set. The 
recommendation is for a minimum of five years.

The council will offer a secure tenancy after the initial 
introductory period normally for a 12 month period.  
There may be some exceptions to this and it will instead 
offer a fixed term tenancy.

The council will offer a secure tenancy after the initial 
introductory period normally for a 12-month period.  
There may be some exceptions to this and instead offer 
a fixed term tenancy.

5. Recommended tenancies for  
private registered providers to use

6. The types of tenancies  
the council will use

41



Tenancy Strategy

14

Circumstances be renewed:
• Households with dependent children in full time 

education or on an apprenticeship 
• Tenants with vulnerable household members e.g 

elderly and people with physical disabilities, severe 
and enduring mental ill-health or learning difficulties

• Tenants of hard-to-let properties
• Tenants on low income and with no or few assets

Will not be renewed:
• Tenants with large rent arrears (threshold amount 

would need to be set)
• Tenants or household members causing ASB
• Tenants on an income which exceeds the maximum 

level set in the council’s Allocations Policy and/or who 
have a high level of assets

• Household under-occupying the property
• Household in a property with adaptations which are 

not needed
• Household does not fulfil the council’s Allocations 

Policy criteria

7. Fixed term tenancy renewals

42



Tenancy Strategy

15

If shorter, fixed term tenancies are granted, there needs to be a presumption of renewal of tenancy, so that the onus 
is on the landlord to justify refusing to extend the tenancy rather than requiring tenants to undergo a complicated  
re-application process.

8. Renewal of fixed term tenancies

• Use incentives for under-occupancy (financial incentive to downsize and signposting to any charities or support 
workers who can help with practical assistance in moving home) 

• Support transfer of tenancy (e.g. mutual exchange and assignment)
• Encourage take-up of home ownership options (raise awareness)
• Continue to support the building of new homes
• Increased rents for tenants earning over the income threshold to be accepted on to the council’s housing register

9. Alternatives

43



St Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ
01476 406080

02
84

5R
T_

6.
19

44



South Kesteven District Council

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Tenancy Strategy

Lead officer:
 Harrinder Rai
Assessors:
Celia Bown

Service Area:

Neutral Assessor:
Anita Eckersley

Date of Meeting 

12/06/19

45

Appendix 2



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Tenancy Strategy

This is to revise the existing tenancy strategy, dated 2013.

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive The tenancy strategy recognises 
that certain households who are 
on lower incomes (often young 
and elderly households) cannot 
afford market housing (to rent or 
buy) and need a secure and 
stable social housing home.

The strategy recommends that if 
fixed term tenancies are given; 
that these are not used for 
households where there are 
elderly tenants as the insecurity 
of tenure can have a particular 
negative impact on elderly 
people.

Disability Potential for a positive impact The tenancy strategy recognises 
that for certain households eg. 
disabled people, the anxiety of 
whether or not a fixed term 
tenancy will be renewed and the 
moving of home (plus the 
practical difficulties for people 
with a physical disability) and this 
is why secure or assured 
tenancies are recommended to 
be offered rather than fixed term 
tenancies.

46



Race Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Sex

  

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Carers Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
strategy.

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

Potential for a positive impact. The tenancy strategy recognises 
that certain households, other 
than those already mentioned eg. 
single parent households, who 
are often on lower incomes, 
cannot afford market housing (to 
rent or buy) and need a secure 
and stable social housing home.

47



General 
comments

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

Demographic data; Census data; Peterborough Sub-Regional Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment, 2014 and the Peterborough Sub-Regional 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment Update, 2017 data; Valuation Office 
Agency data.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

N/A at this time.  Should any gaps arise out of the consultation, these will 
be considered.

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken



If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

48



d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Harrinder Rai
(Name and title) Assistant Director - Housing

Date completed: 13/06/19 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Anita Eckersley
(Name and title) Chairman and Member Services Officer

Date signed off:    12/06/19

49



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee
9 July 2019

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson

Cabinet Member for Housing

        

South Kesteven District Council Tenancy Agreement 
2019
South Kesteven District Council’s current Secure Tenancy Agreement was adopted in 2002 and no 
longer reflects the current needs of the housing services or the context in which social housing now 
operates. The revised agreement presented has been drafted to address this.  This must also 
undergo statutory consultation with tenants before it can replace the current Secure and Introductory 
Tenancy Agreements.

Report Author

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Service Improvement Officer

 01476 40 60 63

 c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Harry Rai, Assistant Director - Housing 14 June 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 19 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for 
Housing 21 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Approves the proposed draft Tenancy Agreement, as appended (Appendix 1) to this 
report to commence the consultation process with all tenants of South Kesteven 
District Council (“the Council”) in accordance with Section 102 and 103 of the 
Housing Act 1985.

51

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council is required to have a tenancy agreement setting out the obligations for both 

Landlord (South Kesteven District Council) and Tenants within our housing stock. The 
current Tenancy Agreement was adopted by the Council in April 2002.  As the Council’s 
policies and practices have changed since 2002, there is now a need to rewrite and 
implement a new Tenancy Agreement in order to support and reflect these changes.  

1.2 Under Section 102 and 103 of the Housing Act 1985, the Council is required to consult with 
all its tenants on any proposed changes to the Tenancy Agreement and invite feedback.  
The proposed varied Tenancy Agreement will be posted to all Council tenants.  The 
consultation period will be for the minimum 4-week period.  If approved, we are proposing 
for this to take place imminently following this decision.  Tenants will be able to provide 
feedback by completing a feedback form sent to them with the varied Tenancy Agreement 
or using an online feedback form, via a dedicated email address.

1.3 Upon expiry of the statutory consultation, the proposed Tenancy Agreement and feedback 
will go to the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee for any final 
amendments, consideration of comments and if appropriate, recommend Cabinet to 
approve.  Once approved, the varied Tenancy Agreement will replace the current Tenancy 
Agreement and will be posted to all tenants.

1.4 Although most of the proposed changes have been made to improve the clarity and 
understanding of the Tenancy Agreement, and to emphasise the ability to enforce the terms 
and conditions of the agreement, there are a number of significant changes as outlined 
below.

Single Tenancy Agreement

The proposed Tenancy 
Agreement covers both 
Introductory and Secure 
Tenancy Agreements as one 
single Tenancy Agreement

We currently have separate Tenancy Agreements 
for ‘Introductory Tenants’ and ‘Secure Tenants’.  
It is now good practice to have a single Tenancy 
Agreement for all tenancies as they both contain 
the same core terms and conditions. Having a 
single Tenancy Agreement will negate the need 
to send a new ‘Secure Tenancy Agreement’ at 
the end of the introductory period. The tenancy 
agreement sets out which rights and 
responsibilities apply to both Introductory Tenants 
and Secure Tenants or just Secure Tenants.

Clarification 

We have removed some of the 
guidance in the Tenancy 
Agreement that is better suited 
to being in the Tenants’ 
Handbook 

A separate Tenants’ Handbook is given to 
tenants along with the Tenancy Agreement.  The 
handbook is to be used for guidance only and 
cannot contain any conditions of tenancy.  The 
handbook will be updated to only provide 
guidance.

Joint Tenancies 

We have clarified the 
responsibilities of joint tenants. 

The previous agreement was not clear in 
emphasising that joint tenants are ‘jointly and 
severally’ liable for adhering to the Tenancy 
Agreement.

52



Repairs and Improvements 

We have made clearer the 
requirements around allowing 
access to the property.  

The proposed changes clarify the rules and 
reasons under which tenants must allow access 
to their property.

Clarified the rules around 
damage and improvements to 
the property and tenants’ 
responsibilities.

We have also emphasised how we will enforce 
the sanctions if tenants damage their homes or 
do not obtain permission to carry out 
improvements. 

Emphasised the tenant’s 
responsibilities for minor 
repairs.

The previous agreement was unclear on the 
tenant’s responsibilities for minor repairs.  

Clarified the rules under 
disclaimers for improvements 
taken on by a new tenant.

We have included the condition that where a 
tenant chooses not to sign a disclaimer, the 
Council will either replace the item with the 
Council standard equivalent or take on the repair 
responsibility.

Animals/Pets

We have clarified the 
conditions under which pets 
may be kept and made it 
easier to enforce the 
agreement where this is 
breached.

The previous agreement was very prescriptive on 
the pets that tenants could keep and their 
management, which made it difficult to enforce. 
The proposed changes allow a more flexible 
approach, providing more discretion on how we 
manage and enforce this. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The recommendation is to seek approval to formally consult, following which it will be 

presented to the Rural & Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee for their comments 
before being presented to Cabinet for adoption.

2.2 The proposed draft Tenancy Agreement has been written using references from our current 
Introductory and Secure Tenancy Agreements and examples of good practice from various 
Local Authorities and Registered Providers. Officers representing the various landlord 
services, who use the Tenancy Agreement as part of their day to day work, were also 
consulted in the drafting of this document.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 Remain with the current [2002] tenancy agreement which does not reflect current needs.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To approve the draft Tenancy Agreement for formal consultation will ensure that the 

Council’s Tenancy Agreement reflects current needs, supports other related tenancy 
polices and provides a single tenancy Agreement in line with best practice.

53



5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Under Section 102 and 103 of the Housing Act 1985, the Council is required to consult with 

all its tenants on any proposed changes to the Tenancy Agreement.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The Cabinet consideration of the agreement and the decision made will be implemented in 

the form of consultation with our tenants. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There will be a cost incurred for the printing and postage of the proposed varied Tenancy 

Agreement and further costs for the printing and postage of the varied Tenancy Agreement 
to all tenants.  These will be met from existing resources.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 S102 of the Housing Act 1985 sets out ways a secure tenancy can be varied.  The Council 

are seeking to vary its terms in accordance with S103 of the Housing Act 1985.   The Council 
must serve a Notice of Variation on each tenant before the changes can take effect, and 
prior to this, the Council must serve on each tenant a Preliminary Notice.  The Preliminary 
Notice informs the tenant of the Council’s intention to serve a Notice of Variation in addition 
to specifying the proposed variation, its effect and invite the tenant to comment on the 
proposed.  When the consultation process has been completed, the Council must give a 
minimum notice period of 4 weeks’ notice of any change.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 An EIA is appended (Appendix 2).  No equality or safeguarding implications have been 

identified.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 The current tenancy agreement is not robust enough for some of the enforcement action 

(e.g. on rent arrears and anti-social behaviour) the Council needs to take.

10.2 The changes proposed will assist with this.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 The additional and amended clauses contained in the proposed Tenancy Agreement will 

assist officers to deal with breaches of the Tenancy Agreement more proactively.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None found.

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Proposed varied Tenancy Agreement

Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment on Draft Tenancy Agreement

54



Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

10 June 2019

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  9 July 2019

55



This page is intentionally left blank



Tenancy  
Agreement

57

Appendix 1



2  Tenancy agreement

Tenancy agreement
This agreement forms a binding legal contract between you and us. It sets out our 
responsibilities as your landlord and your rights and responsibilities as a tenant.

This agreement is made between:

The landlord: South Kesteven District Council, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire, 
NG31 6PZ (“the Council/we”)

The tenant(s):

The address of the property rented in this tenancy agreement is (and shown edged 
red on the attached plan):

(“your home/the property”)

Persons residing at the property other than the tenant(s):

In the case of joint tenants, the term “tenant” or “you” applies to each of you. Each tenant 
individually has the full responsibilities and rights set out in this tenancy agreement.

Photograph(s) of tenant(s)

58



  Tenancy agreement  3

This tenancy starts on: 

This tenancy is a weekly periodic commencing on the above date and is for an initial term 
of one week and continuing weekly thereafter until determined.
Rent and other charges

This weekly tenancy starts on:

The weekly rent for the property is: £

(the rent may change each year, but you will be notified before the changes come  
into effect)

The weekly charges for the property are:

(the charges may change each year, but you will be notified before the changes  
come into effect)

The first payment date for both the rent and charges is:

Tenancy Type

An Introductory Tenancy

A Secure Tenancy

Tenant Signature

Tenant Signature

Name Signature

Date:

Permited number of occupants

Under overcrowding legislation, the maximum number of people allowed to live at your home 
is ………….  You must not allow more than this number to live at your home.

If there is anything you do not understand, please contact us. You can also get help  
and advice from a Citizens’ Advice Bureau, Solicitor or Shelter.

You have (one of the boxes below should be ticked)

Issue of keys

You have been issued with       set(s) of keys for doors and        set(s) of keys for windows.  
You are responsible for the safe keeping and replacement of all keys for the doors and  
windows.

I confirm that I have read, understood and now agree to follow the terms and conditions in 
this Tenancy Agreement.

Authorised Officer on behalf of the Council: 

59



a This Agreement sets out (on page 2) the type 
of tenancy you have. The information in this 
section tells you more about each type of 
tenancy.

b An Introductory Tenancy

 For the first 12 months of your tenancy, you are 
an Introductory Tenant and not a Secure Tenant.  
An Introductory Tenancy is a trial tenancy.  
This non secure period may be extended in 
certain circumstances.  Should it be considered 
necessary to extend the introductory period, 
notice will be provided to you in writing.

 If you do not breach any conditions of the 
tenancy in the first 12 months of your tenancy, 
then you will automatically become a Secure 
Tenant. However, if you breach any term of this 
agreement, then we can apply to the Court for 
a possession order.  You have a right of review 
against our decision to apply to evict you.

 You will become a secure tenant on:

 Upon becoming a Secure Tenant, after the date 
in the above box, you will have all the legal 
rights of a Secure Tenant.  Your tenancy will 
automatically change and you will not have to 
sign a further agreement.

c A Secure Tenancy

 This tenancy is given when a property is let 
with exclusive possession (the tenant occupies 
the property on his/her own or with just his/her 
household) and the tenancy is not specified as 
an exception (e.g. an introductory tenancy).

 However, if you breach any term of this 
agreement, then we can apply to the Court for a 
possession order.  

 

d Legal rights of each tenancy type

 As an Introductory Tenant, you have fewer legal 
rights than a Secure Tenant.  The legal rights 
of Secure Tenants are set out in this Tenancy 
Agreement.  The rights that do not apply to 
Introductory Tenants are clearly marked.

e A summary of rights to each tenancy type 
(further details are in section 4):

 Introductory and Secure Tenants have the 
following legal rights:

• The right to occupy
• The right to information
• The right to be consulted
• The right of repair
• The right to succeed to a tenancy
• The right to assign

 Secure Tenants (and Introductory Tenants 
in exceptional circumstances, where we 
have used our discretion and given written 
permission) have the following legal rights:

• The right to improve the property
• The right to claim compensation for 

improvements to the property

 
 Introductory Tenants do not have the following 

legal rights:

• The right to buy the property (although the first 
12 months as an Introductory Tenant will count 
towards the discount awarded off the sale price 
for Secure Tenants)

• The right to take in lodgers (A lodger is 
someone who pays money to you to live in your 
home but does not have exclusive right to any 
one part of it). 

• The right to sub-let part of the property
• The right to mutually exchange the property 

with another tenant

1. Tenancy agreement

4  Tenancy agreement 60



f We can apply to Court to repossess your home 
if you, or someone acting for you, has given us 
false information to get the tenancy.

h You must tell us if you will be away from your 
home for more than four weeks. We will then 
know that you have not abandoned it.  We need 
to know if your job (or other circumstances) 
means that you are often away from your home 
or if you are away for long periods of time.

i The people who can live at the property are 
those you told us about when you applied 
for the tenancy. You must get our permission 
before anyone comes to live with you for more 
than 4 weeks, including family members.  If 
you are in receipt of welfare benefits, you must 
declare any changes in your circumstances.  
We will refuse you permission to let them live 
at the property if we think that they may break 
the conditions in this agreement or if we have 
already evicted the occupant from another 
property because of their behaviour. We will 
write to you giving our reasons.

  Tenancy agreement  561



6  Tenancy agreement

Any notice we give under this Tenancy Agreement may be served on you:

• in person or by leaving it for you with someone at the property

• by leaving it at the property or at your last known address;

• by handing to you in person; or

• by sending it first class post, second class post and / or recorded delivery to your property  
or last known address

2. Notices

For the purpose of section 48 of the 
Landlord and Tenant Act (1987), the 

landlord’s address for service is:
South Kesteven District Council, 
Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, 

Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ

Telephone: 01476 406080  
(main switchboard)

Web: www.southkesteven.gov.uk

62



  Tenancy agreement  7

Your rights
The Right to Occupy

a This tenancy agreement gives you the right to 
live in your home.  We will not interfere with this 
right unless any of the following apply:

• Access is required, subject to reasonable 
notice, which shall be no less than 24 hours 
(other than in an emergency), to inspect the 
condition of your home or to carry out repairs or 
other works to your home or adjoining property.

• We are entitled to possession at the end of the 
tenancy.

• You break any of the conditions in this 
agreement. If you do, we may take legal action 
to force you to meet the conditions or we will 
apply to the Court for an order to evict you.

• We built or adapted the property for a person 
with physical disabilities and

1. You no longer need that type of home and/or
2. We need the property for someone else with 

special needs.
• We need to carry out redevelopment or major 

repairs to the property which we cannot do 
unless you move out (we will not end your 
tenancy and will accommodate you elsewhere 
on a temporary basis).

• You stop using the property as your main home.
• There is any other reason under the Housing 

Act 1985, the Housing Act 1996, the Localism 
Act 2011 or any future legislation. 

The Right to take in Lodgers

b You have the right to take in a lodger if you are 
a secure tenant (as long as you do not grant a 
sub-tenancy or exceed the number of people 
allowed to live in your home). If you do take in a 
lodger, you must tell us immediately and inform 
us of their name, age, gender and details of the 
accommodation they will occupy.

Introductory Tenants do not have this right.

Subletting

c You have the right to sublet part of your home. 
You need our prior written permission to do 
this but we will not refuse permission without 
good reason.  You cannot lawfully sublet all of 
your home. If you do, you lose your status as a 
secure tenant and we can evict you. 

 Subletting is when you rent out a self-contained 
part of your home.  A subtenant may share your 
facilities but they can stop you from going into 
the parts of your home that they live in.

Introductory Tenants do not have this right.

Right to buy

d If you are a secure tenant and have lived in 
council accommodation for at least 3 years (or 
any subsequent revision to this time period) and 
qualify under the Housing Act 1985 legislation, 
you have the right to buy your home.  

 If you die, the person who takes over the 
tenancy under the succession rights will also 
take over the right to buy. However, they must 
still have held a secure tenancy in their own 
right for a period of at least 3 years (or any 
subsequent revision to this time period) before 
they are entitled to rely on the right to buy.

 You will not have the right to buy your home if 
you live in certain sheltered housing, or other 
accommodation excluded from the legislation.

Your Responsibilities

a. You, your friends and relatives, and any other 
person living in or visiting your home (including 
children) must not use your home other than as 
a private home.

3. Using your home

63



8  Tenancy agreement

b You, your friends and relatives, and any other 
person living in or visiting your home (including 
children and pets) must not damage, vandalise 
or remove any part of the property.

c. You must make yourself available to the 
Council, upon receiving  notice, at either your 
home or an agreed venue to discuss issues 
relating to your tenancy.

d. You must inform the Council, prior to leaving, 
if you are away from your property for a period 
more than four weeks.

e. You must, upon being given reasonable notice, 
allow our employees and/or contractors access 
to your property to inspect it and/or carry out 
any repairs, servicing or improvement works to 
the property.  All our employees and contractors 
will wear identification.

f. You must not run a business from your home 
without our written permission.  We will not 
refuse permission unreasonably unless we feel 
that the business is likely to cause a nuisance to 
other people or damage your home.  If, after we 
have given our permission, the business causes 
a nuisance, we will give you written notice that 
we withdraw our permission.

 Examples of businesses that could cause 
nuisance or annoyance to your neighbours* and 
we may not allow you to run from your home 
include (but not limited to):

• car sales, repair and maintenance businesses

• any business where you would have to 
use hydraulic equipment, industrial sewing 
machines or controlled substances such as 
chemicals

• shops or wholesale businesses where 
customers would have to visit your home

• childcare business where customers would 
have to visit your home

• any business that would mean more than your 
own vehicle being parked outside your home, 
for example, a taxi company or vehicle hire 
company

• animal boarding business

g You must not sublet the entire property or 
assign your tenancy except as permitted by 
section 91 of the Housing Act 1985 and you 
must not, in any circumstances, assign the 
tenancy without the prior written permission of 
the landlord.

 *Your neighbours include everyone who lives 
in the local area, including people who own 
their own homes, and private and housing 
association tenants.

64



Whether you are a sole or joint tenant, you are 
responsible and liable for all of the rent.
 
The weekly rent for your home (and any applicable 
charges) is shown at the start of the tenancy on page 
2. These will be subject to change on an annual basis.

a Your rent 

 You must pay your rent every week, in advance, 
or at any other interval that we agree to.  There 
are a set number of “rent free weeks” per year 
when no rent is due (although people with rent 
arrears must continue to pay in these weeks). 
You will be advised annually when these free 
weeks will be.

 If you are a joint tenant, you are both 
responsible (jointly and severally liable) for 
paying all the rent, rent arrears and all other 
charges for your home when they are due.  We 
can recover all rent arrears owed for your home 
from either joint tenant.  So, if one joint tenant 
leaves the property, we will still recover the rent 
(including any arrears) from both tenants until 
the tenancy has ended.

b Changes to your rent
 
 If there is any change to your rent, we will tell 

you at least four (4) weeks before the change. 

c Service charge (where 
applicable)

 In certain properties a charge may be made for 
services provided. Examples of possible service 
charges are maintenance and replacement of 
septic tanks and treatment plants (where the 
service is currently provided by the Council and 
not by Anglian Water or other Water Authority), 
access to communal rooms, water and heating 
in sheltered housing schemes etc. We will give 
you a summary of what is included in your 
service charge.

d Changes to service charge

 We may, after consulting the tenants affected, 
increase, add to, remove, reduce, or vary the 
services provided or introduce new services. 
Any such changes may either require you to pay 
a new service charge or affect the amount of 
service charge you pay.

 Notice of any change in the amounts charged 
for services will be given to you at least four (4) 
weeks before any change is made.

e Rent arrears

 If you do not pay your rent, we may go to Court 
and ask for you to be evicted from the property. 
You will be liable for any Court costs incurred in 
being taken to court.

 When your tenancy ends, you must pay us any 
rent, charges or costs which you owe us.  A 
repayment plan can be set up for you to repay 
these rent arrears in regular instalments.

 
 You may lose your home if you do not pay your rent.

f Outgoings

 You agree to pay all outgoings applying to your 
home including council tax, water charges, 
drainage and electric and other costs whether 
metered or billed, independently of this 
agreement, except where these charges are 
included in your rent or service charges.

g Welfare benefits to cover 
housing costs

 If there is a change in your circumstances, 
which alters your entitlement to Housing Benefit 
or Universal Credit, you must inform us or the 
Department of Work and Pensions (whichever 
is relevant) immediately.  We may recover 
from you any overpayment which is lawfully 
recoverable.

You are still liable to pay your rent regardless of 
whether or not you are in receipt of any benefits.

4 Rent and other charges

  Tenancy agreement  965



10  Tenancy agreement

Our Responsibilities
We are responsible for: 

a We will keep the structure and exterior of your 
home in good repair including drains, gutters 
and external pipes.

b We will keep in proper working order the 
installations in the property for the supply 
of water, gas, electricity and for sanitation 
including basins, sinks, baths and sanitary 
conveniences. 

c We will keep in repair and proper working order 
the installation in the dwelling for heating and 
heating water.

d We will carry out repairs which we are 
responsible for, such as repairing or replacing 
the fixtures and fittings we own.

e We will carry out emergency repairs or where 
there is a health and safety issue.  If these 
repairs are made by the tenant and are 
dangerous, the tenant will be recharged.

 We are not responsible for:

f Repairs that arise as a result of deliberate, 
malicious, criminal or accidental damage 
caused by you, people living in your home or 
people visiting your home.

g Any works carried out by you at the property 
(after obtaining the appropriate permissions), or 
works carried out by a previous tenant which 
you have signed a disclaimer for (a written 
agreement that you accept responsibility for 
the repair and upkeep of fixtures in the property 
installed by a previous tenant) and chosen to 
adopt at the start of your tenancy. If you do 
not wish to adopt these works they will either 
be removed or replaced by the Council with 
their own standard or the Council will take over 
responsibility for these works.

Your rights
The Right of Repair

a You have the right for repairs (which are not 
as a result of any deliberate act, omission or 
neglect by you or your visitors, or those residing 
at the property) to be carried out as quickly as 
possible.

b When you report the repair work we will inform 
you of the work we will carry out, who will 
carry out the work and when the work will be 
completed. We will give you at least twenty four 
(24) hours notice and you must give access.

c Sometimes it may be necessary to move to 
another property so that major works can be 
carried out. The Council will offer you suitable 
alternative temporary property. You will need 
to vacate the property for the period needed 
to complete the work and then move back to 
the original property.  Works can sometimes be 
done whilst you are still in the property.

d If we fail to carry out our responsibilities of 
repair under this Agreement then you may 
be able to take legal action against us. You 
should consult a Solicitor, a Law Centre, Shelter 
Housing Advice or the Citizens’ Advice Bureau.

5 Repairs and Improvements

66



  Tenancy agreement  11

The Right to Make Improvements

e You may carry out certain alterations or 
improvements to your home but you must get 
written permission from us prior to starting any 
work (see section 15 on page 27).

f We will not unreasonably withhold our consent. 
All works must adhere to current Planning and 
Building Regulations and Health and Safety 
standards.

g Failure to seek our consent or to comply with 
our terms and conditions shall be deemed a 
breach of your obligations under this tenancy. 
You will be responsible for the ongoing 
maintenance of any improvements you make.

For Introductory Tenants this right is at the
discretion of the Council.

The Right to Compensation  
for Improvements

h At the end of a Secure Tenancy you have the 
right to apply to us for compensation for certain 
improvements you have made to your home 
unless they were started before 1 April 1994. 
If you are buying your home you will not get 
compensation as these improvements are not 
included in the purchase price. You should ask 
the tenancy services team if you would like 
more details about this.

Introductory Tenants may also be eligible for
compensation at the discretion of SKDC.

Your responsibilities

a You must report immediately upon becoming 
aware any repairs that need carrying out to your 
home for which we are responsible.

b You are responsible for repairs which are 
necessary because you did not report another 
repair to us.

c You are responsible for the cost of any items in 
your property such as furniture, clothing, floor 
coverings etc. that are damaged as a result 
of a repair unless due to negligence of our 
contractors or employees.

d You must allow our employees and contractors 
to enter your home at reasonable times and 
at reasonable notice to inspect it, carry out 
repairs, service appliances and to carry out 
improvement works to your property.

e If there is a risk of damage to your home or to 
other properties, or of injury to people, we may 
need to give you twenty four (24 hours), or less 
notice in an emergency, that we need to  enter 
your home.  We will charge you the cost of 
getting into your home if you do not allow or try  
to prevent us from entering. 

f You are responsible for the cost of repairs that 
are the result of neglect or misuse, or  
deliberate, malicious, criminal or accidental 
damage by you,  people residing in your  home 
or people visiting your home. This includes the 
cost for putting right any  improvements/

67



12  Tenancy agreement

alterations carried out by you, people residing in 
your home or people visiting your home without 
obtaining the correct permissions.

g Contact us immediately if the drains of your 
home become blocked.  If you have caused  
the blockage by not using the drains properly, 
we will charge you for the work.

h We reserve the right to do any repairs that are 
your responsibility if it is not put right within 
a reasonable period of time and recover all 
our costs from you. We will tell you about this 
and give you an opportunity to get the repair 
completed to an acceptable standard.

i You are expected to do certain minor repairs 
yourself. Advice on this is in the handbook.

j You must not make any structural or other 
significant change to your home without our 
written permission. If we refuse permission, we 
will give you our reasons in writing. If we give 
our permission, we may set certain conditions.  
If you do not meet the conditions, we may take 
away our permission. Structural work includes 
(but is not limited to) alterations to or removing 
walls, floors, ceilings, roofs and water, electricity 
and gas services.

k All work that is undertaken at your home must 
be carried out by a qualified contractor to an 

acceptable standard and you must obtain any 
necessary permissions (for example planning 
permissions and building regulations consents).

 
l You must inform us once any work is complete. 

The Council reserves the right to inspect 
such improvement works. If the work is 
unsatisfactory we will either instruct you to 
carry out extra works or we will carry out any 
extra work required and you will be charged. 

m You must not fit a CB or Radio aerial or 
satellite dish  at your home without our written 
permission (you may also need planning 
permission).

n You are responsible for repairing and 
maintaining all improvements and fixtures 
and fittings you install at your home. These 
improvements will become our property when 
you move out.  If you take them with you when 
you move, you must put the property back to 
the way it was before you improved it. If you 
don’t, we will charge you for the work.

o You are responsible for insuring the contents of 
your home. We are only responsible for insuring 
the building.

68



Everyone has the right to enjoy life in their own way 
provided that it does not disturb others and
does not break the law.

Our Responsibilities
a In the first instance we expect you to do all 

that you can to resolve any issues that arise 
regarding your neighbours. However, if a 
problem persists we will take appropriate action 
and involve other agencies as necessary to 
bring matters to an end. We will investigate any 
anti-social behaviour and harassment cases.

b We will enforce the tenancy agreement by all 
legal means possible. This can result in a Court 
order being granted to the Council, for instance 
for possession, an injunction or anti-social 
behaviour order.

Your Responsibilities
a You and any joint tenant are responsible for 

your behaviour and the behaviour of your 
children (if relevant) and anyone else living with 
you or visiting you while they are in your home 

(including common areas such as landings, 
stairways, foyers, lifts, courtyards, gardens and 
parking areas). 

b You and any joint tenant, your friends and 
relatives, and any other person living in or 
visiting your home (including children) must not:

• do anything which causes or is likely to cause 
a nuisance or annoyance to anyone in the local 
area

• do anything which interferes with the peace, 
safety, comfort and/or convenience of other 
people living in, visiting or working in the local 
area

• use your home for any criminal, immoral or 
illegal purpose, including selling, producing or 
using any illegal drugs, or storing or handling 
stolen goods

c  Anti-social behaviour includes (but is not  
 limited to):

• using or threatening to use violence
• excessive noise including loud music
• banging and slamming doors
• damaging property

6 Anti-Social Behaviour  
and Harassment

  Tenancy agreement  1369



14  Tenancy agreement

• drug and alcohol related nuisance behaviour
• playing ball games close to properties other  
 than on designated play areas
• skateboarding and cycling on footpaths and  
 communal areas
• dumping rubbish
• persistent dog barking and/or not keeping  
 your pets under control
• criminal activity in properties
• spraying graffiti
• domestic abuse
• throwing things out of windows
• prostitution
• dealing in pornography
• breaking shared security, for example,   
 allowing strangers to get into the building
• not keeping your children under control
• regular car repairs or car repairs at   
 unreasonable hours
• DIY at unreasonable hours
• verbal abuse
• harassment (see clause 6d below).

d You, your friends and relatives, and any
 other person living in or visiting your home 

(including children) must not commit any 
form of harassment, or threat of harassment,  
on the grounds of race, colour, religion,   
gender, sexual orientation, age or disability 
which may interfere with the peace and comfort 
of, or cause offence to, other persons in 
the neighbourhood or to any of our tenants, 
employees, agents or contractors. This includes 
(but is not limited to):

• Racist behaviour or language
• Using, or threatening to use, violence
• Using abusive or insulting words or behaviour
• Damaging or threatening to damage another  

person’s home or possessions
• Writing threatening, abusive or insulting graffiti.

e We may ask you to enter into an acceptable 
behaviour contract which says that you will not 
continue or allow to continue, any antisocial 
behaviour.

f You must make yourself available at your home 
for an interview, if requested to do so given 
reasonable notice of at least twenty four (24) 
hours.

g We may take legal action to evict you if you, 
your friends and relatives and any other person 
(including children) living in or visiting your 
home behave anti-socially and we may  not find 
you a new home if you are evicted because of 
antisocial behaviour.

h We may apply to the Court for a Demotion 
Order.  This is an order that changes the nature 
and security of your tenancy for twelve months. 
We may serve a Notice before Proceedings 
for Demotion on you in the event of anti-social 
behaviour and thereafter apply to court for an 
order.

70



  Tenancy agreement  15

Your Responsibilities
a You, your friends and relatives, and any other 

person living in or visiting your home (including 
children) must:

• Keep your home free from fleas, vermin and 
other pests.

• Keep your home clean and tidy.  If you don’t, 
we will charge you for any work we need to 
do because of this, such as removing rubbish, 
dealing with pests etc.

• Keep all shared stairways, halls and landings 
clean.  You must not leave any personal 
belongings or rubbish in these areas.  We may 
remove and dispose of anything you leave in 
these areas and charge you for the work.

• Keep any communal bin areas around the bins 
free from rubbish (rubbish should not be placed 
next to the bins).  Anyone found to be in breach 
of this condition could be subject to a penalty 
notice which may result in a fine.

• Keep your home free from bad smells (e.g. 
rotting food; human/animal faeces and urine 
etc.).

• Keep your home free from an excessive amount 
of clutter which amounts to hoarding.

b You must act immediately to deal with any 
infestation of fleas, vermin or other pests in your 
home or garden.

c You must store your refuse hygienically at your 
home or in the designated refuse storage area 
and ensure that it is presented correctly and 
available for collection in accordance with the 
local authority’s instructions.

d If we have to move items stored or abandoned 
in communal areas, we will not be responsible 
for any loss you may suffer and may charge you 
for the costs incurred.

7   Property Condition

71



Your Responsibilities
You, your friends and relatives, and any other person 
living in or visiting your home (including children) must 
not:

• use portable oil, paraffin or gas cylinder heaters 
in your home without our written permission

• store inflammable materials or gas anywhere at 
your home without our written permission

• store any vehicles which are powered by petrol, 
diesel, paraffin, electricity or gas in your home 
or in shared areas (except electric wheelchairs).

• store any appliances which are powered by 
petrol, diesel or paraffin in your home;

• leave any item in corridors, stairwells, entrances 
or exits used as fire escape routes in shared 
areas

• interfere with the correct use of fire or security 
doors

• interfere with any equipment for detecting or 
putting out fires in your home

• interfere with any equipment for detecting 
carbon monoxide in your home

• prevent us and/or our representatives from 
servicing appliances in your home

• prevent us and/or our representatives 

from carrying out necessary repairs and/or 
improvement works to your home

• do anything in your home which could cause a 
danger to anyone in your home or in the local 
area

• throw anything through the windows of your 
home or off balconies

• leave syringes/needles in areas where people in 
the local area may come into contact with them. 
They must be properly and safely stored in 
purpose-made sharps containers and disposed 
of in the correct manner

• let anyone you don’t know into the shared areas 
without appropriate identification

• put anything on a window ledge or balcony 
which could be a danger to anyone living in or 
visiting your home or the local area

• shake mats or carpets from the windows or 
balconies

• withhold information from the police about any 
criminal act at your home  

• delay telling us about any damage to your home

• you must inform us if you use/store medical 
oxygen at your home. You must also display 
appropriate chemical hazard warning signs 
outside your home.

8 Health and Safety

16  Tenancy agreement 72



Pets are allowed in our Council properties, as long as
each pet and the number of pets you have, are
suitable for the size and type of the property you live
in.  They must also not be intimidating, aggressive,
dangerous or cause a nuisance. Nuisance includes:

• excessive and persistent dog barking
• allowing your dog to roam
• your pet fouling inside your home or in  

common areas
• your pet damaging the property (either inside  

or outside)
• not vaccinating your pet (causing a health 

hazard)

You must not keep any animal that has been classified
as dangerous under the Dangerous Wild Animals
Act 1976 or keep any breeds (including cross breeds)
named under section 1(1) of the Dangerous Dogs Act
1991.

Due to the rural nature of the district, small livestock
eg. chickens may be suited to a country location but
would not be appropriate in a built up urban area. 
Please seek written permission before keeping any
livestock.

Prior to signing this new tenancy agreement you must
advise us of any animals/pets that you already have
so that we can advise on their suitability.

Your Responsibilities
a If the pet is deemed to be intimidating, 

aggressive, dangerous or causes a nuisance 
and/or the number; type or size of pets are 
considered to be unsuitable, we reserve the 
right to ask you to remove your pet(s).  If you 
do not remove your pets when asked, we may 
ask you to re-home your pet and/or take legal 
action to evict you.

b You must get our written permission to build 
an animal or bird enclosure.  If we give our 
permission, we may set conditions that you 
must keep to. If you do not meet the conditions, 
we may take away our permission.  We may 
also withdraw our permission if the animals or 
birds are intimidating, aggressive, dangerous or 
causes a nuisance.

c  Any dogs you own are required, by law, to be 
microchipped and registered.

d Under the Control of Dogs Order 1992, all dogs 
in public places must wear a collar with their 
owner’s surname, address and contact details.

e Under the Animal Welfare Act 2006, owners 
have a duty of care to meet the needs of their 
pets.

f You are responsible for any animals visiting 
your home.  They are not to cause a nuisance, 
intimidation, aggression, danger, detriment to 
the property or a health hazard.

9 Animals

  Tenancy agreement  17

For sheltered housing 
tenants and tenants with a

shared entrance, permission 
needs to be sought
before keeping (or 

continuing to keep) a pet.

73



18  Tenancy agreement

Your Responsibilities
a You must keep all garden areas (shown 

coloured ** on the plan attached) neat and tidy.  
If you do not, we may do it for you and charge 
you for the work.  In exceptional circumstances, 
we may take legal action to force you to meet 
the conditions or we may ask the court for 
permission to evict you.

b You must not put a greenhouse, garage, shed 
or animal/bird enclosure in your garden without 
getting our prior written permission. Even if 
we give our consent, you may still need to 
get planning permission and meet building 
regulations.  We may withdraw our permission 
if the greenhouse, garage, shed or animal/bird 
enclosure causes a nuisance.

c You must not remove, add or alter a fence, 
hedge, tree or boundary line at your home 
without getting our written permission.

d You must not store rubbish, furniture, vehicles 
or appliances in the garden area. If you do, we 
may remove the items and charge you for doing 
this.  We will give you 24 hours’ notice that we 
will be removing the items.

e You must be considerate to your neighbours 
if you have a fire (eg. bonfire; garden heater; 
barbeque etc) in your garden.

f You must not park any vehicle in your garden 
unless a garage or hardstanding and a vehicular 
access path and dropped kerb is provided (see 
also Clause 13).

g You should clear up all hedge cuttings and 
other garden waste, litter and rubbish and 
dispose of it appropriately. 

10  Gardens

74



Your Responsibilities
a You, your friends and relatives, and any other 

person living in or visiting your home (including 
children) must not do the following: 

• Park or store any vehicle (a car, bus, lorry, 
motorbike, boat, caravan, motorhome, 
motorised mobility scooters etc) anywhere 
on the property (including grass verges and 
boundaries owned by us) unless you are using 
a garage, parking area or a drive with a dropped 
kerb.  

• Park any vehicle on communal grassed areas or 
roadside verges owned by us.

• Build a parking space, garage or drive without 
our written permission.

• Park any motorhome, caravan, boat or 
excessively large business vehicle at your home 
without our written permission. If you do you 
will be asked to remove it.

• Repair or have for sale any vehicle not owned 
by yourself at your home or any other land 
owned by us.  If we suspect that you are 
repairing such a vehicle, we may ask you to 
prove that you own the vehicle.

• Park any vehicle which is illegal (e.g. not taxed)
or is not roadworthy, on any land that belongs 
to us.  If you do, we may remove the vehicle 
and re-charge you for this.  We will give you 
twenty four (24) hours’ notice.

• Double park vehicles or park in a way which 
causes an obstruction to other road users, 
including emergency services’ vehicles.

• Sell, rent or give away a parking space or permit 
which we provide for you.

b If we give our permission to build a parking 
space, garage, dropped kerb or drive, it must 

be built to a Council standard design.  We 
will withdraw our permission if the parking 
space, garage, dropped kerb or drive causes a 
nuisance.  A dropped kerb may need planning 
permission and will need to be to a standard set 
by the relevant Highways Authority.

c We will not be responsible for damage to your 
vehicle if we have to remove it.

11 Vehicles

  Tenancy agreement  1975



20  Tenancy agreement

Your Responsibilities
We must consult with any tenant or group of tenants 
on matters which may affect their tenancies, homes 
and estates. Any views and comments expressed will 
be taken into account when making a decision.

Your Rights

Right to Information

You have the right to see certain information held by 
us in relation to your housing circumstances. If you 
would like to see this, you can speak with the Housing 
team.

We may charge reasonable administration costs for 
copies of these details if the information is excessive 
and/or you ask for additional copies.

Right to be consulted

We will consult you over any substantial changes in 
housing management and alterations to your tenancy 
agreement.  We will consult tenants individually or 
through tenant’s representatives/ tenants groups and 
consider your views before putting the changes into 
effect.

12 Tenant Involvement

76



  Tenancy agreement  21

The Right of Succession 
to a Tenancy
Succession is the transfer of your tenancy to someone 
after you have died. The law states that only certain 
people can succeed to your tenancy. Succession can 
usually only take place once, so if you inherited your 
tenancy from a relative, no one can usually inherit your 
tenancy.  The person applying for succession needs 
our written consent.

The people who are legally entitled to succeed are:

• your husband or wife or civil partner with whom 
you live, or

• your unmarried partner with whom you have 
lived for at least twelve months, or

• your same sex partner with whom you have 
lived with for at least twelve months, or

• if your tenancy started before 1st April 2012, 
a member of your family for example child, 
parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother, sister, 
aunt, uncle, nephew or niece providing they 
have lived with you for at least twelve months.

Your husband, wife, partner or relative who succeeds 
you will become a Secure Tenant and will have the 
same rights as you under this Tenancy Agreement.

Where your home passes to someone other than 
your husband, wife or partner then we may consider 
whether your home is suitable for your relative. If we 
decide that your home is not suitable for your relative 
then we can serve a Notice within one year and can 
apply to the court for possession of your home. In 
these cases we will offer your relative a more suitable 
home.

If you do not have a husband, wife or partner and 
there is more than one relative asking to succeed 
to your tenancy and if they cannot agree who will 
succeed you, we will decide.

Further details are in our Succession Policy.

The Right to Assign  
your Tenancy
Assigning your tenancy is where your tenancy is 
legally passed on to someone else by you.

Where there has been a legal assignment then you will 
no longer be the tenant for that property. 

Assignment is only allowed in the following situations:

• Assigning the tenancy under the Right to 
Exchange but only with our written permission; 
or

• In the case of a relationship breakdown, where 
the Court assigns the tenancy from a tenant to 
the other occupant.  This type of order is known 
as a property adjustment order. If you would like 
to know more about this type of order then you 
should consult a Solicitor, the Citizen’s Advice 
Bureau, or a Law Centre; or

• Assigning your tenancy to a person who is 
legally entitled to succeed you. This includes 
your husband, wife, civil partner, partner or 
relative.  You must have our written permission 
for this type of assignment.

Further details are in our Assignment Policy.

The Right to Exchange 
your Tenancy
Secure Tenants have a legal right to swap (exchange) 
their home with another South Kesteven District 
Council tenant, another local authority tenant or a 
private registered provider (Housing Association) 
tenant. You must get our written permission first.

We may grant consent subject to certain conditions.  
We may withhold consent in certain circumstances eg. 
where there are rent arrears.

13 Succession; Assignment and 
Exchange

77



22  Tenancy agreement

How you may end your 
tenancy
a When you move out of your home, you must do 

the following:

• Give us four (4) weeks written notice stating 
that you want to end your tenancy.  The notice 
must give your name, address, be signed and 
dated.  Notice to end your tenancy must end on 
a Sunday.

• Give us all the keys including any door entry 
fobs to your home on the day you leave so that 
we can inspect the property.  If you do not give 
us any of these items, we will charge you for 
the cost of replacing the keys and locks of the 
property and may charge you for any additional 
rent.

• Pay all the rent and other charges up to the 
date of the end of your tenancy.

• Remove all your furniture, and personal 
fittings and belongings from your home unless 
specified items have been authorised to be left 
on the pre-termination visit.  We will remove any 
items you leave behind and will charge you for 
the work  necessary if no agreement has been 
made.

• Remove all rubbish from inside and outside 
your home.

• Remove any greenhouse, garage, shed or 
animal/bird enclosure you have put in the 
garden unless we agree in writing that you may 
leave it.

• Make sure all the fittings and fixtures you have 
installed and which have been authorised for 
you to leave in the property are in good working 
order.

• Replace or repair broken items which belong to 

us or you will be charged.

• Leave your home clean; tidy and in good 
decorative order.  We will charge you if we have 
to clean or repair any damage to the property.

• Allow our employees and contractors to enter 
your home at reasonable times to inspect it 
prior to you vacating the property.

• Allow our employees to show prospective 
tenants around your home prior to you leaving.

• If gas appliances are removed, make sure that 
all exposed pipes are capped off by Gas Safe 
registered gas fitters.

• Make sure that electricity, gas and water meters 
are read and the relevant suppliers informed.

• Give us your new address and contact details
 
b If you owe us money for rent or other charges 

when you leave your home, you must make 
arrangements with us to pay the debt.  If you do 
not do this, we will take legal action to recover 
the money.  We may go to court and ask for a 
Money Judgement Order to recover the debt. 
This may affect your credit rating and any future 
housing applications.

c In the case of joint tenants, notice received from 
one tenant will end the tenancy for all tenants.  
You will not have an automatic right to continue 
living in the property if a joint tenant has ended 
the tenancy.  If this happens, seek advice from 
us.

d You can only transfer your tenancy to someone 
else (rather than ending the tenancy) if we 
have agreed to this, in writing, through an 
‘assignment of tenancy’.  Further details can 
be found in the Assignment Policy. If you do 
leave anyone in the property without our written 
permission, we may evict them through the 
Court as they may be living there illegally.  We 

14  Ending Your Tenancy

78



  Tenancy agreement  23

will charge you the cost of doing this.

e If you are away from your home for four (4) 
weeks or more without telling us, we may  
consider the property to be abandoned and 
serve you with a notice to  end your tenancy. 
You may not be entitled to another property 
with us and we may charge you the cost 
of all repairs that are needed because you 
abandoned the property.

f If you abandon your property, we will dispose of 
any perishable items that may become rotten, 
such as food.  We will store all other items for 
28 days, from the date we gave you written 
notice. You will be responsible for the storage 
costs.  If the items are not collected at the end 
of the 28 days, we will dispose of them.

How we may end  
your tenancy

Introductory Tenancy

We can end the tenancy if you break this Tenancy 
Agreement. We will serve you with a Notice
of Intended Possession Proceedings.  This gives you 
six weeks notice of our intention to apply
for an order of the Court for Possession. Introductory 
Tenants can be evicted more easily than
Secure Tenants. You have a right of review of the 
decision to serve a Notice of Intended
proceedings.

Secure Tenancy 

We may end your tenancy if you break a term of this 
agreement by serving on you the appropriate statutory 
notice and obtaining a court order for possession.

79



24  Tenancy agreement

a You must get our written permission before you:

• make improvements or carry out alterations to 
your home (see condition 4d)

• run a business from your home  
(see condition 7f)

• put a garage, greenhouse, conservatory, shed 
or bird/animal enclosure in the garden  
(see conditions 11d and 12b)

• lay laminate flooring if you live in a flat

• lay ceramic floor tiles if you live in a flat

• fit a CB aerial or satellite dish (see condition 8n)

• use portable oil, paraffin or gas cylinder heaters 
in your home without our written permission 
(see condition 10a)

• store inflammable materials or gas anywhere at 
your home without our written permission (see 
condition 10a)

• build a parking space, garage or drive (see 
condition 13a)

• remove, add, alter (other than repair or maintain) 
or replace any walls, hedges, fences or 
trees(see condition 12c)

• sublet any part of your home (see condition 4g)

• exchange your home (see condition 4f)

15 Written permission

As well as getting our written 
permission, you may need to 
get planning permission and 

meet building regulations.  

We may withdraw our 
permission if you cause a 

nuisance.

Please Note

80



  Tenancy agreement  25

South Kesteven District Council processes personal 
data in compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018. 
 
Our data protection policy and further information  
can be accessed on our website  
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk. 

Collecting and storing your data

By signing this agreement, you agree and 
acknowledge that we will hold and process any 
personal information (including special category 
personal data such as health information) about you 
or other family members, household members and 
visitors to the property that you provide or which 
has been or will be provided by third parties for the 
purposes of performing our functions as your landlord.
 

Sharing data 

This may include disclosure to other South Kesteven 
District Council departments or certain third parties 
as permitted by law such as other Local Authorities 
including Lincolnshire County Council, Central 
Government departments such as the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government, 
contractors processing your information on our 
behalf, Social Services, Police, Department of Work 
& Pensions, Home Office, Court Service, Probation, 
Housing Associations, Health Authorities, Utility 
companies such as Anglian Water and Support 
Agencies. Your personal data will be processed in 

accordance with the law and no personal data will be 
sold to third parties. Your personal data will only be 
shared with others where this is permitted by law. 

Your rights

You have the right to see data which we hold about 
you. We are only allowed to refuse you access to 
your data in limited circumstances, for example 
where information may identify a third party who 
has not consented and the inclusion of their data is 
not permitted by law. You have the right to request 
that your data be rectified if incorrect, to object to 
or restrict data processing and the right to erasure 
of your data in certain circumstances. You also have 
rights relating to decisions made solely by computers 
where relevant. For further advice and information 
regarding access to personal information please 
see our privacy notice for customers at http://www.
southkesteven.gov.uk or contact our Data Protection 
Officer at dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk.

End of tenancy
 
If you leave your home owing rent or any other money, 
we may pass on information about you to any debt 
recovery or tracing agency that we instruct to recover 
that debt. If you leave your home owing money in 
respect of electricity, gas, water, telephone or other 
similar charges, we may confirm your contact details 
to the company to whom the money is owed or any 
agent acting on their behalf.

16  Data Protection

81



If you or someone acting on your behalf has made a 
statement relating to your housing application which 
you/they knew to be false or could be false or you/
they deceived us regarding information supplied on 
your application, we may consider taking action to 
repossess the property under schedule ground 5 of 
the Housing Act 1985.

We are required under section 6 of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998 to participate in the National 
Fraud Initiative data monitoring exercise.

We advise you that the data held by us in respect of 
your tenancy will be used for cross system and cross 
authority comparison purposes for the prevention and 
detection of fraud.

17  Fraud and False Statement

82



  Tenancy agreement  27

South Kesteven has a rich and diverse culture - a 
community made up of people from different cultures 
with differing backgrounds, beliefs and experiences. 
This diversity is one of the things that make South 
Kesteven such a great place to live and work.

To ensure all residents of South Kesteven have access 
to our information, it is available in a range of different 
languages and formats, including large print, Braille, 
audio tape and computer disc.

To request a document in a specific language or 
format, you can ring us or e-mail us:
'	 01476 40 60 80                                           
* communications@southkesteven.gov.uk       

Large print, Braille, audio  
tape or computer disc
This information can be made 
available in large print, Braille,  
on audio tape or computer disc.  
If you, or someone you know, 
might benefit from this service, 
please contact us.
繁繁繁繁 / Cantonese
本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本本

Česky / Czech
Tato informace může být dostupná i v češtině. Pokud 
byste Vy, a nebo někdo koho znáte, mohl využít 
tohoto servisu, obraťte se prosím na nás.

Magyar / Hungarian
Ezeket az információkat magyar nyelven is tudjuk 
biztosítani. Ha Ön, vagy valaki, akit Ön ismer igényt 
tart erre a szolgáltatásra, kérem, keressen fel minket.

Latviski / Latvian
Šo informāciju var iegūt arī latviešu valodā. Ja Jums 
vai kādai no Jūsu paziņai šādi pakalpojumi nāktu par 
labu, lūdzu kontaktējiet mūs. 

Lietuviškai / Lithuanian
Šią informaciją galite gauti lietuvių kalba. Prašome 
kreiptis į mus, jei jums arba jūsų pažįstamiems ši 
paslauga galėtų būti naudinga.

Polski / Polish
Informacja ta może być dostępna w języku polskim. 
Jeżeli Pańswo albo ktoś kogo Państwo znają, może z 
tej usługi skorzystać, proszę nas kontaktować. 

Português / Portuguese
Esta informação pode ser disponibilizada em 
português. Se você, ou alguém que conhecer, 
beneficiar com este serviço, por favor contacte-nos.

Русский / Russian 
Данная информация может быть предоставлена 
на русском языке. Если Вы или Ваши знакомые 
посчитаете такую услугу необходимой, 
пожалуйста, свяжитесь с нами. 

Türkçe / Turkish
Bu bilgiler Türkçe dilinde mevcuttur.  Siz veya 
bir tanıdığınızın bu hizmetden faydalanacağını 
düşünüyorsanız lütfen bizi arayınız.

18  Alternative formats and  
languages

83



28  Tenancy agreement

South Kesteven District Council  
St. Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

01476 406080

84



South Kesteven District Council

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Tenancy Agreement

Lead officer:
 Harrinder Rai
Assessors:
Celia Bown

Service Area:

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

21/01/19

85

Appendix 2



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Tenancy Agreement

This is to revise the existing tenancy agreement, dated 2002.

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Disability Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Race Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Sex

  

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

86



Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Carers Neutral This protected characteristic 
would not be a determinant in the 
implementation of this tenancy 
agreement.

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

General 
comments

For tenants who cannot read or write; cannot read or write in 
English; or who are visually impaired, alternative forms of 
communication will be used.  This may include; telephone or 
face to face contact; letters in the person’s first language; braille 
or large print.

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

Demographic data

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

87



N/A

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken



If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

88



If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Harrinder Rai
(Name and title) Assistant Director - Housing

Date completed: 21/01/19 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    21/01/19

89



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Committee
9 July 2019

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson

Cabinet Member for Housing

        

South Kesteven District Council Tenant Involvement 
Strategy 
The Tenant Involvement Strategy sets out how we will engage with our tenants in monitoring and 
challenging the housing service we provide as a social landlord.  The strategy compliments the 
Tenant Involvement Framework previously approved by Cabinet in 2018.
  

Report Author

Ken Linford, Service Improvement Officer

 01476 40 63 49

 k.linford@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Harry Rai, Assistant Director - Housing 14 June 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 19 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for 
Housing 21 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Cabinet approves the Tenant Involvement Strategy 2019 to 2024

91

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Tenant Involvement Strategy incorporates the Tenant Involvement Framework, which 

was approved by Cabinet in May 2018.  The strategy accords with the four consumer 
standards within the current regulation of social housing requirements.  The strategy also 
takes into account current views on tenant engagement across the social housing sector.  
A copy of the strategy is appended (Appendix 1).

1.2 The framework showed the methods by which tenants can be involved in the monitoring 
and challenging of the housing service provided by the Council.  The strategy details how 
the framework will be applied and supported to provide tenants opportunities to be involved.  
The strategy also represents a commitment made by the Council in supporting and 
encouraging tenants to be involved.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Framework was presented to the Communities and Wellbeing OSC in March 2018, 

which reported consultation undertaken with tenants.

2.2 A workshop was also held with tenants on 24 May 2019 at which the framework and 
proposed strategy was discussed.  Tenants in attendance were in favour of this approach 
and agreed to be part of a Tenants Panel.

2.3 The tenants were supportive of the flexible and adaptable format of the framework, and the 
support in place for tenants wishing to engage in providing opportunities for tenants to be 
involved. Local engagement was considered to be an important part of this approach and 
housing officers have been involved in a number of local engagement projects to resolve 
issues such as parking with local residents

2.4 Tenants emphasised the importance of good communication between the council and 
tenants, in the work we do and how their involvement has led to change and improvements 
in how we deliver a housing service. One of the key commitments of the strategy is to 
feedback to tenants through the tenants’ newsletter ‘Skyline’ and an annual report detailing 
outcomes and work undertaken during the year.

2.5 The Council undertakes a 3-year satisfaction survey with all our tenants to measure how 
satisfied our tenants are with how and the way we provide our services, while this provides 
some insight and direction on how we can improve the services we provide, implementation 
of this strategy will capture more detailed feedback and views on how effective our 
management services are and explore with tenant’s other ways in which they can be 
improved and delivered.

3  Available Options Considered
3.1 It is a requirement for local authorities (under the Tenant Involvement and Empowerment 

Standard 2017 from Homes and Communities Agency as part of the Regulatory Framework 
for Social Housing) to involve and engage their tenants and therefore, to do nothing would 
place the authority at risk of challenge. 

4 Preferred Option
4.1 To approve the strategy to involve tenants in the monitoring and challenging of the 

housing service. 

92



5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Social landlords are required to provide opportunities for tenants to be involved in the 

monitoring and challenging of the housing services (as set out in the Tenant Involvement 
and Empowerment Standard 2017 above).

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The approved strategy will be sent to the senior managers and team leaders in housing and 

related services.  A summary will also be included in the tenant’s newsletter ‘Skyline’ sent 
to all tenants and a copy placed on the SKDC website.  

6.2 An Action Plan has been drawn up setting out the timescales for the implementation of the 
actions within the strategy.  This will be included with the strategy and will be monitored and 
amended to ensure it remains relevant.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 A budget has been approved for this to cover the costs of travel expenses for tenants to 

attend meetings, and to provide training and support where required. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The strategy and framework meets the current requirements of the Standard above.  The 

strategy and framework will be monitored and reviewed to ensure it continues to meet these 
standards and any amendments to them.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 An EIA was carried out in December 2016 on the framework which found no adverse issues 

due to the flexible approach taken.  The framework is the core of this strategy and supports 
the framework and therefore does not require a separate EIA. 

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Current engagement with tenants is very low and places the council at risk of not meeting 

the regulatory standards.  This will be mitigated by the tiered approach which offers tenants 
opportunities to be involved at a level they choose.

10.2 The diverse nature of people accessing the housing service requires a more adaptable and 
flexible approach to meet these needs.   Engaging with tenants offers the opportunity to 
provide a service that meets identified needs and expectations.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 Identifying issues early and taking a partnership approach (including with residents 

regardless of tenure), will enable community issues to be identified and resolved by 
empowering the community to take ownership.  

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified

13 Background Papers

93



13.1 Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Housing 132) 20 March 
2018: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=628&MId=3442&Ver=
4 

Cabinet Report (Housing 133) 10 May 2018: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3506&Ver=
4 

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Tenant Involvement Strategy

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

10 June 2019

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 May 2018

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  11 July 2019

94

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=628&MId=3442&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=628&MId=3442&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3506&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3506&Ver=4


95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



Cabinet 
9th July 2019

Report of: Councillor Nick Robins, 
Cabinet Member for Planning

        

Housing Delivery Test Action Plan

Report Author

Roger Ranson, Head of Planning Policy 

 01476 406438

 r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Jane McDaid, Assistant Director - Growth 18 June 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 25 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning 27 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that Cabinet considers, approves the attached Housing Delivery 
Test Action Plan, and agrees to publish this. 

109

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Government is committed to the improved delivery of more new homes nationally 

through their economic and housing growth agendas.  To this end they have introduced a 
number of measures and reforms to the planning system intended to deliver more housing, 
improve housing affordability and remove barriers to development. Local Planning 
Authorities have now been challenged to be more proactive in increasing the speed and 
quantity of housing supply to meet the identified housing needs of their local area. 

1.2 To this end, the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) has been introduced by the Government as a 
monitoring tool to demonstrate whether local areas are building enough homes to meet their 
housing need.  The HDT, which was introduced through the Government’s White Paper - 
Fixing our broken housing market and is now incorporated into the National Planning Policy 
Framework, compares the number of new homes delivered over the previous three years 
with the Council’s housing requirement. The HDT is also intended to be used to determine 
the buffer to apply in housing supply assessments and whether the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development should apply.  Under the HDT:

1.3 Where housing delivery over the previous three years has been less than 95% of the 
housing requirement, Local Planning Authorities should prepare an action plan setting out 
the causes of under delivery and the intended actions to increase delivery;

1.4 Where delivery has been less than 85% of the housing requirement a 20% buffer should be 
applied to the supply of deliverable sites for the purposes of housing delivery assessment; 
and

1.5 Where delivery has been less than 75% of the housing requirement, the NPPF’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply.

1.6 In February 2019 the Government published the first HDT results, which identified South 
Kesteven as achieving 81% of its housing requirement.   This means the Council need to 
plan for a 20% buffer and set out an action plan for how they intend to increase delivery 
across the District.

1.7 South Kesteven District Council is responding to this challenge and has the ambition - 
recognised across its key strategic documents (particularly the Local Plan) - to increase and 
accelerate the delivery of new housing across the District.  The attached action plan 
(Appendix 1), produced in line with Government guidance, provides an analysis of the key 
reasons for the historic under performance to deliver against the District’s assessed housing 
requirement and identifies the measures the Council should seek to undertake to increase 
the delivery of new housing across the District. 

1.8 The Council recognise that delivering growth is complex.  Whilst a number of the actions 
identified in the action plan are solely within the remit of the Council to resolve, to 
successfully respond to the challenge of increasing, and then maintaining, housing delivery 
the Council will also need the support and co-operation of a range of third party stakeholders 
and those involved in delivering homes including landowners and house builders.  Since the 
publication of the first HDT test results, more recent evidence indicates that 676 dwellings 
were completed within South Kesteven in 2018/19, well above the requirement and giving 
some encouragement to the Council’s objective to increase and accelerate the delivery of 
new housing across South Kesteven.

110



2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Government guidance requires that the council engages with key landowners, developers 

and stakeholders in the production of the HDT Action Plan.  This has been undertaken and 
has been important in both determining the root causes for housing performance and 
preparing the actions identified in the attached plan. 

2.2 Due to the need to publish the action plan by the end of July, there has not been the 
opportunity for the new Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) to consider the draft action plan.  However, it is intended to 
be a “live” document reflecting appropriate actions to be undertaken by the Council, and so 
it is possible for the OSC to consider and offer comments so that the HDT action plan can 
be updated by Cabinet at a later date.   

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council could not approve the HDT Action Plan.  This is not recommended as it would 

be contrary to Government requirements.

3.2 A further alternative would be to amend the HDT Action Plan.  This is intended to be a 
working plan and so there is scope for Cabinet to revise this in the light of any further 
comments on the plan.  

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The preferred option therefore is for Cabinet considers, approves the attached Housing 

Delivery Test Action Plan, and agrees to publish this.

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 This would enable the Council to fulfil the Government’s requirements with respect to the 

Housing Delivery Test as well as providing an authoritative statement and action plan to 
reflect its ambition to increase and accelerate the delivery of new housing across the District. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Following the decision of Cabinet, it is necessary to publish the Housing Delivery Test action 

plan. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There may be financial implications arising from specific implementation actions that are 

identified in the action plan which is appended to this report.  In the event that any of the 
actions have a financial implication that is not currently budgeted for or can be financed from 
the movement of existing budgets, then a separate report will be prepared at the appropriate 
time. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director, Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 There are no direct equality and safeguarding implications arising from this report.

111



10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 There are no significant risks to the Council arising from this report.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no significant community safety implications arising from this report.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Draft Housing Delivery Action Plan 

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

13 May 2019

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  10 July 2019

112



 

Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 
 

May 2019 
  

 

 
 
 

113

Appendix 1



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019  Page: 2 

Contents 
 

 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Relationship to other plans / straegies and Council activities  ............................................................................. 4 

3. Housing delivery analysis .............................................................................................................................................. 6 

4. Grantham urban extensions and barriers to delivery ........................................................................................... 15 

5. Root cause analysis  ................................................................................................................................................... 27 

6. Action Plan ................................................................................................................................................................... 28 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared By: Dale Robinson 
Status: Final Report 
Draft Date: May 2019 
 
For and on behalf of GVA Grimley Limited trading as Avison Young 
 

114



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019 Page: 3 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 The Government is committed to the improved delivery of more new homes nationally through their 

economic and housing growth agendas.  To this end they have introduced a number of measures and 

reforms to the planning system intended to deliver more housing, improve housing affordability and remove 

barriers to development. Local Planning Authorities have now been challenged to be more proactive in 

increasing the speed and quantity of housing supply to meet the identified housing needs of their local area.  

 

1.2 To this end the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) has been introduced by the Government as a monitoring tool to 

demonstrate whether local areas are building enough homes to meet their housing need.  The HDT, which 

was introduced through the Governments White Paper - Fixing our broken housing market, compares the 

number of new homes delivered over the previous three years with the Councils housing requirement. The 

HDT will be used to determine the buffer to apply in housing supply assessments and whether the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development should apply.  Under the HDT: 

 

 Where housing delivery over the previous three years has been less than 95% of the housing requirement, 

Local Planning Authorities should prepare an action plan setting out the causes of under delivery and 

the intended actions to increase delivery; 

 Where delivery has been less than 85% of the housing requirement a 20% buffer should be applied to the 

supply of deliverable sites for the purposes of housing delivery assessment; and 

 Where delivery has been less than 75% of the housing requirement, the NPPF’s presumption in favour of 

sustainable development will apply. 

 

1.4 In February 2019 the Government published the first HDT results, which identified South Kesteven as achieving 

81% of its housing requirement.   This means the Council need to plan for a 20% buffer and set out an action 

plan for how they intend to increase delivery across the District.  

 

1.5 South Kesteven District Council (the Council) is responding to this challenge and has the ambition, 

recognised across its key strategic documents, to increase and accelerate the delivery of new housing 

across the District.  The allocation of land to accommodate a minimum of 15,625 new homes (625 dwellings 

per annum) is being made through the emerging Local Plan, which is schedule for Examination in May 2019. 

 

1.6 Within this context the Council has commissioned Avison Young to prepare the ‘Housing Delivery Test Action 

Plan’.  This document provides an analysis of the key reasons for the historic under performance to deliver 

against the Districts assessed housing requirement and identifies the measures the Council should seek to 

undertake to increase the delivery of new housing across the District.  

 

1.7  The Council recognise that delivering growth is complex.  Whilst a number of the actions identified in the 

action plan are solely within the remit of the Council to resolve, to successfully respond to the challenge of 

increasing, and then maintaining, housing delivery the Council will also need the support and co-operation 

of a range of third party stakeholders and those involved in delivering homes including landowners and 

house builders. 

 

115



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019 Page: 4 

2. Relationship to other plans / strategies and Council 

activities 
 

2.1 The Action Plan complements existing Council plans, policies and strategies which provide a framework for 

the delivery of the Councils housing priorities.  These documents include the following: 

 

 The Housing Strategy 2017 - 2021 identifies some of the significant housing challenges facing the District 

including:  22% of the Districts population being aged over 65, and this is expected to grow to 31% by 

2039; demand for homes continuing, although housing is becoming gradually less affordable for many 

people; the quality of existing rental homes is often not good enough; there are pockets of deprivation, 

with some aspects more apparent in rural areas with limited access to services.  At the heart of the 

strategy is the belief that homes are a fundamental part of people’s lives.  The strategy purports that 

houses should be ‘healthy’, good quality, sustainable and secure, providing the environment for people 

to thrive and achieve.  The strategy also recognises that good housing in vibrant and attractive towns 

and villages supports a strong economy and helps create a community where people want to live, work 

and invest 

 

 The Economic Growth Strategy 2016 - 2021  recognises the importance of housing delivery as a driver of 

economic growth, and the Council confirm within the strategy that they will support initiatives which can 

accelerate delivery of key housing sites, which then help to promote employment sites /economic 

opportunities to the market. Whilst the strategy supports economic development initiatives across the 

whole of the District, there is a clear focus on growth in Grantham. The aim of this is to help in establishing 

Grantham as a leading sub-regional centre by taking advantage of development opportunities, 

creating employment, providing growth in new housing and helping to improve the town centre offer to 

enable more people to invest, shop, work and relax there.  

 

South Kesteven New Local Plan 2011 - 2036.  The Council is committed to bringing forward 

transformational growth and is working hard to bring forward a Local Plan that can guide growth going 

forward to 2036.   The number of additional homes required in the District up to 2036, based on the 

Peterborough Sub-Region Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), is 15,625 which equates to an 

average of 625 homes per annum over the period 2011-36.   The new Local Plan proposes that that the 

majority of all planned housing development be focused upon growing Grantham1.   This ensures 

development is located in the most sustainable location and enables Grantham to enhance its role as a 

sub-regional centre.  

 

In addition, given their role as market towns with a range of services and facilities, the Local Plan also 

proposes new development in Stamford2, Bourne3 and the Deepings4  

                                                      
1  Strategic housing allocations are proposed for - Rectory Farm (Phases 2 and 3) - [Phase 1 of this site was the development of Poplar Farm, an 
allocation in the Core Strategy 2011. This site is currently under construction] and Spitalgate Heath Garden Village (Southern Quadrant) [also an 
allocation in the Core Strategy 2011]; and Prince William of Gloucester Barracks. 
2 Within Stamford a major sustainable extension to the north of the town is proposed in the Local Plan. This will require a comprehensive masterplan for 
the whole of the site, including land at Quarry Farm in Rutland. This is envisaged as a high quality development responding to market demands which 
will have its own distinctive character whilst allowing the essential character of Stamford to be preserved. Additional allocations for residential 
development are proposed on brownfield land at Stamford East 

116



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 5 

 

Outside of the four main towns, new development is focussed on those Larger Villages where there are 

good levels of services and facilities. All sites within Larger Villages have been assessed to determine the 

right amount and right location for new development to take place, taking into account the 

deliverability of proposals and constraints on development. As a consequence, not all identified Larger 

Villages have a proposed allocation for new housing in the new Local Plan, although there may be an 

existing “known supply” from existing planning permissions for housing not yet implemented.  Following 

the review of the Larger Villages (formerly Local Service Centres) Castle Bytham no longer has sufficient 

services and facilities to be classified as one. Fifteen Larger Villages have been identified and following a 

detailed site assessment process thirteen sites have been identified as potential housing allocations. In 

addition to these allocations, the plan supports sensitive infill housing development within the built-up 

part of settlements and the redevelopment of previously developed sites in all fifteen Larger Villages.  

 

The new local plan also states that some small scale sensitive development on the edge of all 

settlements will also be supported subject to more restrictive criteria, including evidence of substantial 

support from the local community. 

 

 South Kesteven Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) -2011 to 2036.  The Council has prepared an 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan to support the new Local Plan. This includes the Infrastructure Delivery 

Schedule (IDS) which identifies the physical, social and green infrastructure needed to support the vision 

and growth proposals included in the Local Plan over the plan period, including where known, when the 

infrastructure will be required and how it will be funded 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                          
3 There is still a significant amount of new housing to be completed in Bourne through the Elsea Park scheme. The Local Plan does not make any site 
specific allocations in Bourne, because of current commitments that are still outstanding. Instead, it is expected that the Neighbourhood Plan body will 
work in partnership with the Council to identify suitable, sustainable locations for a minimum of 200 new homes over the plan period within the 
emerging Bourne Neighbourhood Plan. 
4 Planned housing growth is proposed to the east and north of the Deepings through proposed allocations at Towngate West and Linchfield Road. 

117



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019 Page: 6 

3. Housing delivery analysis 
 

3.1 In Fixing our Broken Housing Market - the Governments White Paper of February 2017 - the Prime Minister 

refers to the Country’s broken housing market as ‘one of the greatest barriers to progress in Britain today’.  

This was further emphasised by the then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government5 who 

summed up the position: 

 

“For decades, the pace of house building has been sluggish at best.  As a result, the number of new homes 

has not kept pace with our growing population.  And that, in turn, has created a market that fails to work for 

far too many people”.  Soaring prices and rising rents caused by a shortage of the right homes in the right 

places has slammed the door of the housing market in the face of a whole generation”. 

 

3.2 Over the last 10 years or so, the Government and development industry has sought to define how many 

houses are needed in England.  The White Paper identifies an annual range of between 225,000 to 275,000 

new homes is now needed, with the current ambition set at building one million new homes between 2015 

and 2020.  More recently the Government has indicated, through the 2017 Autumn Budget, that 300,000 

homes need to be build each year, on average, by the mid-2020s.  However, completion levels have fallen 

significantly short of this with the most recent data pointing to circa 195,000 new build completions in the 

year 2017/2018.  

 

3.3 Access to a decent, safe and secure home is seen as a basic right, but for many, houses are too expensive 

and the choices of high quality homes are limited.  On a simple measure of affordability, most parts of the 

Country experience house prices well in excess of the ‘affordable’ ratio of 4:1, where local average house 

prices are four times the local average income levels. South Kesteven is no different, with the affordability 

ratio (based on median house price to median gross annual income) at around 9:16 across the area as a 

whole.    

 

3.4 At its most basic, the Government considers that increasing the supply of housing is key to improving the 

affordability  of housing,  Whist this simplifies a very complex issue, the Government is focussing efforts on 

introducing measures that will deliver more housing and remove barriers to development.  

 

 Housing Completions in South Kesteven  
 

3.5 The national housing challenge has a local dimension with South Kesteven having its own housing needs to 

meet.   The South Kesteven Proposed Submission Local Plan7  requires the provision of 15,625 homes to be 

built over the plan period 2011 - 2036, equating to an average of 625 homes per year.   The South Kesteven 

Five Year Housing Land Supply Assessment 2018 - 2023 acknowledges that since the plan period started in 

2011, there has been a shortfall of 545 dwellings.  The assessment also acknowledges that the Council has 

under delivered when housing delivery is assessed against the housing trajectory set out in the Proposed 

Submission Local Plan.  

                                                      
5 The Rt Hon Sajid Javid MP 
6 Based on the house price to workplace - based earnings ratio published by the Office National Statistics (2018) 
7 This was submitted to the Secretary of State in January 2019 with the Examination set to commence on 8th May 2019 

118



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 7 

3.6 Before we examine the delivery rates over the current plan period (i.e. from 2011) it is important to look 

further back to understand fully how housing delivery has changed across the District.  To do this we must 

look back at the South Kesteven Core Strategy (adopted in 2010), which set out a requirement for 13,600 

new homes over the period 2006 to 2026.  This equated to a minimum requirement of providing an average 

of 680 new homes per annum.    

 

3.7 Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy of the South Kesteven Core Strategy stated that the majority of all new 

development should be focused upon Grantham to support and strengthen its role as a Sub-Regional 

Centre and to achieve the growth aspirations set out within the Grantham Growth Point Programme, 

following the town’s designation as a growth point in 2006.  In addition, as a result of Grantham's designation 

as a New Growth Point8, the Core Strategy identified that at least 50% of the Districts housing total should be 

allocated in the town in order to address these growth aspirations. 

 

3.8 The Core Strategy also allowed for modest growth in the south of the District, particularly for Stamford and 

The Deepings.   Due to the amount of development already taking place or committed (at the time) in 

Bourne, the Core Strategy didn’t allocate any additional land for development.  

 

3.9 The Core Strategy did permit some growth in the Local Service Centres9, in order to maintain their viability. In 

these locations the Core Strategy stipulated that development would be limited to identified allocated sites 

and infill/redevelopment sites within the built-up areas of the settlements. 

 

3.10 Policy H1 - Residential Development of the South Kesteven Core Strategy required that new housing 

development over the period 2006 to 2026 should be planned and phased to deliver the minimum level of 

housing development required by the Regional Plan10 (now revoked).  To ensure the proper distribution of 

development across the District, in accordance with Policy SP1, during the plan period Policy H1 of the Core 

Strategy set development targets (see Table 1) for each of the main towns, the local service centres as well 

as the rural areas.   

 

 Table 1 - Core Strategy Development Targets 

  District Grantham Stamford Bourne Deepings LSC’s Rural 

Areas 

 Approved RSS requirements 13,600       

A Remaining distributed by 

sub area 

13,620 7,680 1,140 2,310 870 1,000 620 

B Average annual build rate - 

2006 - 2026 

680 385 58 115 43 50 30 

C Completed 01/04/2006 - 

31/03/2008 

1,857 688 146 526 89 239 169 

                                                      
8 The New Growth Point initiative is Government's response to the Barker Review of Housing Supply. This highlighted the shortfall between supply and 
demand for housing: more houses are needed to help first time buyers, address overcrowding and keep up with rising demand. The New Growth Point 
initiative aims to ensure that there is an adequate supply of good quality housing of all types, including affordable housing for key workers and those in 
lower income groups. 
9 Policy SP2 - Sustainable Communities of the Core Strategy identifies the Local Service Centres as Ancaster; Barkston and Syston; Barrowby; Baston; 
Billingborough & Horbling; Castle Bytham; Caythorpe and Frieston; Colsterworth and Woolsthorpe by Colsterworth; Corby Glen; Great Gonerby; 
Harlaxton; Langtoft; Long Bennington; Morton and Hanthorpe; South Witham and Thurlby and Northorpe.  
10 The East Midlands Regional Plan (March 2009) 

119



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 8 

  District Grantham Stamford Bourne Deepings LSC’s Rural 

Areas 

 Surplus/Shortfall11 2006 to 

2008 

+497 -82 +30 +296 +3 +139 +109 

 Residual housing to be 

found 2008 - 2026 (A - C) 

11,763 6,992 994 1,784 781 761 451 

 Average annual build rate 

for remaining plan period 

(2008 - 2026) 

656 389 55 99 43 42 25 

Source:  Policy H1 - Residential Development - South Kesteven Adopted Core Strategy  

 

3.11 The data in Table 1 (Taken from Policy H1 o the South Kesteven Adopted Core Strategy 2010) clearly 

demonstrates that, over the period 2006 to 2008, the development trajectory target / build out rate for the 

whole district was exceeded by around 500 dwellings.   Whilst the rural areas, local service centres and most 

of the main towns also exceeded their development targets, over this same period, there was one notable 

exception - Grantham, which fell short of its development target by 82 dwellings.  

 

3.12 In April 2016 the Council published its Housing Land Supply Assessment which identified housing delivery rates 

across the District since 2006.  However, because the New Local Plan12 period started in 2011 we have only 

extracted the data up to 2011 and compared the number of units delivered over this period against the 

Core Strategy trajectory targets - please refer to Table 2. 

 

 Table 2: Housing Delivery Rates 1st April 2006 to 31st March 2011 

Year Core Strategy trajectory 

target13 

Units actually 

delivered 

Surplus / 

Shortfall 

2006 - 2007* 971 971 - 

2007 - 2008* 866 866 - 

2008 - 2009 663 663 - 

2009 - 2010 440 520 +80 

2010 - 2011 550 550 - 

Totals 3,490 3,570 +80 
 Source:  South Kesteven Five Year Housing Land Supply Assessment  

 
Notes  

(*) These figures represent a breakdown of the 1,857 dwellings that were completed over the period 2006 to 2008, as summarised in Table 1.  

However, there is a slight discrepancy in the figures with the cumulative total for years 2006 / 07 and 2007 /08 in Table 2 being 20 dwellings 

fewer than the total figure (1,857) included in Table 1.   

 

                                                      
11 Based on B multiplied by 2 years less C 
12 The South Kesteven Proposed Submission Local Plan  
13 Policy H1 of the adopted Core Strategy set an annualised target figure for the development of 680 dwellings each year over the twenty-year period 
2006 -2026, giving a total target of 13,600 new houses built in South Kesteven1. However, the housing trajectory in the Core Strategy recognised that it 
was unrealistic to assume an even and consistent supply of housing delivery over the plan period, and indicated a lower delivery rate within the first 
five year delivery phase (2010/2011 – 2014/2015) to reflect the downturn in the housing market, the plan making process for identifying allocations, and 
the need for major infrastructure projects to support the delivery of the majority of housing growth in Grantham.  
 

120



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 9 

3.13 Over the period 2006 to April 2011 the number of housing completions slightly exceeded the housing 

trajectory /targets for that five year period, with a total of 3,570 dwellings completed compared with a 

target of 3,490 dwellings.   

 

3.14 The Councils Five Year Housing Land  Supply Assessment (2018 - 2023) and their Local Plan Examination Topic 

Paper 2 - Housing land Supply both set out the housing delivery rates from 1st April 2011 to 1st April 2018. - See 

Table 3.  

 

 Table 3 - Housing Delivery Rates from 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2018.  

Year Annual Target14 Units Delivered Surplus / Shortfall 

2011 - 2012 625 494 -131 

2012 - 2013 625 497 -128 

2013 - 2014 625 541 -84 

2014 - 2015 625 652 +27 

2015 - 2016 625 495 -130 

2016 - 2017 625 454 -171 

2017 - 2018 625 428 -197 

Survey Year - 26915 +269 

District Total  4,375 3,830 -545 
 Source: South Kesteven Five Year Housing Land Supply Assessment (2018 - 2023) 

 

3.15 As demonstrated above the total housing requirement since 1st April 2011 totals 4,375.  However only 3,830 

dwellings were delivered meaning there was an overall shortfall of 545 dwellings over the period 1st April 2011 

to 1st April 2018.  

 

3.16 The results from the Governments Housing Delivery Test state that over the past three years (i.e. 2015/16 to 

2017/18) a total of 1,421 dwellings were completed against a target of 1,746.   See Table 4 below.  These 

figures differ to those in Table 3 but nevertheless both sets of data confirm an under delivery in housing 

completions  over the past 3 years.  In fact the Councils figures show that a total of 1,377 dwellings were 

completed16 against a target of 1,875 dwelling resulting in a shortfall of 498 dwellings.   This would mean the 

Housing Test Measurement is 73.5% rather than the current 81%.   Where delivery has been less than 75% of 

the housing requirement, the HDT requires that the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development 

will apply. 

 

Table 4: Housing Delivery Test Results  

Year target Units actually delivered Surplus / Shortfall 

2015 - 2016 574 495 -79 

2016 - 2017 565 478 -87 

                                                      
14 As outlined previously the period from 1st April 2011 is covered by the New Local Plan ( South Kesteven Proposed Submission Local Plan) which  
requires the provision of 15,625 homes to be built over the plan period 2011 - 2036, equating to an average of 625 homes per year 
15 A physical survey was undertaken in 2015 / 2016 of all outstanding commitments.  This was considered necessary as a number of sites (particularly 
small sites) were known to have been completed but still featured on the commitment list as sites under construction but not completed.  The survey 
identified that 269 additional homes had been completed.  As a result of this survey the sites were counted as completions rather than commitments. 
However, the actual year of completion couldn’t be confirmed so they  were  added as a separate delivery figure rather than apportioning it to a 
specific year(s) 
16 Ignoring the dwellings from the survey as it is not possible to allocate these to a specific year.  

121



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 10 

2017 - 2018 607 448 -159 

Total 1,746 1,421 -325 

 Source: HDT 2018 Measurement 

 

3.17 The Councils Local Plan Examination Topic Paper 2 - Housing Land Supply provides a breakdown, by year 

and settlement, of the housing completions between 1st April 2011 and 31st March 2018.   This is replicated 

below for ease of reference.  

 

 Table 5 - Completions by Year and Settlement  

Year District Grantham Stamford Bourne Market 

Deeping 

Larger 

Villages 

/LSC’s 

Smaller 

Village 

/Rural 

Areas 

2011 - 2012 494 145 78 129 60 56 26 

2012 - 2013 497 107 82 154 82 55 17 

2013 - 2014 541 221 41 149 42 58 30 

2014 - 2015 652 224 38 216 131 32 11 

2015 - 2016 495 185 32 149 68 55 6 

2016 - 2017 454 72 14 136 40 44 21 

2017 - 2018 428 150 71 121 14 41 31 

Survey Years 269 58 27 45 29 68 42 

Totals 3,830 1,691 510 1,099 466 409 184 

 

3.18 In order to understand whether this under delivery is spread across the District or related to specific towns / 

settlements it is necessary to understand the development trajectories for each of the settlements listed in 

Table 5 (see above).   

 

3.19 Whilst the emerging Local Plan17 provides a percentage breakdown of new development (based on 

consents, commitments and allocations) this is forward looking for the period 2018 - 2036.  Is this respect it 

does not provide a useful guide as to what the previous delivery trajectories were, for each settlement, over 

the period 2011 to 2018.  

 

3.20 In this regard we have referred back to the South Kesteven adopted Core Strategy and in particular Policy 

H1 - Residential Development, which set out the annual build rate for the plan period 2008 to 2026.  These 

trajectories are shown in Table 1.   However, it should be noted that the trajectories for each settlement in 

the Core Strategy were based on an annual average build out rate of 656 dwellings.   The emerging local 

plan is based on an average annualised requirement of 625 dwellings.  On this basis we have based the 

development trajectories for each settlement over the emerging plan period (i.e from 2011) on the same 

proportional split from the Core Strategy but applied this to the average annual housing requirement set out 

in the emerging plan (i.e. 625 dwellings per annum).   This approach is summarised in Table 6.  

 

 

                                                      
17 The South Kesteven Proposed Submission Local Plan 

122



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 11 

 Table 6 - Estimated Development Trajectories for Emerging Plan Period (2011 - 2018) 

 District Grantham Stamford Bourne Market 

Deeping 

Larger 

Villages 

/LSC’s 

Smaller 

Village 

/Rural 

Areas 

Core Strategy Annual 

Build Rate for plan 

period 2008 - 201618 

656 389 55 99 43 42 25 

Proportionate split  100% 59% 8% 15% 7% 7% 4% 

 

Same Proportionate 

Split applied to 

emerging Local Plan 

for period 2011 to 2018 

100% 59% 8% 15% 7% 7% 4% 

Emerging local plan 

Development 

Trajectories for period 

2011 to 2018 

625 369 50 94 44 44 24 

 

3.21 Based on the estimated development trajectories in Table 6 we have the assessed the shortfall / surplus in 

completions for each settlement over the emerging plan period (i.e from 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2018).  

The results of this exercise are summarised in Table 7.  

 

Table 7 - Delivery Surplus / Shortfall - Annual Basis19 

Year District Grantham Stamford Bourne Market 

Deeping 

Larger 

Villages 

/LSC’s 

Smaller 

Village 

/Rural 

Areas 

Local Plan Annual 

Build Rate 

625 369 50 94 44 44 24 

2011 - 2012 -131 -224 +28 +35 +16 +12 +2 

2012 - 201320 -128 -262 +32 +60 +38 +11 -7 

2013 - 2014 -84 -148 -9 +55 -2 +14 +6 

2014 - 2015 +27 -145 -12 +122 +87 -12 -13 

2015 - 2016 -130 -184 -18 +55 +24 +11 -18 

2016 - 2017 -171 -297 -36 +42 -4 0 -3 

2017 - 2018 -197 -219 +21 +27 -30 -3 +7 

 

Total Requirement 

(based on 7 years) 

4,375 2,583 350 658 308 308 168 

                                                      
18 Set out in Policy H1 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy.  
19 By reference to number of dwellings completed - See Table 5.  
20 Refer to Table 6 

123



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 12 

Total Delivered21 3,830 1,691 510 1,099 466 409 184 

Surplus / Shortfall -545 -892 +160 +441 +158 +101 +16 

 

3 Year Housing 

Trajectory (A) 

1,875 1,107 150 282 132 132 72 

Units Delivered (B) 1,377 407 117 406 122 140 58 

Survey Years 269 58 27 45 29 68 42 

Total Units Delivered 

(C) 

1,646 465 144 451 151 208 100 

Housing Delivery Test 

Measurement (C/A) 

with Survey Year 

87.78% 42% 96% 159.92% 114.39% 157.58% 138.89% 

Housing Delivery Test 

Measurement (B/A) 

without Survey Year 

73.44% 36.77% 78% 143.97% 92.42% 106.06% 80.55% 

 

3.22 The results within Table 7 clearly demonstrates that over the emerging plan period to date (i.e. 2011 to 2018) 

all of the settlements except Grantham have exceeded their cumulative delivery trajectories for this period. 

In stark contrast Grantham under delivered by 892 dwellings.  If we run the Housing Delivery Test 

measurement at a settlement level you will see from Table 7 that Grantham would score 42% including the 

survey completions or 36.77% when they are excluded.  Stamford would score 96% including the survey 

completions and 78% without.  Bourne and the larger villages/LSC score more than 100% with and without 

the survey completions.  Market Deeping scores more than 100% with the survey completions and just over 

92% without. The smaller villages / rural area also scores more than 100% with the survey year completions 

but only scores 80% without the survey year completions.  

 

3.23 Whilst the delivery rates have dropped off in Stamford, Market Deeping, the large villages /local service 

centres and the rural area (including larger villages) over the past three years (which is something that needs 

to be monitored) it is abundantly clear that if Grantham achieved its development trajectories the impact 

on the Housing Delivery Test result would have been profound, especially given the over delivery in other 

areas of the District.  If Grantham had achieved its trajectories the Housing Delivery Test measurement for the 

District would have been 115% (including the survey year completions).  Even if Grantham had achieved 

three quarters of its trajectories over the past three years the measurement for the District would have been 

100%.  A measurement of 85% would have been recorded for the District if Grantham had simply delivered 

half of its three year trajectories.  

 

3.24 In view of Grantham’s significant under delivery (not only over the past three years but also the period of the 

emerging local plan to date) we have sought to understand what may be causing this under delivery within 

the town.  

 

3.25 To understand why Grantham has failed to achieve its development trajectories we must pause for a 

moment and remind ourselves that Grantham was awarded Growth Point Status in 2006.   One of the 

                                                      
21 Including Survey Year  

124



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 13 

objectives22 of the Grantham Growth Point Programme was to achieve sustainable population growth by 

delivering a step change in the level of new housing development in the town, primarily through the 

development of four key sites - the town centre, the Canal Quarter, the North West Quadrant and the 

Southern Quadrant.  This objective was reflected in the Core Strategy, which focused more than half of the 

annual District Housing requirement in the town.   

 

3.26 The Core Strategy set out that that more than 7,600 new homes would be built in the town.  Taking into 

account dwellings completed between 2006 and 2008 the Core Strategy identified a development target 

for Grantham of 6,992 dwellings.  Then having taken into account extant planning permissions, at the time, 

which provided a further 1,143 homes, the Core Strategy identified a shortfall of about 5,850 homes that 

needed to be accommodated within the town.  The Core Strategy expected that around 430 new homes 

could be accommodated within the built up part of the town but in order to achieve the net growth 

objectives (i.e. 5,420 dwellings) the Core Strategy identified and allocated two of the key sites from the 

Grantham Growth Point Programme as new urban extensions to ensure that sufficient new homes could be 

provided up to 2026 and beyond.   The sites identified from the Growth Point Programme, as the urban 

extensions, were the North West Quadrant and the Southern Quadrant.   

 

 The North West Quadrant comprises a site to the north of the A52 Barrowby Road and the south of the 

Nottingham rail line.  The Core Strategy assumed this site could deliver 3,500 new dwellings.  A large part 

of the site, known locally as Poplar Farm, has been allocated for housing through the local plan since 

1995.   

 The Southern Quadrant is located to the south of Grantham, and spans the East Coast Main Line. The 

whole expansion area includes land between the A1 in the west and the A52 in the east.  The site is now 

known as Spitalgate Garden Village and the Core Strategy envisaged that the site could yield up to 

4,000 new homes.  However, the Core Strategy did not expect this site to start yielding dwellings until 

2011/2012.  

 

3.27 These urban extensions were then taken forward into the emerging Local Plan.  In summary the emerging 

Local Plan proposes that 7,102 new dwellings23 be provided in Grantham over the plan period (i.e 2011 to 

2036).  From the total number of homes the Local Plan expects that the majority (5,505 dwellings24) would be 

provided within the two urban extensions meaning that the extensions account for 77.5% of the housing 

requirement identified for Grantham over the emerging plan period.  

 

3.28 As outlined in Table 7 a total of 1,691 dwellings were completed in Grantham over the period 2011 to 2018.   

Based on the average annualised delivery trajectory of 369 dwellings for Grantham, the cumulative 

development targets for Grantham over this period were 2,583 dwellings.  At a fairly arbitrary level 77.5% of 

this target should have been accommodated within the urban extensions equating to circa 2,000 dwellings.  

However as at 31st March 2018 a total of 321 dwellings had been built, across both of the urban extensions, 

resulting in a shortfall of 1,679dwellings across both of these urban extensions.  

 

                                                      
22 Objective 2 
23 Net of the 13% over provision across the plan period. 
24 Housing Allocations GR3: H1 (2,150 dwellings); GR3:H2 (1,150 dwellings) GR3: H3 (404 dwellings) and Poplar Farm (1,800 dwellings) 

125



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 14 

3.29 Within this context it is logical to conclude that the majority of completions (1,370 dwellings 25) ) in Grantham, 

over the emerging plan period, where in the main built up area of the town (i.e. outside of the urban 

extensions).  On the basis that 2,000 dwellings should have been delivered within the urban expansions by 

2018 the balance (583 dwellings26) should have been delivered within the main urban area.  This would 

equate to an average annualised delivery rate of circa 83 dwellings over the period 2011 to 2018.  On this 

basis the main urban area of Grantham has over delivered throughout this period and cumulatively has 

provided 787 dwellings more than its development trajectories for the emerging local plan period to date.      

 

3.30 This is an important point as it demonstrates that the housing market in Grantham, outside of the urban 

extensions, is operating effectively and contributing significantly more than expected to the development 

trajectories for the town.  This simply reinforces the point that the under delivery in Grantham is solely 

attributable to slow pace of delivery within the two urban extensions.  

 

3.31 We explore some of the reasons why these urban extensions have been slow to deliver and how they may 

impact on the future housing trajectories of the emerging Local Plan within next section of this report.  

 

 

 

 

                                                      
25 Total of 1,691 completions (as per Table 4) less the 321 dwellings completed in the North West Quadrant as at March 2018. 
26 Based on the average annualised delivery trajectory of 369 dwellings for Grantham, the cumulative development targets for Grantham over this 
period were 2,583 dwellings.  Less 2000 dwellings in the urban expansions leaves 583 dwellings for the main urban area of Grantham.  

126



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019 Page: 15 

4. Grantham urban extensions and barriers to delivery  
 

4.1 Developing houses is often a complex process.  There are a number of challenges and barriers to overcome 

before a buyer can take ownership of a property.  Many of these barriers are macro-economic in nature, for 

example access to finance for both developers and potential house buyers, whilst others may be more site 

specific such as land contamination.   These barriers can affect both the supply and demand side of housing 

delivery.  

 

4.2 However, it should be recognised, as outlined in the previous section that the main reason for under delivery 

across the District is the lack of development which has occurred within the two urban expansions at 

Grantham.   Settlements elsewhere in the District, including the main urban area of Grantham, have 

generally exceeded their development targets / trajectories over the emerging local plan period to date. 

 

4.3 In this respect this section of the report considers whether there has been any specific barriers that have 

prevented delivery with urban expansion sites.  In particular we explore whether the following issues have 

had an impact on the delivery of the urban extensions in Grantham.  

 

 Complexity of land ownerships and ‘ransom’ situations; 

 Planning and S106 obligations (linked to viability); 

 Viability 

 Site specific constraints and infrastructure requirements; 

 Market sentiment; and 

 Pace of delivery 

 

Complexity of land ownerships and ‘ransom’ situations  
 

4.4 It is common for there to be multiple land ownerships/interests across large urban expansions.  Invariably in 

situations where there are multiple land interests this will give rise to possible ransom situations and the need 

for land equalisation agreements.  Dealing with such issues are more often than not complex and can take 

years to resolve.   

 

4.5 The Northwest Quadrant urban extension is controlled by four landowners.   The eastern half of the site 

(known as Poplar Farm), is controlled by a single landowner, the Buckminster Estate Trust.  The western half of 

the site (known as Rectory Farm) extends to a total area of circa 60ha (148 acres) and is controlled by three 

different landowners - Linden Homes, Jelson Homes and Jenkinson.  Jelson and Linden Homes (who between 

them control the majority of the site - circa 48 ha/119 acres), have been working together to develop 

proposals for 1,350 new homes across their combined land interests.   

 

4.6 The South Quadrant urban Extension is held within one ownership - the Buckminster Estate Trust.    

 

4.7 It is clear that the landownership position across the urban extensions is relatively straight forward / simple 

with little in the way of complex and multiple ownerships that may give rise to possible ransom situations and 

complex land equalisation arrangements.  However, of concern is that one land owner (the Buckminster 

127



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 16 

Estate) has been and will continue to be the ‘key enabler’ for half of the North West quadrant urban 

extension as well as all of the southern quadrant urban extension meaning they have ultimate control over 

the delivery of up to  3,95027 new dwellings over the emerging Local Plan period.   Past evidence tells us that 

the Estate takes a rather unhurried approach in releasing its land for development.   We know that Poplar 

Farm28 was allocated for housing through the local plan since 1995 but as at 31st March 2018 only 321 

dwellings had been completed with a further 176 dwellings under construction.     

 

4.8 In a similar vein no development has yet come forward on the southern quadrant urban extension despite 

the site being allocated in the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (2010).  Whilst an outline application 

was submitted in July 2014 for a scheme comprising 3,700 dwellings this remained underdetermined until 

February 2019.   The main reason why the application was held in abeyance for so long was because of a 

perceived unacceptable level of affordable housing, with the Estate unwilling (until recently) to change their 

stance. We consider viability issues later.   

 

4.9 The main risk for the Council is looking ahead and the influence that one landowner has on the ability of the 

Council to achieve is housing trajectories over the remainder of the emerging local plan period.  For 

example the Estate both at any point and for any reason could simply hold back land for development, 

which would then have a profound impact on the housing delivery rates across the District.  This is a 

particular concern given that the Estate is not a developer meaning they are under no obligation to 

develop out the land.  Delivery on the Estates land will be via third party developers but the Estate will only 

sell land to developers upon terms which are acceptable to them and a lot of this will ultimately come down 

to the price which the Estate can achieve for its land.  The price of land will be subject to many variables 

(some of which we explore later), which if they impact on the land value too much will mean Buckminster 

won’t sell/release land for development.  In contrast when a developer owns a site they will seek to develop 

out the land as quickly as possible in order to recover their initial costs / capitol of acquiring the site as well as 

to mitigate any initial or ongoing holding costs29.    

 

4.10 This is a risk for the forthcoming Examination of the Local Plan, as if the Inspector shares these concerns they 

may find the plan unsound.  

 

Planning and S106 Obligations 
 

4.11 The planning position with respect to the North West Quadrant is summarised below.  

 

4.12 Outline planning permission was granted for 1,800 dwellings within the eastern part of the north western 

quadrant (known as Polar Farm) on 23rd June 2011.   The application was submitted 2 years prior to this and 

validated on 30th June 2009.   This permission is subject to a S106 Agreement (dated 21st June 2011) which 

sets out the planning obligations for the whole development.   A number of Reserved Matters applications 

have subsequently been brought forward by a number of developers and these have been approved. 

 

                                                      
27 1,800 dwellings at Poplar Farm (the North West quadrant and 2,150 dwellings within the southern quadrant / Spitalgate Garden Village).   
28 Half of the north-western quadrant (1,800 dwellings).   
29 Note there is a difference between a developer actually owning a site and one which has an option to acquire.  When a developer has an option 
to acquire they have not physically purchased the site.  Instead they will have paid the landowner a relatively modest sum for the option to acquire 
their land, at an agreed minimum price, subject to a number of conditions being achieved, the main one normally being the receipt of planning 
permission.   

128



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 17 

4.13 In December 2016 three applications were submitted to the Council for the western halve of the north west 

quarter urban extension (also known as Rectory Farm).  Two detailed applications were submitted (one by 

Linden Homes and one by Jelson Homes), which together sought permission for up to 533 new dwellings, 

forming phase one of the development.  A third application was submitted for outline consent for up to 817 

dwellings on the remainder of the site (i.e. the land beyond phase 1).  Details of the three applications are 

provided below; 

 

 An application by Linden Homes30 for full planning permission with EIA for 332 residential dwellings 

(including 112 affordable dwellings);  

 An application by Jelson Homes31 for full planning permission with EIA for 201 residential dwellings 

(including no affordable); and 

 A joint outline application for residential development by Linden and Jelson Homes for up to 817 

dwellings  (including no affordable) and associated infrastructure with all matters reserved32 on the 

remainder of the site; 

 

4.14 However, it is believed that the applications have been held in abeyance subject to the successful 

resolution of a number of technical issues in relation to highways.  

 

4.15 The Council has recently issued a draft SPD for Rectory Farm and the purpose of this document  is to add 

detail to the policies of the emerging Local Plan, particularly Policy GR4 (Grantham Allocations). This will aid 

the delivery of high quality residential development in an important site on one of the main approaches to 

Grantham, by highlighting the key principles that the Council will apply when considering development 

proposals thereby helping applicants to make successful applications.  The Council approved the draft SPD 

for the purposes of consultation in September2018.  The Planning Brief will be formally adopted as an SPD 

once the emerging Local Plan itself is adopted; however, it cannot legally be formally adopted ahead of 

the Local Plan.   In the period between the end of the formal consultation period and the adoption of the 

emerging Local Plan, the Planning Brief will nevertheless form a material consideration to be taken into 

account by the District Council when determining planning applications relating to the site.  However, the 

Council does not consider the formal adoption of the SPD to be a necessary pre-condition for determining 

planning applications on the site. Indeed, in the context of meeting South Kesteven’s evidenced housing 

need, the Council welcomes early proposals to develop the site that have appropriate regard to the 

Planning Brief based on its status at the time of application.  

 

4.16 With the Councils recent approval of the SPD it is possible that the scheme could be determined in an 

expedient manner so long as the proposals are not in conflict with the SPD.   However, we are aware that 

the applicants are challenging the level of affordable housing on viability grounds. As part of the 2 full 

applications which form phase 1 of the development, a viability assessment has been submitted claiming 

that the Council’s policy requirement of 35% affordable housing would make the development unviable and 

that 5% is the maximum that can be afforded. 

 

                                                      
30 Planning reference S16y/2816 
31 Planning reference S16/2819 
32 Planning reference S16/2818 

129



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 18 

4.17 Even if the current applications can be determined quickly it is unlikely, due to associated lead in times etc. 

(see later) that any dwellings will be completed on Rectory Farm until late 2020.  In all probability the first 

housing completions are unlikely to be achieved until 2021.  

 

4.18 The planning position with respect to the Southern Quadrant (aka Spitalgate Garden Village) is summarised 

below.  

 

4.19 An outline application for the southern quadrant (3,700 dwellings) was submitted to the Council in July 201433 

but only approved in February 2019 following a projected period of negotiations regarding viability and in 

particular relating to a perceived unacceptable level of affordable housing.  Permission was granted subject 

to the provision of a S106 Agreement and final approval of the conditions.  The application will be 

subsequently refused if the S106 Agreement has not been completed within six months, subject to their being 

no extenuating circumstances which would justify an extension of time. 

 

4.20 It should also be noted that the application has been prepared as a Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE), in 

line with the established planning policy context set by the Core Strategy and the associated SPD.  However, 

since the application was submitted, the site has been identified as one of 14 Garden Villages to be 

constructed in England. The Design and Access Statement (DAS) describes how the vision for the 

development embraces similar ideals to those of the Garden Cities and Garden Suburbs approach to 

delivering successful and sustainable places, including a strong ‘green’ character and a distinctive and 

accessible framework of woodland, trees, open spaces and landscape corridors. It contains a number of 

key design principles which will guide the production of site wide strategies and key phase design codes 

that will ensure the development is developed to a high design standard.” 

 

4.21 It is envisaged that there is now a need for  a next layer of design work which would be at a more detailed 

scale to  establish the overall ‘vision’ for the site.  The applicant (The Buckminster Estate) has advised that 

they remain committed to working in partnership with the Council and other stakeholders to deliver the 

Garden Village for the benefit of Grantham and the District. However, they do not wish to see this result in 

further delays to this project.   

 

4.22 Having undertaken analysis in relation to how the objectives of the application (as an SUE) and how the 

objectives of garden settlements inter-relate, the Council believe that it is readily possible through the 

conditions and S106 Agreement to achieve many of the garden settlement principles. These mechanisms 

would also allow sufficient flexibility to enable further detailed design work and review in order that the 

development would be of an exemplar design quality and would align more fully with the vision for the site 

as a garden village. The Council has drafted a series of conditions that have been developed to reflect 

adopted approaches and these would form a design-cascade based on a tiered approach, as summarise 

below.  

 

 

 

 

                                                      
33 Planning reference S14 / 2619 

130



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 19 

Tier 1 These are mandatory elements which provide the overarching elements of the permission 

such as the time limit and parameters 

Tier 2 These are the site - wide framework and delivery strategy which are based on the 

development parameters but provide the more detailed vision for the site.  Tier 2 must 

comply with tier 1.  These must also be agreed before detailed work can be undertaken to 

develop proposals within any phase. 

Tier 3 These are the phase wide or phase specific strategies, briefs and design codes - such as 

residential design codes.  These will guide Reserved Matters submissions within those phases 

of the development.  These must comply with tier 1 and 2 and provide the detailed 

framework for further submissions.  These must be agreed before work can commence in a 

particular phase.   

Tier 4 These represent Reserved Matters submissions for particular sites within each phase.  Tier 4 

submissions must comply with tiers 1 to 3.  A compliance condition under tier 1 would 

require a compliance statement to be provided with each Reserved Matters applications.  

 

4.23 It is anticipated that it will take around 18 to 24 months to satisfactory discharge the tier 1 to 3 conditions and 

a further 6 to 12 months to discharge the first phase of tier 4 conditions.  Taking into account possible lead in 

times it is unlikely that any housing completions will be achieved on the Southern Quadrant (Spitalgate 

Garden Village) until 2023 at the earliest and in all probability it could well be 2024.  

 

Viability  
 

4.24 A viability argument has been made by Linden and Jelson Homes regarding the first phase of development 

at Rectory Farm (part of the north western quadrant) and their ability to provide a policy compliant provision 

of affordable housing.  We are aware that as part of the 2 full applications, which form phase 1 of the 

development, a viability assessment has been submitted claiming that the Council’s policy requirement of 

35% affordable housing would make the development unviable and that 5% is the maximum that can be 

afforded.  Whilst a decision on this application must be predicated upon the application / viability 

information submitted and independently verified against the requirements of the development plan and all 

relevant material considerations, it is considered relevant for Members to be aware of the role of the urban 

extensions in fulfilling the Council housing trajectories and the impact they have on the Housing Delivery Test 

measurement.  

 

4.25 The outline application for the southern quadrant (Spitalgate Heath Garden Village) was also held in 

abeyance for circa 4.5 years following a projected period of negotiations regarding viability and in 

particular relating to a perceived unacceptable level of affordable housing.  A resolution to grant planning 

permission was granted in February 2019 with a provision for 10% affordable housing (lower than the policy 

requirement of 35%) but this was deferred for a period or 5 years or until the completion of the first 500 units 

whichever comes first.  

 

4.26 The Council has entered into a co-development phase with Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and Homes 

England, to bid for £71m of Government funding through the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). The purpose 

of this fund is to seek to remove infrastructure barriers to deliver new housing development and accelerate 

131



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 20 

the delivery of new homes.  If successful there is potential for it to support the Spitalgate Heath Garden 

Village, improving the viability and deliverability of the scheme through the reduction in strategic 

infrastructure costs. This is important when considering the longer-term viability of the development and the 

ability for its viability to improve over time providing scope to secure an increase in affordable housing 

provision. 

 

4.27 Whilst there is no viability challenge at Poplar Farm we are aware that the agreed level of affordable 

housing was less than the policy requirement at the time the application was approved.  However, we are 

concerned that there may be viability concerns with developing beyond 750 dwellings at this site as no 

more than 750 dwellings can be occupied until a new road bridge is constructed over an existing railway 

line.  This requires an easement from Network Rail and the granting of this easement could then trigger a 

potential claim from Network Rail for a share of any additional value as a consideration for it granting 

easements over its tracks.  This could be at much as 50% of the value created/added.   

 

Site Specific Constraints and Infrastructure Requirements 
 

4.28 Both of the urban extensions are Greenfield / agricultural land so they have very few (if any) issues regarding 

land contamination.  Through dialogue with the Buckminster Estate Trust and having reviewed the planning 

submission documents linked to the north western quadrant it is clear that topography is an issue across both 

urban extensions but more so within Spitalgate Garden Village.  However, these issues are not considered 

insurmountable in their own right. 

 

4.29 As you would expect the urban extensions, due to their scale, are also the subject of significant infrastructure 

requirements.   

 

4.30 The delivery of Spitalgate Garden Village is dependent on the construction of the Grantham South Relief 

Road (GSRR).  The GSRR Scheme runs along the south of Grantham linking the A1 Trunk Road in the west to 

the A52 at Somerby Hill to the east. It consists of three road construction phases.  Without the GSSR the 

number of dwellings that can be served off the existing highway network is limited to between 125 and 150 

dwelling.   The first phase of the relief road was completed in 2015 and the second phase is due to 

commence in June 2019 and should last 18 months.  Phase 3 is planned to commence in December 2019 

and should last 3 years with an estimated completion date of December 2023.  This broadly aligns with the 

planning timeframes meaning some development could commence prior to completion of the GSSR with 

some completions anticipated in 2022/23 but the majority of housing completions will not occur until 2024 

onwards.   

 

4.31 Funding for the £102 million road scheme is being underwritten by Lincolnshire County Council apart from 

£33m already secured through the GLLEP and Highways England’s GHF fund.   

 

4.32  Following a successful expression of interest, the Council entered into a co-development phase with 

Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and Homes England, to bid for £71m of Government funding through the 

Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). The purpose of this fund is to seek to remove infrastructure barriers to deliver 

new housing development and accelerate the delivery of new homes. The full business case for the HIF 

submission was submitted in   March 2019 and it is expected that a decision will be made later this year. 

132



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 21 

 

4.33 The delivery of Spitalgate Heath Garden Village is central to the bid, along with other strategic sites within 

the Grantham area (including the Prince William of Gloucester Barracks).  In the case of Spitalgate Heath, 

the HIF has been identified to support the delivery of the Grantham Southern Relief Road (GSRR), strategic 

utility provision (including a primary substation), and education requirements. The intention of HIF is to ensure 

that necessary infrastructure is in place to support development, for example, ensuring the delivery of 

schools to meet the needs of future communities, or provision of strategic utilities to enable viable 

development to come forward.  

 

4.34 The Council is aware that the HIF bid is one of approximately 55 submissions to be made and there is no 

guarantee it will be successful.   However, if the HIF bid is unsuccessful it will not impact on the delivery of the 

GSSR because the cost of the scheme is being underwritten by Lincolnshire County Council.  But in the event 

the bid is unsuccessful it will prevent the Council from being able to secure more affordable housing from the 

scheme.  This is because the current application was approved subject to the resolution of a S106 

Agreement which included S106Heads of Terms that included contributions towards the GSSR (£18,000,000).  

The viability of the scheme (see below) was also appraised on the assumption the scheme would need to 

fund a new primary substation (£13,000,000).  Both of these items would be funded through HIF, if successful, 

releasing £31,000,000 plus other ancillary cost savings to contribute towards more affordable housing (see 

below).  

 

4.35 With respect to the western half of the north west quadrant (i.e Rectory Farm) we are not aware of any 

infrastructure requirements that may prevent development.  As outlined previously we are aware that a 

viability argument has been made by Linden and Jelson Homes regarding the first phase of development at 

Rectory Farm (part of the north western quadrant) and their ability to provide a policy compliant provision of 

affordable housing.  So whilst viability is being challenged (this is not unusual with large scale strategic sites) 

there is nothing to suggest there are technical issues or infrastructure requirements that will prevent delivery.  

Indeed by virtue of the fact they have submitted  two detailed applications (one by Linden Homes and one 

by Jelson Homes), which together seek permission for up to 533 new dwellings, suggests that the developers 

are confident there are no technical or infrastructure constraints that are not capable of resolution / 

mitigation.  

 

4.36 Referring to the eastern half of the North West quadrant (Poplar Farm) we are aware that the overarching 

S106 Agreement limits the number of dwellings that can be constructed to 750 until the railway bridge link 

connecting Pennine Way to Great Gonerby is constructed and brought into use.   The S106 Agreement 

includes for the provision of a Pennie Way Link Fund in which the applicant agrees to pay a levy of £8,200 

per property.  However, the Agreement is somewhat vague/confusing in terms of the when this tariff will 

apply.   There is also an obligation on Buckminster (as applicant), prior to completion of the 700th dwelling to 

negotiate with Network Rail and obtain all the easements necessary for the railway bridge to be constructed 

and used as a publically maintainable highway.   

 

4.37 As at 31st March 2018 a total of 321 dwellings had been completed and a further 176 dwellings were under 

construction.  On this basis only a further 250 dwellings can be built.  For any more dwellings to come forward 

the railway bridge will need to have been completed.  However, no more than 200 units can actually be 

delivered on this site until necessary easements have been agreed with Network Rail.  It is unclear how 

133



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 22 

negotiations are progressing with Network Rail or indeed if they have even commenced.  Within this context 

there is a concern that development at Poplar Farm may stall within the next two years or so until there is a 

clear route forward to constructing and financing the Pennine Way Link.    

 

4.38 There is also a risk that Network Rail may expect to receive a share of any additional value as a 

consideration for it granting easements over its tracks.  This is covered under Network Rails Shared Value 

Policy.  External parties may refer to it as “ransom” but Network Rail does not regard it as such and indeed it 

is a recognised part of the regulatory targets imposed on Network Rail through the ORR settlement process.   

The ORR position on shared value is currently stated in the ORR publication - Investment Framework 

Consolidated Policy and Guidelines – published on its website and dated October 2010 (page 39, point 9.2).  

This states that the principle behind seeking a share of any valuation uplift as a result of granting such rights is 

part of property valuation practice, established in the case of Stokes v Cambridge. In summary, those 

granting development rights can seek a percentage of the uplift of the value of land caused by the 

granting of those rights, usually between 25% and 50% of the value added. 

 

Market sentiment 
 

4.39 There is clearly interest from the market in developing out large strategic sites in Grantham.  We need to look 

no further than the north west quadrant where Jelson and Linden homes own the majority of the western half 

of the urban expansion and have submitted proposals, jointly, for 1,350 new homes.  The eastern half of the 

north west quadrant has been promoted by the land owners (the Buckminster Estate Trust) and since 

receiving planning permission they have sold plots to Bellway and Barratt David Wilson.  

 

4.40 However, anecdotal evidence suggests that some developers are not willing to build in Grantham as the 

sales values are below £2,153psm (£200psf).   However, we have analysed sales values achieved during 

2018, 2017 and 2016.  The average value achieved for new build sales in Grantham in 2018 was £2,315psm 

(£215psf), albeit this was established off a limited sample of data.   In 2017 the average value achieved from 

new build sales was £2,056psm (£191psf) and in 2016 the average value achieved from new build sales was 

£2,023psm (£188psf).   On this basis it is clear that they may be some truth in the suggestion that developers 

have not been interested in Grantham, in the past, due to the relatively low sales values (i.e. sub £200psf) but 

this changed in 2018 with values for the first time in the past three years breaching the £2,153psm (£200psf.) 

threshold. 

 

4.41 In the future there will be a period of time when the two urban extensions will be developing out 

simultaneously alongside the former Prince William of Gloucester Barracks, which has capacity for up to 

4,000 dwellings of which it is anticipated that 500 will come forward over the remainder of the emerging 

local plan period.   Having three large sites operating at similar timescales risks flooding the market.  This will 

have a direct impact on the market absorption rate and subsequent sales which will then have implications 

for the viability and delivery of the scheme as a whole.  As a result this may deter interest from developers 

over the remainder of the emerging local plan period.   

 

 

 

134



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 23 

Pace of Delivery 
 

4.42 Large-scale sites can be an attractive proposition for plan-makers. With just one allocation of several 

thousand homes, a District can – at least on paper – meet a significant proportion of its housing requirement 

over a sustained period.  The Council clearly adopted this approach when it allocated the North West and 

Southern Quadrant urban extensions within the Core Strategy (2010) to achieve their new growth objectives.  

These allocations have subsequently been rolled forward into the new emerging Local Plan.  

 

4.43 However, large-scale sites do not always provide the solution to housing needs. Their scale, complexity and 

(in some cases) up-front infrastructure costs means they are not always easy to kick start. And once up and 

running, there is a need to be realistic about how quickly they can deliver new homes.    As we have 

established previously the urban extensions in Grantham have not delivered as quickly as possible and as a 

result gaps in the housing supply have opened up as a result.  

 

4.44 Whilst there are clear reasons why the urban expansion sites have not progressed as quickly as possible (as 

we have outlined previously), the emerging new local plan is still placing a significant reliance on these sites 

for future housing supply across the remainder of the emerging local plan period.  In this respect it is 

important that the assumptions around when and how quickly these sites will deliver new homes are properly 

justified.  We have set out below the key issues that will need to be considered.  

 

Lead in times 

4.45 The lead-in time prior to the submission of a planning application is an important factor, because many 

planning issues are flushed out in advance of planning applications being submitted.  Poplar Farm and 

Spitalgate Heath Garden village have moved beyond the lead in phase and both now have permission.  

However, Rectory Farm is still within this phase with the Council is holding in abeyance their planning 

applications whilst they prepared an SPD for the scheme.   If the applicant is able to demonstrate that their 

applications are addressing the key requirements of the SPD it should, theoretically, help ensure that their 

applications can be determined quickly.  If the requirements of the SPD are not being met this could result in 

a protracted and elongated lead in time.  

 

Time taken for first housing completion after planning approval  

4.46 Clearly, in many cases, a planning approval will also need to be followed by discharge of pre-

commencement conditions and or approved of Reserved Matters.   This was evident at Poplar Farm, where 

after the granting of outline planning permission a number of Reserved Matters applications were submitted 

with approval of the first reserved matters application in (S12/1331) on 4th October 2012.    

 

4.47 As outlined previously the resolution to grant outline permission for Spitalgate Heath Garden Village is subject 

to a number of draft conditions which include the need to agree a S106 Agreement and prepare phase 

wide or phase specific strategies, briefs and design codes - such as Residential Design Codes, which will be 

used to guide the subsequent Reserved Matters submissions.   

 

4.48 We envisage it will take a period of 12 / 18 months to prepare these documents and thereafter a further 

period of say 6/8 months to secure the approval of the first Reserved Matters submission.   Upon receiving the 

first Reserved Matters approval we envisage it will take a period of circa 6 months until the completion of the 

135



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 24 

first dwelling.   On this basis it could take between 2 and 2.5 years (24 to 32 months) for the first dwelling to be 

completed at Spitalgate Heath Garden Village.  

 

Build Out Rates  

4.49 The rate at which sites deliver new homes is a frequently contested matter at Local Plan examinations and 

during planning inquiries considering five year housing land supply. Assumptions can vary quite markedly 

and expectations have changed over time and there is a growing recognition that the rate of annual 

delivery on a site is shaped by ‘absorption rates’, a judgement on how quickly the local market can absorb 

the new properties. However, there are a number of factors driving this for any given site:  

 

 the strength of the local housing market;  

 the number of sales outlets expected to operate on the site (i.e the number of different house builders or 

brands/products being delivered); or  

 the tenure of housing being built. Are market homes for sale being supplemented by homes for rent, 

including affordable housing? 

 

Market Strength  

4.50 Whilst there are significant variations, reflecting localised conditions, there is nevertheless is a clear 

relationship between the strength of the market in a Local Authority area and the average annual build 

rates that are achievable.  The market dynamic is given added significance in the context of Grantham in 

view of the anecdotal evidence which purports that some developers won’t invest in the town due to the 

relatively low sales values.     

 

4.51 It also needs to be recognised that in addition to the North West and Southern Quadrant urban extensions, 

the emerging Local Plan also allocates the former Prince William of Gloucester Barracks for housing 

development.  In total the site is capable of accommodating up to 4,000 new homes from which 500 are 

expected to be delivered within the remainder of the period covered by the emerging Local Plan.  In this 

context, as outlined previously, it seems inevitable that there will be a period of time when the two urban 

extensions will be developing out simultaneously alongside the former Prince William of Gloucester Barracks.   

Having three large sites operating at similar timescales risks flooding the market.  This will have a direct 

impact on the market absorption rate and subsequent sales which will then have implications for the viability 

and delivery of the schemes as a whole.  As a result this may deter interest from developers over the 

remainder of the emerging local plan period.   

 

Number of Sales Outlets  

4.52 A key metric for build rates on sites is the number of sales outlets. Different housebuilders will differentiate 

through types or size of accommodation and their brands and pricing, appealing to different customer 

types. In this regard, it is widely recognised that a site may increase its absorption rate through an increased 

number of outlets.   This may relate to the site being more geographically extensive: with more access points 

or development ‘fronts’ from which sales outlets can be driven. A large urban extension might be designed 

and phased to extend out from a number of different local neighbourhoods within an existing town or city, 

with greater diversity and demand from multiple local markets.  Typically a site with two outlets should be 

able to deliver between 100 and 150 dwellings per annum.  

 

136



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 25 

4.53 However, the potential to increase the number of outlets will be based on the overall market absorption 

rates, meaning the number of outlets is unlikely to be a fixed multiplier in terms of number of homes 

delivered.   This is an important factor for Grantham, because, as outlined earlier, it seems inevitable that 

there will be a period of time when the two urban extensions will be developing out simultaneously alongside 

the former Prince William of Gloucester Barracks.   It is unrealistic realistic to assume that all three sites can 

support delivery rates of 125 dwellings per annum, given the strength of the local housing market, which 

would mean 375 sales per annum.   Past evidence (refer to Table 7) does not support these rates of delivery 

and there would need to be a significant economic stimulus to drive this pace of delivery over the 

remainder of the emerging Local Plan period. 

 

Affordable Housing Provision  

4.54 Housing sites with a larger proportion of affordable homes deliver more housing quickly (where viable). The 

relationship appears to be slightly stronger on large-scale sites (500 units or more) than on smaller sites (less 

than 500 units), but there is a clear positive correlation for both large and small-scale sites, developments 

with 40% or more affordable housing have a build rate that is around 40% higher compared to 

developments with 10-19% affordable housing obligation.    

 

4.55 The relationship between housing delivery and affordable (subsidised) housing is multi-dimensional, resting on 

the viability, the grant or subsidy available and the confidence of a housing association or registered 

provider to build or purchase the property for management. While worth less per unit than a full-market 

property, affordable housing clearly taps into a different segment of demand (not displacing market 

demand), and having an immediate purchaser of multiple properties can support cash flow and risk sharing 

in joint ventures. However, there is potential that starter homes provided in lieu of other forms of affordable 

housing may not deliver the same kind of benefits to speed of delivery, albeit they may support viability 

overall. 

 

4.56 This principle – of a product targeting a different segment of demand helping boost rates of development – 

may similarly apply to the emergent sectors such as ‘build-to-rent’ or ‘self build’ in locations where there is a 

clear market for those products. Conversely, the potential for starter homes to be provided in lieu of other 

forms of affordable housing may overlap with demand for market housing on some sites, and will not deliver 

the kind of cash flow / risk sharing benefits that comes from disposal of properties to a Registered Provider 

 

4.57 The developers at Rectory farm are arguing for a reduction in affordable housing on the grounds of viability.  

They are seeking to reduce the amount of affordable housing down from a policy complaint 35% to 5%.   The 

applicants for Spitalgate Heath Garden Village secured a reduction in their affordable housing contribution 

to 10% which was deferred for 5 years or completion of the first 500 units whichever comes first.   We are also 

aware that Poplar Farm when it was granted permission in 2011 was approved with a level of affordable 

housing that was less than the policy compliant position at the time.   Therefore without grant assistance or 

other forms of public sector subsidy it seems unlikely that the levels of affordable housing can be increased 

within the urban extensions in order to improve the overall rate of delivery.  

 

The Timeline of the Build-out Period  

4.58 Many local authorities housing trajectories show large sites gradually increasing their output and then 

remaining steady, before tailing off at the end. In fact, delivery rates are not steady and are generally higher 

137



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 26 

early in the build-out period before dipping.    This surge in early completions reflects  the drive for rapid 

returns on capital in the initial phase, and/or early delivery of affordable housing, with the average build rate 

year by year reducing thereafter to reflect the optimum price points for the prevailing market demand. 

Additionally, the longer the site is being developed, the higher the probability of coinciding with an 

economic downturn which will lead to a reduction in output for a period. 

 

138



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019 Page: 27 

5. Root Cause Analysis  
 

5.1 The ‘root cause analysis’ for the under delivery of the Councils housing targets / trajectories seems relatively 

straight forward on the face of it.  The main urban extensions in Grantham have simply not delivered the 

number of new homes that they were expected to.   

 

5.2 At a fairly arbitrary level the urban extensions should have delivered around 2000 new homes over the 

emerging plan period to date (i.e. 2011 to 2018).   The reality is that as at March 2018 they had delivered just 

321 new homes - a mere 16% of what was expected.   

 

5.3 However, we believe the cause for the under delivery of the Councils housing targets originates with the 

allocation of the town as a Growth Point in 2006.   One of the objectives34 of the Grantham Growth Point 

Programme was to achieve sustainable population growth by delivering a step change in the level of new 

housing development in the town, primarily through the development of four key sites - the town centre, the 

Canal Quarter, the North West Quadrant and the Southern Quadrant.  This objective was reflected in the 

Core Strategy, which focused more than half of the annual District Housing requirement in the town, which 

were focussed within the two urban extensions.    

 

5.4 In order to achieve the growth ambitions it was accepted that there would need to be a step change in the 

annual completion rates for the town of more than 300 dwellings.  To drive this step change in housing 

delivery the Growth Point Programme proposed to develop an additional 4,800 jobs over the Growth Point 

period, with growth driven primarily by the increase in knowledge based industries and higher skilled and 

higher paid jobs for local residents.  

 

5.5 To our knowledge the economic stimulus (i.e. the additional 4,800 jibs) that would have supported the step 

change in housing delivery has not happened meaning the growth aspirations for Grantham, and the 

associated development trajectories, are unachievable.   

 

5.6 Without going back to first principles and re-assessing whether Grantham is still capable of delivering the 

original growth ambitions (in the absence of the economic stimulus)which the emerging local plan is still 

predicated on35, it seems inevitable that the Council will continually fail to delivery its housing targets.  We 

appreciate this is a contentious statement, especially given the stage in  the Local Plan preparation with the 

Examination taking place at the time this report is being written.   

 

5.7 If the Council is unwilling to reassess the growth potential due to the risks this may pose to the Local Plan 

process then Council will need to focus its economic development actions on Grantham in an attempt to 

create the additional jobs that will deliver the economic stimulus to drive a faster rate of house building. 

 

 

                                                      
34 Objective 2 
35 Demonstrated by the fact that the local plan is seeking to allocated more than half of the of the Districts housing supply in Grantham 

139



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

Date: May 2019 Page: 28 

6. Action Plan  
 

6.1 Reflecting on the housing delivery analysis and barriers to delivery we have identified the actions set out 

below, which are aimed at increasing delivery across the District but more importantly within the urban 

expansion sites in Grantham.  

 

6.2 The actions focus on the range of interventions open to the Council, recognising that a wide range of 

partners will need to be involved in helping to achieve the plans objectives.  Successful delivery of this plan 

will involve working with landowners, developers, registered providers, Homes England and other 

development bodies as well as infrastructure  providers to ensure that more new housing is delivered within 

the urban expansion sites at an accelerated pace of delivery.  

 

 The Council should establish a focused ‘growth delivery board’ within the Council which will bring 

together key internal stakeholders and help to embed the corporate importance of housing delivery 

across the Council as a whole.  

 The Council should take a more pragmatic and positive view with respect to applications on windfall 

sites both within Grantham and the wider District. 

 The Council should ensure it focuses its economic development actions on Grantham in an attempt to 

stimulate a faster rate of housebuilding.   

 Support Councillors to develop a cross - party agreement on the importance of delivering new homes. 

 Disaggregate the urban expansion sites - particularly Poplar Farm and Spitalgate Heath Garden village 

to enable SME developers to deliver at pace.  This may require the Council or Homes England 

purchasing land from Buckminster.  

 Establish a self-build and custom build register to record interest of those looking to build their own home 

in South Kesteven and utilise this as a positive tool in development management decision making.  

Targeting a different segment of demand could help boost rates of development if there is a clear 

market for this product.  

 Keep an ongoing dialogue with Buckminster to understand what progress is being made on the 

progression of the S106 Agreement and the discharge of the planning conditions at Spitalgate Heath 

Garden Village.  The Council can use this information to help identify potential solutions to any issues as 

they arise as well as to keep the housing land supply position under review.  

 Working with Buckminster and other landowners prepare a housing site prospectus for Poplar Farm, 

Spitalgate Heath Garden Village and other housing sites to accompany the Local Plan.  These would  

set  out details of the scheme, status and highlight opportunities for developers and registered providers; 

 Work with landowners / developers through forums and promotion events to help engage with and steer 

the market (i.e. connecting land owners with developers and attracting new players intro the market).   

 Working with Homes England the Council should seek to secure funding from the Affordable Homes 

Programme to increase the supply of new affordable housing in the urban extensions.  Housing sites with 

a larger proportion of affordable homes deliver more housing quickly but currently viability constraints 

are limiting the level of affordable housing across both of the urban extensions.   

 Introduce Planning Performance Agreements to direct and tailor resources for determining all aspects of 

the planning process from pre -application stage to the discharging of conditions.   This is equally 

applicable to other large / strategic sites in other areas of the District. 

140



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 29 

 Set up a specific project /Steering group for Spitalgate Heath Garden Village and the former Prince of 

Wales Gloucester Barracks given its close proximity, comprising representatives from the County and 

District Council, landowners and utility providers etc.  The purpose of this group will be to activity drive for 

and address the key challenges/ barriers in the delivery of these schemes. 

 Appoint or identify a ‘Housing Delivery Officer’ to provide extra resource whose primary role will be to 

work with the various parties / organisations involved in the delivery of the urban extensions to monitor 

progress and where possible assist in accelerating the delivery of housing.  This could be a district wide 

role rather than just focused on the urban extensions in Grantham.  

 The Council should continue to explore opportunities for joint working with organisations such as Homes 

England to identify funds that can be used to improve the viability and de risk the deliverability of the 

urban extensions not only within Grantham but across the District.  

 The Council, working with Buckminster, should take an active role in de-risking the future housing 

trajectory at Poplar Farm by taking over negotiations with Network Rail and providing upfront funding for 

the Pennie Way Link which can then be recovered as the remainder of the scheme is developed out.  

 The Council should take a pragmatic view on development viability within the urban extensions in view 

of their importance in achieving the Local Plan development trajectories36.   This will include exploring 

alternative ways of delivering affordable housing such as seeking support from Homes England as 

described previously.  

 Monitor and bid for infrastructure funding as and when opportunities arise. 

 Continue to maintain a strong housing related evidence base and set future goals for housing delivery in 

the full knowledge of what decisions are required to achieve them, and then consistently action these. 

 Ensure realistic development trajectories are provided for the urban extensions and the former Prince of 

Wales Gloucester Barracks.  This is fundamental if the Council are to reverse the Housing test Delivery 

Measurement.  We understand that for the Local Plan examination the Council are assuming the 

following in terms of the trajectories for the three main strategic sites in Grantham: 

 

o Spitalgate Heath 225 dwellings in 5 years. As outlined previously the outline permission for 

Spitalgate Heath Garden Village (approved in February 2011 is subject to a number of draft 

conditions which include the need to agree a S106 Agreement and  prepare  phase wide or phase 

specific strategies, briefs and design codes - such as residential design codes, which will be used to 

guide the subsequent  Reserved Matters submissions.  We anticipate that it will take a period of 12 / 

18 months to prepare these documents and thereafter a further period of say 6/8 months to secure 

the approval of the first Reserved Matters submission.   Upon receiving the first Reserved Matters 

approval we envisage it will take a period of circa 6months until the completion of the first 

dwelling.   On this basis it could take between 2 and 2.5 years (24 to 32 months) for the first dwelling 

to be completed at Spitalgate Heath Garden Village.  In addition the delivery of Spitalgate 

Garden Village is dependent on the construction of the Grantham South Relief Road (GSRR). The 

first phase of the relief road was completed in 2015 and the second phase is due to commence in 

June 2019 and should last 18 months.  Phase 3 is planned to commence in December 2019 and 

should last 3 years with an estimated completion date of December 2023). In advance of the relief 

                                                      
36 We note that the Council has agreed to a main modification to the Local Plan through the examination hearing to take account 
of viability issues in Grantham.  This will amend Policy H2 to introduce a 20% affordable housing requirement within the ‘urban area’ 
of Grantham and to retain 30% requirement elsewhere in the District.  It will also amend text of Policy H2 as per the Councils 
statement regarding the particular challenges of previously developed land, and extend this to the Grantham urban extension 
allocations, so that these will be subject to individual viability studies to determine levels of affordable housing.  

141



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 30 

road a total of 125 dwellings can be delivered of the existing highway network.  Within this context 

it seems sensible to show no housing being delivered on Spitalgate until 2022/23.  This would 

equate to a delivery rate of circa 75 dwellings per annum over the remaining three years.  

o Rectory Farm 175 in 5 years. Assuming permission is granted this year. That would equate to 35 

dwellings per annum, which seems reasonable. However, the applicants are challenging the 

affordable housing policy on viability ground so there is no guarantee that the permission will be 

granted this year. Hopefully members take a more pragmatic view than they did on Spitalgate but 

this is another scheme which may become stuck in the quagmire of viability. We would assume 

delivery over years 2 to 5, which would equate to circa 45 dwellings per annum but the current 

application will need to be closely monitored to ensure the trajectory is deliverable. 

o Whilst we note that the PWoG is not included in 5 year supply we note that the Council has agreed 

a Statement of Common Ground with the MoD assuming that 1775 will be built by 2036. Assuming 

a start on site in 2020 this would mean 1,775 units are delivered over 16 years (circa 111 per 

annum). These trajectories seem overly optimistic and it is assumed that development can’t 

commence on this site until completion of the GSSR which is not due to happen until 2023. It must 

also be acknowledged that PWoG could be in direct competition with Spitalgate (as the sites are 

directly adjacent to one another)  for a period of time which might slow down the pace of delivery 

/ sales than would otherwise be the case if they were each coming forward in their own right.  

 

6.3 The Council could also take an active role in the delivery of the urban extensions, more so Spitalgate Heath 

Garden Village in view of the fact that eastern half of the North West quadrant is progressing (albeit as 

outlined above there is potentially a role for the Council in de-risking the future delivery by taking an active 

role in the delivery of the Pennine Way link) and the majority of western half of the urban expansion is owned 

by two house builders.   

 

6.4 The Council could have different roles in the delivery of the Garden Village.  It may choose to engage with 

delivery of the garden village through its statutory planning function, relying on the private sector to deliver 

development. Alternatively, it may decide to invest in infrastructure or other aspects of the development; or 

decide to acquire land and enter some form of partnership with the landowners (Buckminster).   

 

6.5 The Council is currently developing a business case with a view to creating a delivery partnership with the 

housing sector and the support of Homes England that will focus on the delivery of Council, affordable and 

market housing, across the District.  It is intended that the delivery vehicle will both deliver new housing itself 

and act as a stimulus to provide sector led development in key sites across South Kesteven and will utilise 

HRA borrowing, other Council funding sources alongside leveraging grant and private sector investment to 

support delivery at scale.  It is intended to establish the vehicle in the first half of 2020/21, with the ambition of 

delivering in the region of 300 homes per annum.  

 

6.6 Finally we are aware that the Councils Housing Strategy 2017 - 2021 sets out a number of actions to help 

address some of the housing challenges face in the District.   The actions identified within this report should 

continue to be taken forward and where feasible aligned with the actions in this report to maximise the 

impacts.  

 

142



Client: South Kesteven District Council Report Title: Housing Delivery Test - Action Plan 

 

Date: May 2019  Page: 31 

6.7 The success of this Action Plan will ultimately be evaluated through the impacts that occur with housing 

delivery.  The monitor and report on delivery and consider actions to address under performance.  A full 

review of the Action plan will occur annually to consider additional actions or necessary amendments. 

 

 

143



 

Avison Young 
City Point, 29 King Street, Leeds LS1 2HL 
Avison Young is the trading name of GVA Grimley Limited 

© 2019 GVA Grimley Limited 
 

Contact Details 
Enquiries 
Dale Robinson 
0113 280 8074 
Email dale.robinson@avisonyoung.com 

Visit us online 
avisonyoung.co.uk 

144



Cabinet 
9 July 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Outturn Position Report 2018/19

This report provides the Cabinet with the detail of the Council’s outturn position for the financial 
year 2018/19. The report covers the following areas:

• General Fund Revenue Budget (Section 4)
• Housing Revenue Account Budget (Section 5)
• Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA (Section 6)

Report Author

Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

 01476 406208

 Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Gill Goddard – Senior Financial Accountant 20 June 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources 21 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 26 June 2019 

Recommendations to the decision maker 

The Cabinet is asked to: 
1. Review the Revenue and Capital Outturn report and associated appendices for 

2018/19.
2. Note the budget carry forwards shown at paragraph 4.5 and reserve movements 

shown at section 7 in the report.
3. Note the Capital slippages from the 2018/19 Capital Programme as detailed in the 

report and appendix C & E.

145

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


4. Note the change to the Regeneration reserve policy to include financing any 
feasibility work costs in respect of property acquisition and development.

5. Approve the introduction of the Crowd Funding initiative for the District of South 
Kesteven and note the formation of a specific reserve of £100k to fund the initiative 
for a 1 year pilot period.

146



1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Council’s Revenue and Capital 

Outturn 2018/19 of both the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.  
It covers:

 Revenue outturn 2018/19
 Capital outturn 2018/19
 Commentary on the revenue and capital outturn
 Commentary and review of reserves and a reserves statement

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview 
and Scrutiny

2.1 During the year regular budget monitoring and management reports have 
been presented at the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
members have considered and debated the variances during this period.  This 
outturn report is the culmination of the in-year reports.  The outturn report was 
presented to Governance and Audit Committee on 21 June 2019.  The 
Committee considered the report and approved:

- the Revenue and Capital Outturn report and associated appendices for 
2018/19.

- the budget carry forwards shown at paragraph 4.5 and reserve 
movements shown at section 7 in the report.

- the Capital slippages from the 2018/19 Capital Programme as detailed in 
the report and appendix C & E.

- the change to the Regeneration reserve policy to include financing any 
feasibility work costs up to £150k in each financial year in respect of 
property acquisition and development.

- the creation of a specific reserve of £100k to fund the crowd funding 
initiative from the year end working balance.  This will be subject to the 
approval of the scheme by the Cabinet.

3 General Fund Revenue Budget
3.1 The 2018/19 original general revenue budget approved by Council on 1 March 

2018 was set at £17.161m. Subsequent approved amendments to the budget 
framework have been included and these are summarised below. These 
changes increased the 2018/19 budget to £19.502m. For the purposes of the 
outturn variance analysis, the budget carry forwards have been removed from 
this which reduces the budget for comparative purposes to £18.798m.

147



3.2

Table 1

Date of Approval Revenue Budget amendment £’000
June 2018 2017/18 Budget Carry forward and set asides 694
July 2018 Environment SK 40
September 2018 Deliver SK 100
November 2018 One off costs arising from the Senior 

Management Restructure*
866

June 2018 Stamford Arts Centre Bequest 33

January 2019 Allocation of Business Rates Income 459
February 2019 Intelligent Automation project 150

*This is the one-off cost incurred following the implementation of the new senior management 
arrangements.  The full year saving of the new structure will be £300k for the General Fund 
and the payback period is 2 years and 10 months. 

3.3 This report provides details of the Council’s outturn position for the financial 
year 2018/19. In order to comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards a number of technical accounting entries are required to be made 
which can create significant variances.  The report attempts to ensure that, 
through explanation and presentation, the final account figures can be 
reconciled back to the original budget set by Council.

3.4 General Fund Revenue Account 2018/19 details can be found at table 2 and 
the variance narrative is provided at section 4.4 and at Appendix A.

3.5 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) details can be found at table 7 and the 
variance narrative is provided at section 5.3 and at Appendix B.

3.6 General Fund Capital Programme has an outturn of £16.05m compared with 
an updated budget of £25.478m.  Details of the full programme and additional 
slippage are contained within paragraph 6.3 of the report and at Appendix C 
and Appendix D.

3.7 The Housing Investment Programme (HIP) shows an outturn position and 
updated slippage of £4.949m compared to a revised budget of £10.004m. 
Details of the full programme and additional slippage are contained within 
section 6.8 of the report and at Appendix E and Appendix F. 

3.8 Commentary and review of reserves and a reserves statement at Appendix G 
and H.

4 GENERAL FUND (REVENUE) VARIANCE ANALYSIS
4.1 The forecast outturn position as at Quarter 3 was reported to Growth Overview 

and Scrutiny on 13 February 2019.  At this time, the forecast variance on the 
total cost of provision of service was £688k. The outturn position is £686k and 
is shown at line 12 in table 2 below.  The details of significant variances are 

148



provided below in section 4.4.  It is important to note that Council approved on 
31 January 2019 the use of the business rates gain (arising from the 100% pilot 
scheme) to fund towards the balancing of the 2018/19 financial year.  

4.2 The Directorate headings showing budget and outturn are detailed in Table 2 
below:

Table 2

Directorate

2018/19 
Original 
Budget 
£’000

2018/19 
Revised 

Budget (less 
Budget carry 

forwards)  
£’000

2018/19 
Draft 

Outturn 
£’000

2018/19 
Variance to 

revised 
budget 
£’000

1 Commercial 
and Operational

6,296 6,398 6,554 156

2 Growth 6,544 6,810 6,878 68

3 Resources 4,321 5,590 5,324 (266)

4 Removal of 
Accounting 
Adjustments

1,346 1,346

5 Net Cost of 
Services Total

17,161 18,798 20,102 1,304

6 Interest and 
Investment 
Income & 
Interest Payable

(198) (198) (327) (129)

7 Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision

247 247 154 (93)

8 Depreciation (3,400) (3,400) (4,099) (699)

9 Local Council 
Tax Support 
Grant

22 22 22 0

10 Reserves (2,206) (3,524) (3,237) 287

11 Grants (151) (276) (260) 16

12 Total Cost of 
Provision of 
Service

11,475 11,669 12,355 686

13 Business Rates (4,400) (4,400) (4,423) (23)

149



Directorate

2018/19 
Original 
Budget 
£’000

2018/19 
Revised 

Budget (less 
Budget carry 

forwards)  
£’000

2018/19 
Draft 

Outturn 
£’000

2018/19 
Variance to 

revised 
budget 
£’000

14 Business Rates 
Growth and s31 
grants

(250) (517) (2,430) (1,913)

15 Collection Fund 
(Surplus)/Deficit

321 321 321 0

16 Transfer to 
Regeneration 
Reserve

713 713

17 Transfer to 
Reserves

610 610

18 Council Tax (7,146) (7,146) (7,146) 0

19 Working 
balance transfer

73 0 (73)

20 Total funding (11,475) (11,669) (12,355) (686)

21 Total Variance 
(to)/from 
reserves

0 0 0 0

Notes for table 2:
 Line 4 – removal of accounting entries specifically IAS19 (employee 

pension), Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under Statute 
(REFCUS), asset revaluations and capital grants received. These are 
detailed in the table below

Table 3

Removal of Accounting Adjustments £’000
IAS 19 (employee pension) (1,086)
REFCUS 577
Asset revaluations (352)
Capital Grants 2,207
Total 1,346

 
 Line 5 – this line shows the net overall expenditure at cost centre level
 Line 6 - Additional interest income has been earned through investment of 

increased cash balances and interest rate changes.

150



 Line 8 - this is a non-cash item to reflect the financing costs of holding assets 
 Lines 16-17 – These adjustments were in accordance with Council approval 

on 31 January 2019.

Earmarked Reserves
4.3 The table below details the projected movements to specific reserves as part 

of the outturn analysis.  These movements are in respect of grants and 
contributions that are required to fund specific expenditure items in the 
2019/20 financial year.

Table 4

Reserve/Grant Heading Contribution 
to Reserve

£’000
Specific Grants:
Flexible Homelessness Support 
Grant
Individual Electoral Registration 
New Burdens Grant
MHCLG EU Exit Preparation
Rogue Landlord funding
MHCLG Controlling Migration
MHCLG transparency code new 
burdens
Urban Gym-Grantham Rotary
Welfare Reform
 

178

5
30
17
22
31

8
20

100

Total 411

Summary of Significant Variances

4.4 In order to understand outturn at service level which is shown in Table 2 
(lines 1 – 3) the following commentary provides a summary of the significant 
variances by Directorate. 

151



Table 5

Variances > £20k by Directorate
Variance 

£’000
One Off or 
Recurring 

Commercial and Operational
Fuel – The average national increase in fuel prices has been 
above the 5% level that was budgeted for.  Additional provision 
has been factored in for future years. The overspend is funded 
from earmarked reserves as shown in Appendix A.

80 Additional 
resources 
allocated 
2019/20

Vehicle Repairs - An increase in the number of external repairs 
due to the capacity of the workshop and specialist nature of the 
works required.  During 2019/20 a review of the workshop will be 
undertaken to determine the future resource implications

59 Additional 
resources 
allocated 
2019/20

Flood Prevention - Allocated funding to undertake additional 
projects during 2018/19 was no longer required since the 
programme of works has been finalised.

(48) One Off

Private Sector Housing – There are a number of income and 
expenditure items under this service heading that fall within the 
category of REFCUS (revenue expenditure funded from capital 
under statute).  These items specifically relate to discretionary 
facilities grants and housing assistance grants, these have been 
removed at line 4 at table 2.

(615) One Off

Private Sector Housing – Specific costs incurred under this 
heading related to capitalisation of salaries

(61) One Off

Environmental Services - A reduction in the use of contractors 
has resulted in a saving against the budget.   

(30) One Off

Big Clean - The second permanent Big Clean crew were not 
recruited until June which has resulted in an underspend.  
However, all of the outcomes were delivered during the financial 
year therefore this represents an efficiency saving

(40) One Off

Street Scene – Additional income has been received for 
amenities collection service which was not anticipated.

(36) Recurring

Green Waste Collection –Additional income has been received, 
with 28,074 households renewing their subscription for 2018/19 
and 914 new households joining the service throughout the year. 

(48) This 
increase 

has been 
built in 

2019/20
Accident repairs costs have been incurred during the year, these 
costs will be funded from the insurance reserve as shown in 
Appendix A.

28 One Off

Waste and Recycling – There is an overspend on wages due to 
staff absence with posts needing to be covered to meet health 
and safety requirements and an overspend on pensions due to 
auto-enrolment, the pension costs of these posts have been 
budgeted in 2019/20 

53 One Off

Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the 
Directorate, these have been removed at line 4 at table 2.

897 One Off

Total 239

152



Variances > £20k by Directorate
Variance 

£’000
One Off or 
Recurring 

Growth

Income from Commercial Properties – New opportunities are 
being actively pursued, however no further investment purchases 
have been made during the year therefore the income budget 
has not been met.

93 The budget 
has been 

decreased 
in 2019/20

Cinema Development - The updated timeline of this scheme has 
resulted in the rental income from the retail units not being 
achieved. 

30 The budget 
has been 

decreased 
in 2019/20

Planning and Pre-planning fees – this income has increased due 
to an increase in the number of planning applications received 
during the year

(99) One Off

Planning Policy – the district’s local plan inspection was during 
May 2019 which resulted in an underspend which is offset by a 
reduced reserve movement

(79) One Off

Arts Centres – The budgeted level of income from room hire was 
not achieved in 2018/19 due to a lower level of bookings than 
anticipated.  

31 One Off

Christmas Lights – Additional investment in Grantham town 
centre lights.  This will be funded from the Special Expense Area 
meaning that this is funded from the precept collected for the 
special expense area of Grantham.

35 One Off

Council Offices - Loss of rental income due to a tenant not 
renewing their lease.

43 The budget 
has been 

decreased 
in 2019/20

Council Offices - In year changes to lease arrangement at The 
Maltings has resulted in a saving against the budget.

(26) The budget 
has been 

decreased 
in 2019/20

Car Parks - A change in enforcement hours has resulted in a 
reduction in expenditure

(26) One Off

Car Parks - The budgeted increase in car parking income is 
currently not being achieved.  There has been a review of car 
parks that has resulted in some additional capacity being created 
during the year although there has been no material increase in 
income. The income budget in 2019/20 has been reduced.

283 The budget 
has been 

decreased 
in 2019/20

Leisure Centres - Additional in year equipment and repairs costs 
at Deepings, Stamford and Grantham has resulted in an over 
spend

40 One Off

Utilities – Additional pricing increases during the winter months 
has increased costs for electricity in 2018/19

33 Recurring – 
potentially 

a budget 
pressure 

for 2019/20

153



Variances > £20k by Directorate
Variance 

£’000
One Off or 
Recurring 

Homelessness - There has been a significant rise in demand for 
emergency accommodation resulting in an over spend. Further 
review work is currently being undertaken to mitigate future 
costs.

55 One Off

Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the 
Directorate These have been removed at line 4 at table 2.

626 One Off

Accounting entries for asset revaluations are included within the 
Directorate. These have been removed at line 4 at table 2.

362 One Off

Accounting entries for capital grants received in 2018/19 are 
included within the Directorate, these have been removed at line 
4 at table 1.

(2,207) One Off

Shop Front Schemes - There are a number of income and 
expenditure items under this service heading that fall within the 
category of REFCUS (revenue expenditure funded from capital 
under statute).  These have been removed at line 4 at table 2.

38 One Off

Depreciation – Accounting entries for additional depreciation is 
included within the Directorate. This has been removed at line 8.

756 One Off

Total 138
Resources
Income generation from shared service opportunities – a number 
of planning policy officers are seconded to Rutland CC; additional 
opportunities to share have been discounted resulting in the 
income target not being met.

113 One Off

Procurement – new initiatives have been implemented but due to 
the timelines involved there has been a delay in the achievement 
of these savings and these are now expected to be realised in 
2019/20

180 One Off

Service reviews – the review programme will be completed in 
2019/20

50 One Off

Business Rates – Reassessment costs have been incurred 
during 2018/19 which will be offset by future additional NDR 
income

46 One Off

Corporate consultancy – these savings were not achieved during 
2018/19.

30 One Off

Agency – the level of vacancies in key posts throughout the year 
has meant that the saving will not be delivered.

75 One Off

‘White space’ initiative – this initiative has not been implemented 
due to alternative options being reviewed which has resulted in 
the budget savings

(70) One Off

Utilities –base budgets had already been reduced in line with 
costs prior to this bid being submitted therefore these savings are 
not deliverable

50 One Off

Removal of vacant posts – savings from the removal of vacant 
posts are reflected in service budgets.

45 One Off

154



Variances > £20k by Directorate
Variance 

£’000
One Off or 
Recurring 

Corporate overtime and call out payments – the saving built into 
the budget has not been achieved due to the overtime and call 
out requirements of frontline service areas

63 One Off

Subscriptions – a target £50k budget reduction was set for 
2018/19, £25k has been achieved to date but subscriptions will 
continue to be reviewed as they come due for renewal.

25 One Off

Administration subsidy grant in respect of benefits administration 
and council tax administration - an additional grant allocation has 
been received this year

(111) One Off

Grants have been received in 2018/19 for Universal Credit 
support and resource management. This was not budgeted 
income.

(142) One Off

The Council has entered into a collaborative partnership across 
Lincolnshire to undertake a study into options for sustainable 
housing led growth.

15 One Off

Staffing budgets - In year forecast savings of vacant posts which 
have been offset by an increase in agency and recruitment costs

57 One Off

System Costs – There have been additional costs incurred in 
respect of the upgrading of the HR and Payroll system.  This 
upgrade will deliver longer term licence cost savings

79 One Off

ICT – Corporate licence fee which was not budgeted for during 
2018/19

65 One Off

Audit - Changes to planned audit days has resulted in a forecast 
saving. 

(32) The budget 
has been 

decreased 
in 2019/20

HRA Recharges – Increase in recharge base following 
realignment of costs

(274) Recurring

Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the 
Directorate These have been removed at line 4 

(437) One Off

Total (173)
Non-directorate variances
Interest and Investment income – additional income has been 
received as investment balances are higher than originally 
anticipated. 

(77) One Off

Interest payable and Minimum Revenue Provision – no additional 
external borrowing has been undertaken during the financial year

(145) One Off

Accounting Entries totalling £1.346m are within the directorates 
and removed at line 4 as they are non-cash items

1,346 One Off

Additional depreciation totalling £699k is within the directorates 
and removed at line 8 as this is a non-cash item

(699) One Off

Reduction in the use of reserves and grants in 2018/19 303 One Off

155



4.5 CARRY FORWARDS
The following table details the budget carry forwards into 2019/20 to fund the 
following specific projects:

Table 6

PROJECT BUDGET CARRY 
FORWARD

£’000
Funding of Community Cleaning initiatives – 
budget underspend from 2018/19

25

Continued Food Waste trial costs – carry 
forward from 2017/18

45

Funding of Economic Development initiatives 
– business rates additional income

60

Funding of the District local plan – funded 
from specific reserve

91

Funding for Council priority Deliver SK – 
funded from local priorities reserve

59

Funding for roof repairs at Broad Street 
Stamford property – additional business rates 
income

25

Funding of remedial works identified in closed 
burial grounds – additional business rates 
income

23

Funding of remedial asbestos works identified 
– additional business rates income

50

Funding of a feasibility study for Red Lion 
Square – additional business rates income

12

Funding for Public Realm project – funded 
from Local Priorities Reserve

47

Funding for Transformation project – funded 
from Invest to Save reserve

150

Funding for One SK – funded from Local 
Priorities Reserve 

59

Funding for ICT server infrastructure 
feasibility – funded from Local Priorities 
Reserve

58

Total 704

156



5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) VARIANCE ANALYSIS

5.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a 'ring fenced' account and relates 
to the Council's Landlord functions. Revenue raised by rents and service 
charges must be sufficient to match expenditure. A summary table is provided 
below and in detail at Appendix B.

5.2 The original budget for 2018/19 was set at a surplus for the year of £6.668m 
against an actual surplus of £4.301m. The surplus is transferred to the 
reserves in order to provide additional internal funding for the HRA capital 
programme.

Table 7

Housing Revenue Account
2018/19 
Original 
Budget 
£’000

2018/19
Adjusted 
Budget 
£’000

 2018/19 
Draft 

Outturn 
£’000

2018/19 
Variance 

(Adjusted) 
£’000

Income
Expenditure

(25,439)
16,183

(25,439)
16,345

(25,254)
19,296

185
2,951

Net Cost of Service (9,256) (9,094) (5,958) 3,136

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,816 2,816 2,793 (23)
Interest and Investment Income (228) (228) (384) (156)
Other accounting adjustments (752) (752)
DEFICIT (SURPLUS) FOR THE 
YEAR ON THE HRA (6,668) (6,506) (4,301) 2,205

5.3 As documented at Appendix B the reduced surplus for 2018/19 is impacted 
by a number of both positive and negative variances.  The most significant 
variances are as follows:

 The income expected from housing rents is £253k below budget due to 
write-offs of £115k and the void rate being higher than expected. There is 
also loss of rents through a high volume of right to buy sales. This is partly 
offset by additional income of £45k from services and facilities charges.
There is a total overspend of £949k on the repairs and maintenance. This 
includes a pension cost of £517k, however this is reversed out of the HRA 
through the statement of movement.  Support recharges were £188k more 
than expected and increases in material costs (£113k), reactive works 
(£345k) and the workforce efficiency (£94k) not being achieved due to 
vacancies being lower than anticipated, also contributed.  These were 
offset by increased income from rechargeable works (£97k) and planned 
maintenance underspend of £153k. 

157



 The workforce efficiency of (£41k) has also not been achieved on the 
Supervision and Management budget due to vacant posts being lower than 
anticipated. In addition to this, legal costs have increased by £39k due to 
more complex repossession cases. Support recharges were £363k more 
than expected and a pension cost of £226k is included, however this is 
reversed out of the HRA through the statement of movement.

 The HRA share of corporate and democratic costs has not increased as 
expected so is under spent by £116k. Recharges from the General Fund 
have increased overall as additional services have been provided by 
Transformation, Communications, Customer Services, and new IT 
systems have been implemented across the Council.  

 Capital costs of £1.469m have occurred, this is a combination of £2.549m 
revaluation gains and £4.018m expenditure on non-enhancing capital 
(expenditure incurred through the HRA capital programme, in respect of 
activities to maintain the decent homes standard within the housing stock).

6 Capital Programmes

6.1 The original capital budget for 2018/19 was set at £14.839m.  The budget is 
revised during the year as new projects are identified.  The updated position 
of £25.478m is shown in the ‘Adjusted Budget’ column in table 10 below.  A 
summary of the budget changes that have been approved during the year 
are as follows:

Table 8

Approval Date Capital Budget Adjustment £’000
June 2018 Budget carry forwards 528
July 2018 Grounds Maintenance Vehicles 450
July 2018 St Peter’s Hill Public Realm 1,661
Sept 2018 Property Acquisition 8,000

6.2 The general fund capital outturn position for 2018/19 is summarised in table 
10 below.  The capital budget has an underspend of £9.428m which has 
reduced the requirement to use reserves to £4.655m for the financial year. 

6.3 The following additional carry forward amounts (further to the amounts 
previously approved by Council) have been identified for inclusion into the 
2019/20 General Fund capital programme and the Committee are requested 
to approve these:

158



Table 9

Scheme Budget Carry 
Forward £’000

St Peter’s Hill Development 1,736
Public Realm 1,015
Gravitas Housing Scheme 280
Tourism Signage 50
Vehicle Electric Charging Points 39
Equilogic Server Based Storage 20
Power Supply Replacement 15
Pool Vehicles 12
Total 3,167

6.4 A detailed general fund capital monitoring statement is attached at Appendix 
D which provides details of the progress of the schemes. The full details of 
the financing of the programme is attached at Appendix D.

Table 10

 
General Fund Capital 
Programme

2018/19 
Origina

l 
Budget 

£000

2018/19 
Adjuste

d 
Budget 

£000

2018/19 
Draft 

Outturn 
£000

2018/19 
Variance 
(Adjusted

) £000

EXPENDITURE SUMMARY     
Commercial and Operations 835 1,585 1,330 (255)
Growth 13,879 23,726 14,567 (9,159)
Resources 125 167 153 (14)
 14,839 25,478 16,050 (9,428)

Financing Analysis     
Prudential Borrowing (2,000) (10,000) (8,052) 1,948
Use of Reserves (10,917) (13,513) (4,655) 8,858
Capital Receipts (788) (788) (1,180) (392)
Capital Grants and Contributions (1,134) (1,177) (2,163) (986)

 (14,839) (25,478)
(16,050

)
9,428

NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0

6.5 As documented in Appendix D there are a number of both positive and 
negative variances which form the £9.428m underspend.  The most significant 
variances are as follows:  

 The balance of the commercial investments acquisition budget has not 
been spent during this financial year resulting in an underspend of £3.9m

159



 There is a £1.680m underspend on the Wherrys Lane Bourne housing 
project.  The project commenced in October 2018 which is a 12-month 
programme. £1.4m of underspend has been incorporated into 2019/20 
budget, with the balance of £280k proposed to be carried forward.

 Works on the cinema have progressed during the year, with the building 
shell being completed.  Fit-out will continue into 2019/20 requiring the 
remaining budget of £1.736m to be carried forward

 Initial works have commenced on the Public Realm project, but completion 
is forecast to be June 2019, resulting in an £1.015m carry forward of this 
budget into next year.

 The Council has received £797k of disabled facilities grant funding which 
is underspent by £479k.  Mandatory DFGs require a referral from 
Lincolnshire County Council Occupational Therapy Team.  

6.6 The following table summarises the HRA capital outturn position as at 31 
March 2019.  The capital budget was set at £10.004m and currently has an 
underspend of £4.949m which has reduced the in-year transfer from reserves.  

6.7 This underspend mainly relates to the property development budget spend 
which is dependent upon sites being identified for investment.  £4.130m 
budget and associated funding has been slipped into 2019/20 for this.

6.8 The following additional carry forward amounts (further to the amounts 
previously approved by Council) have been identified for inclusion into the 
2019/20 Housing Revenue Account capital programme and the Committee is 
requested to approve these:

 Repairs Vehicles £90k

6.9 A detailed HRA capital monitoring statement is attached at Appendix E 
which provides details of the 2018/19 Outturn position of the schemes.  The 
full details of the financing of the programme is attached at Appendix F.

Table 11

 
HRA Capital Programme

2018/19
Original 
Budget 

£000

2018/189
Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

2018/19 
Draft 

Outturn 
£000

2018/19 
Variance 

(Adjusted) 
£000

HRA Investment Programme     
Stock Improvements & New Build Programme 9,680 9,680 4,765 (4,915)
Purchase of Vehicles 324 324 184 (140)
 10,004 10,004 4,949 (5,055)
Financing Analysis     
Major Repairs Reserve (4,214) (4,214) (4,202) 12
Property Development Reserve (5,000) (5,000) (277) 4,723
HRA Capital Receipts (790) (790) (470) 320
 (10,004) (10,004) (4,949) 5,055
NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0

160



7 COMMENTARY ON BALANCES AND RESERVES 
7.1 An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of 

the usage and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial 
statements reflect the proposed use of these and specific details of the 
significant balances and reserves are set out below and detailed at Appendix 
G & H.

The overall General Fund reserves position is a variance of £7.432m when 
compared with the forecast position which was presented to Council in March 
2019.  This is largely due to timing differences with the delivery of the General 
Fund capital programme which has been referenced at table 7 above.

  Discretionary Reserves £13.694m (lines 1-16)

7.2 These reserves have been established to financially support the delivery of 
the Council’s Corporate Strategy including both revenue and capital projects.  
In response to the Corporate Plan there is an ambition to focus funding 
towards initiatives that accelerate economic growth, e.g. visitor economy, 
tourism, heritage etc. 

7.3 The Local Priorities Reserve (line 10) has received New Homes Bonus of 
£2.086m and allocations have been utilised as follows: 

- £631k has funded revenue costs 
- £1.416m has been utilised as capital financing 
- £500k transferred to the Regeneration reserve
- £780k transferred to the St Peter’s Hill Reserve to complete the Cinema 

project. 

This leaves a closing balance £9.680m.

7.4 ICT Investment Reserve (line 6) In accordance with the decision made by 
Council on 31 January 2019 this reserve has been increased to £320k. This 
reserve will be utilised in the short to medium term to finance strategic ICT 
infrastructure improvements.

7.5 Invest to Save Reserve (line 11) In accordance with the decision made by 
Council on 31 January 2019 this reserve has been increased to £1.00m. The 
primary purpose of the reserve is to ‘pump prime’ initiatives for projects that 
clearly demonstrate within a business case that cashable savings could be 
realised following a one-off injection of investment. 

7.6 Housing Delivery Reserve (line 12) This reserve has been increased to £912k 
following the outturn of the remaining unspent grant received in respect of 
disabled facilities improvements. Proposals to utilise this reserve are currently 
being developed.

7.7 Property Maintenance Reserve (line 14) This reserve has been established 
with a balance of £110k. The primary purpose of this reserve is to provide in-

161



year funding to support unforeseen expenditure that may arise in respect of 
the Council’s asset portfolio that would have a detrimental impact on the asset 
if not treated. 

7.8 Regeneration Reserve £1.213m (line 15) In order to provide the available 
financing for the acquisition of key strategic assets, this reserve has been 
established with a balance of £1.213m. The Council will use a combination of 
both internal and external borrowing as required which will incur an MRP 
(minimum revenue provision) cost and possible interest costs (where external 
borrowing is undertaken). For 2019/20 £718k of this reserve has been 
committed to contribute towards the following costs associated with the 
strategic property acquisition in Stamford. These consist of £418k of 
operational costs and £300k of interest related to the borrowing costs. 

Governance and Audit Committee approved that the use of this reserve is 
expanded to finance any feasibility costs that will arise as potential 
development opportunities are explored.  This expenditure will be closely 
monitored and limited to £150k in each financial year.

7.9 Crowd Funding Reserve £100k - at the Rural and Communities OSC on 13 
June 2019, members considered a report with respect to a crowdfunding 
initiative. The Committee recommended that a pilot scheme be introduced 
across the District and asked the Governance and Audit Committee to set a 
side £100k from year end balances to fund the pilot scheme.  This was 
approved by the Governance and Audit Committee on 21 June 2019.  The 
proposal would enable the Council to provide financial support to community 
projects utilising an online platform called Spacehive where community 
initiatives are advertised and promoted.  The site is also backed by a number 
of national enterprises who provide additional funding to support community 
initiatives.  The approach gives the Council the opportunity to fund initiatives 
that meet the Council’s requirements.  The Spacehive solution requires an 
annual subscription fee of £30k with the balance of the reserve being utilised to 
fund any projects the Council wishes to directly financially support. The initial 
subscription provides for both the online presence as well as kick-off meetings, 
project creator workshops, the verification of ideas and go-live support for 
projects. Spacehive also provide some on the ground training to those who are 
likely to be seeking funding to help them to make their applications as attractive 
as possible.  As this reserve is to be set up in the current financial year it is not 
shown in the reserves appendix information which shows reserves as at 31 
March 2019.

  Governance Reserves £3.541m (lines 17-23)

7.10 These reserves are maintained to mitigate risk, satisfy statutory and grant 
awarding bodies requirements and support prudent financial management 

7.11 The Insurance Reserve (£308k line 17) provides cover to meet unforeseen 
costs relating to insurance claims over and above the provisions made in year 

162



as part of managing the ‘in house risk’ with an increased self-insured strategy. 
During the year £28K has been used to fund claims and insurance premium.

7.12 The Council holds two Pension Reserves (£1.432m lines 18, 19). The current 
employees reserve provides for potential capital costs of any future early 
retirements and also helps to protect the Council from large changes in 
Council Tax resulting from unanticipated rises in the employer's contribution 
rate following future triennial valuations.  The level of the reserve is being 
maintained in order to fund the pension payment reducing the Council 
contribution rate from 21.1% to 16.5%.  This decision has had a positive 
impact on the revenue budgets for the same period.

7.13 Business Rates and Volatility Reserve £1.507m (line 20) To ensure there is 
minimum financial disruption to the funding of the General Fund in respect of 
Business Rates income, the Council has established a reserve to smooth out 
fluctuations in year to year funding.  In accordance with the approved budget 
framework for 2018/19 £397k has been utilised to offset the business rate 
deficit that was brought forward from the previous year.  

7.14 Special Expense Area reserves £214k (line 23) The Grantham SEA has been 
utilised by £85k to fund the Wyndham Park improvements.  This reserve has 
been replenished by £39k leaving a balance of £214k.  This is broken down 
as:

 Bourne SEA £17k

 Grantham SEA £107k

 Langtoft SEA £3k

 Stamford SEA £87k
General Fund working balance £2.835m (line 26)

7.15 The purpose of this working balance is to ensure there is sufficient financial 
resource available in order to meet unforeseen events during the course of 
the financial year.  
The proposed minimum balance is set at a level that reflects the financial risk 
the Council is currently exposed to. In previous years the target has been £1m, 
but a higher actual balance is being maintained and it is proposed to retain the 
working balance at a minimum of £2.5m due to the anticipated financial 
volatility over the medium term including the uncertainty of future funding from 
Government.

General Fund Capital Reserves £6.339m (line 33)

7.16 LAMS reserve £18k (line 29) - The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
is no longer in operation for all authorities; however the Council continues to 
receive investment interest that is derived from the investment that was placed 
to support the scheme.  The remaining balance of £18k will be retained until 
the final mortgage maturity of August 2020.  At the end of the investment 

163



period the balance will be reviewed in relation to the outstanding guarantee 
commitment and excess funds returned to balances. 

7.17 St Peter’s Hill Development £1.959m (line 30) - This reserve is utilised to fund 
the Cinema project and the adjoining public realm project.  During the year, 
£1.673m has been allocated to the reserve and £2.321m has been used to 
fund the 2018/19 expenditure.  The remaining balance will be fully utilised to 
fund the final stages of the project.

7.18 General Fund - Capital Reserve - £1.775m (line 31) - The General Fund capital 
reserve is used to assist with the funding of the capital programme.  During 
the year £732K was used to fund the acquisition of vehicles replacement 
programme but the reserve was credited with the maturity income arising from 
the LAMS investment. 

7.19 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve £2.587m (line 32) - This reserve is one of 
the sources of funding the General Fund capital programme. During the year 
the Council has received £866k from vehicle sales.  The remaining 
expenditure of the capital programme has been financed from this reserve in 
lieu of borrowing.   

HRA Reserves £38.719m Line 12

7.20 HRA working balance £2.007m (line 5) - This balance serves the same 
purpose as the General Fund working balance in that it is established to 
respond to unforeseen financial events that occur during the financial year.  

7.21 Capital Receipts Reserve (HRA) £6.659m (line 7) - The Council has 
established a capital receipts reserve where the ‘Right to Buy’ sale receipts 
are allocated. During the year £470k has been used to contribute towards the 
new build programme and receipts of £3.798m have been received from HRA 
sales including 64 housing stock. This reserve will continue to be utilised to 
contribute to the provision of affordable housing and the provision of additional 
Council housing stock.

7.22 Loan Repayment Reserve (HRA) £1.350m (line 8) – In accordance with 
Council approval on 31 March 2018 £15.00m has been allocated from this 
reserve to the Property Development Reserve (line 10) to fund the property 
development programme. As at 31 March 2019 £277k has been utilised. 

7.23 Major Repairs Reserve (HRA) £12.658m (line 9) - This reserve has been 
credited with £6.532m to fund its capital expenditure and been charged 
£4.202m to fund capital items for the 2018/19 programme. This will continue 
to be the primary financing for the HRA Capital Programme.

8.0 LOOKING AHEAD
8.1 The financial climate continues to be challenging but the Council has robust 

plans to deliver the ambitions set out in the Corporate Strategy and lead the 
Council to financial autonomy.  Members will be aware that the innovation and 

164



commercial agenda carries a level of risk which is inevitable when introducing 
a transformation ambition.  Therefore, it is important that members have timely 
and accurate financial information which will provide forecasts and variance 
narrative to assist members to undertake the appropriate scrutiny and 
guidance during the remainder of the financial year.

8.2 The level of reserves in order to provide financial resilience and support to 
deliver the Council’s ambitions are reviewed regularly in order to ensure the 
Council is protected from financial volatility in the medium term. The Medium 
Term Financial Plan reviewed annually will include reserves as part of the 
financial planning framework. The full details of reserves are shown in 
Appendices G & H.

9 Reasons for the Recommendations(s)
9.1 Cabinet is asked to review the financial outturn for 2018/19 and make any 

specific observations or recommendations that can be incorporated into the 
medium term financial plan.

10 Financial Implications 
10.1 These are included in the report

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - 
Resources

11 Legal and Governance Implications 
Governance and Audit Committee considered and approved the outturn 
report at their meeting on 21 June 2019 in accordance with the terms of 
reference of the Committee.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Head of Legal

12 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
12.1 Not applicable

13 Risk and Mitigation
13.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks 

have been identified.

14 Community Safety Implications 
14.1 Not applicable

15 Other Implications (where significant) 
15.1 Not applicable

16 Background Papers
16.1 Determination of Budget 2018/19 and indicative budgets to 20/21 – General 

Fund, Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes 

165



Report 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget
%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf

Outturn Position 2017/18 report 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20657/CFM459%20outt
urn%20v6%20new%20template.pdf

Financial Management Report for 2018/19 – April – June (Quarter 1) 
Monitoring Information Report 
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%2
0201819%2025th-Jul-
2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committe
e.pdf?T=9

Quarter 2 Financial Monitoring Report 2018/19

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monit
oring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf

Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring Report 2018/19

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22244/Quarter%203%2
0Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%202018-19.pdf

17 Appendices
17.1 Appendix A – General Fund Summary – Outturn 2018/19

Appendix B – HRA – Outturn 2018/19

Appendix C –General Fund Capital Programme Outturn 2018/19

Appendix D – General Fund Capital Programme Financing

Appendix E – HRA Capital Programme -Outturn 2018/19

Appendix F – HRA Capital Financing

Appendix G – General Fund Reserves

Appendix H – HRA Reserves

Date of Publication on Forward Plan 
(if required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

13 February 2019

Report 
Timeline: 

Decision date  21 June 2019

166

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20657/CFM459%20outturn%20v6%20new%20template.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20657/CFM459%20outturn%20v6%20new%20template.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf


167



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY OF GENERAL FUND ESTIMATES

2018/19 Outturn

Appendix A

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19
Original Adjusted Adjusted Budget Carry Forward Adjusted Draft Outturn

Budget Budget Forward Budget Outturn Variance

A B C B-C E

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Directorate

1 Commercial and Operations 6,296 6,468 (70) 6,398 6,554 156

2 Growth 6,544 7,177 (367) 6,810 6,878 68

3 Resources 4,321 5,857 (267) 5,590 5,324 (266)

4 Removal of Accounting Adjustments 1,346 1,346

5 Net Cost of Service 17,161 19,502 (704) 18,798 20,102 1,304

6 Interest and investment Income (250) (250) (250) (327) (77)

7 Interest Payable 52 52 52 0 (52)

8 Minimum Revenue Provision 247 247 247 154 (93)

9 Depreciation (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (4,099) (699)

10 Local Council Tax Support Scheme Grant 22 22 22 22 0 

13,832 16,173 (704) 15,469 15,852 383 

Income from Reserves & Grants

11 Events & Festivals (160) (160) (160) (116) 44

12 Football  3G 0 0 25 25

13 Apprenticeships (65) (65) (65) (36) 29

14 Economic Development & Growth (120) (120) 79 (41) (41) 0

15 Community Fund (150) (150) (150) (72) 78

16 Ward Member Fund (56) (56) (56) (56) 0

17 Big Clean (200) (200) (200) (171) 29

18 Invest to Save (332) (481) 150 (331) (202) 129

19 Pension Reserve (797) (797) (797) (802) (5)

20 Building Control Trading Account 22 22 22 37 15

21 Special Expense Areas 49 49 49 39 (10)

22 Local Priorities Reserve  0 (664) 165 (499) (460) 39

23 Service Improvement Reserve  0 (866) (866) (844) 22

24 Waste & Recycling Initiatives 0 0 0 (80) (80)

25 Stamford Art Centre Bequest 0 (33) (33) (33) 0

26 Insurance Reserve 0 0 0 (28) (28)

27 Transfer from NNDR volatility reserve (397) (397) (397) (397) 0

28 Grants (151) (321) 45 (276) (260) 16

(2,357) (4,239) 439 (3,800) (3,497) 303

29 Total Net Cost of Service 11,475 11,934 (265) 11,669 12,355 686 

30 Business Rates (4,400) (4,400) (4,400) (4,423) (23)

31 Business Rates Pilot Gain (250) (709) 192 (517) (2,430) (1,913)

32 Collection Fund Deficit 321 321 321 321 0

33 Transfer to Regeneration Reserve 0 0 0 713 713

34 Transfer to Reserve 0 0 0 0 500 500

35 Transfer to Property Maintenance Reserve 0 0 110 110

36 Council Tax (7,146) (7,146) (7,146) (7,146) 0

37 Working balance transfer 73 73 0 (73)

38 Total Funding (11,475) (11,934) 265 (11,669) (12,355) (686)

39 Total Variance (to)/from reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 

169



Housing Revenue Account Summary Appendix B

Budget 

£'000

Adjusted 

Budget 

£'000

Draft 

Outturn 

£'000

Outturn 

Variance 

£'000

INCOME

Dwelling Rents (24,439) (24,439) (24,186) 253

Non Dwelling Rents (311) (311) (330) (19)

Charges for Services and Facilities (622) (622) (667) (45)

Other Income (67) (67) (71) (4)

TOTAL INCOME (25,439) (25,439) (25,254) 185

EXPENDITURE

Repairs and Maintenance 7,907 7,913 8,862 949

Supervision and Management - General 2,783 2,866 3,553 687

Supervision and Management - Special 1,097 1,203 1,242 39

HRA share of Corporate and Democratic Costs 460 460 344 (116)

Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets 3,431 3,431 3,504 73

Revaluation Losses (Gains) 0 0 (2,583) (2,583)

Non- Enhancing Capital Expenditure 0 0 4,018 4,018

Debt Management Expenses 35 35 39 4

Provision for bad debts 245 245 269 24

Other Expenditure (Pension Deficit) 225 225 0 (225)

Centralised Budgets 0 0 0 0

HRA Business Managers/Assistant Directors 0 (33) 0 33

HRA Internal Insurance 0 0 14 14

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 16,183 16,345 19,262 2,917

NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (9,256) (9,094) (5,992) 3,102

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,816 2,816 2,793 (23)

Interest and Investment Income (228) (228) (384) (156)

Return on Pension Assets * 207 207

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets * (1,728) (1,728)

Capital receipts pooling * 803 803

DEFICIT (SURPLUS) FOR THE YEAR ON THE HRA (6,668) (6,506) (4,301) 2,205

MOVEMENT ON THE HRA BALANCE

(Deficit)/Surplus for the Year 6,668 6,506 4,301 (2,205)

Other Reserve Movements 225 225 125 (100)

Repayment Of Principal (3,222) (3,222) (3,222) 0

Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve (Depn less MRA) (3,101) (3,101) (2,890) 211

Net charges made on Retirement Benefits (IAS19) 1,062 1,062

Employer's contribution to Pension Fund (348) (348)

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets (1,728) (1,728)

Capital receipts pooling 803 803

Non-Enhancing Capital Expenditure Financed from MRR 4,018 4,018
Revaluation (Gains)/Losses (2,583) (2,583)
Other Adjustments 1 1

Variance - reduction in transfer to reserve 570 408 (461) (869)

*Accounting adjustment reversed out on the HRA balance

Outturn

2018/19

170



General Fund Capital Programme

2018/19 Outturn

Appendix C

Scheme Description

Original 

Budget 

£'000

Adjusted 

Budget 

£'000

Draft 

Outturn 

£'000

Variance 

(Adjusted

) £'000

Variance Explanations

Proposed 

Additional 

Slippage
COMMERCIAL

Wheelie Bin Replacements 175 175 55 (120) There is a saving of £120k due to reduced requirements.

Pool Vehicles 247 247 235 (12) An under spend (12K) has occurred due to delay in the 

delivery of some of the new vehicles.

12

Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 311 401 360 (41) Underspend due to procurement savings on purchase of 

sweeper.

Vehicle Electric Charging Points 0 39 0 (39) Procurement will take place in 19/20 to ensure the council 

achieves value for money

39

Vehicle Replacement Programme 102 163 153 (10)

EnvironmentSK Vehicle Purchase 0 560 527 (33) Cost of vehicles was less than budgeted.

835 1,585 1,330 (255) 51

Purchase of South Kesteven trailer 55 55 49 (6)

Property Acquisition 0 8,000 8,053 53

Shop Front Scheme 130 130 76 (54) Underspend due to project delays caused by weather and 

procurement issues.

St Peter's Hill Development 5,500 5,400 3,664 (1,736) Project completion expected in July 2019.  £1.55M 

underspend to be proposed additional slippage.

1,736

Property Investment Strategy 3,900 3,900 0 (3,900) Underspend has been incorporated into budget for 2019/20

Local Authority Controlled Company 2,550 2,800 1,120 (1,680) 12mth build programme, started in October.  £1.4m of 

underspend has been incorporated into 2019/20 budget, with 

the balance of £280k to be proposed additional slippage.

280

Public Realm 0 1,661 646 (1,015) Project completion expected in July 2019.  £69k underspend 

to be proposed additional slippage.

1,015

Disabled Facilities Grant 797 797 318 (479) Demand was dependant on referrals from LCC Occ 

Therapists

Empty Homes Financial Assistance 50 50 0 (50) No applications received.

Essential Home Grant Assistance 75 75 7 (68) Cases under this budget now fall under DFG

Car Park Ticket Machines 150 150 92 (58) Scheme Completed.  Costs were less than expected.

Car Park Barriers 50 50 0 (50) Project not started during the year.  Has been included in 

2019/20 budget

Deepings Leisure Centre - Boilers 70 70 0 (70) It was decided not to progress with scheme.

Meres Leisure Centre - PA System 35 35 35 0

Market Stall Covers 50 50 20 (30) Covers provided for Grantham.  Stamford & Bourne Covers 

will be replaced next year.

Tourism Signage 50 50 0 (50) Details of signs had not been finalised.  Budget of £50k will 

be proposed additional slippage.

50

Wyndham Park Lighting 25 25 31 6

Grantham Arts Centre - Theatre Lighting 35 35 36 1

Wyndham Park Improvements 357 393 410 17 Overspend due to delays and asbestos work. Contingency 

element of the HLF grant will fund 87% of additional cost.

CCTV Springfield Road 0 0 10 10 Funded through S106

13,879 23,726 14,567 (9,159) 3,081

RESOURCES

Financial System Upgrade 50 50 141 91 Additional support required, increased licensing costs and 

addition of DB capture module.

Equillogic Server Based Storage 20 20 0 (20) Delay in project, budget will be proposed additional slippage. 20

Uninterruptible Power Supply Replacement 15 15 0 (15) Delay in project, budget will be proposed additional slippage. 15

ICT Infrastructure - Sandbox Firewall 40 82 12 (70) In depth review of cyber risks delayed works, forecast 

underspend of £65k has been incorporated into 2019/20 

programme.

125 167 153 (14) 35

TOTAL 14,839 25,478 16,050 (9,428) 3,167

GROWTH

171



General Fund Capital Programme

Financing Statement 2018/19

Appendix  D

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

Description Original Adjusted Draft

Budget Budget Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund

Commercial and Operations 835               1,585           1,331         

Growth 13,879          23,726         14,566       

Resources 125               167              153            

TOTAL - General Fund 14,839          25,478         16,050       

GENERAL FUND FINANCED BY:

Supported Borrowing -                    -                   -                 

Unsupported Borrowing 2,000 10,000 8,052

Specific Reserve - Capital 716               777              732

Specific Reserve - St Peters Hill 5,200            5,200           2,321

Usable Capital Receipts 788               788              1,180

Capital Grants and Contributions

     - Disabled Facility Grant 797               797              325            

     - LLEP Funding -                    -                   1,443         

     - Historic England 65                 65                38              

     - Herirtage Lottery Funding 272               315              357            

Direct Revenue Financing

     - Wyndham - SEA 70                 63                85

     - S106 Monies -                    -                   10              

     - Shop Front Scheme 65                 65                38

     - ICT Reserve 76                 118              53

     - Local Priorities Reserve 4,750            7,250           1,416

     - Contribution from Revenue 40                 40                -                 

TOTAL - GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME 14,839          25,478         16,050       

172



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2018/19 Outturn
Appendix E

Scheme Description
Original 

Budget £'000

Adjusted 

Budget 

£'000

Draft Outturn 

£'000

Variance 

(Adjusted) 

£'000

Proposed 

Additional 

Slippage

£'000

Heating And Ventilation 1,350 1,350 1,257 (93) Progress was affected by contractors resource issues.

Repairs Vehicles 324 324 184 (140) Delivery of 2 tippers was delayed.  Proposed additional slippage of 90k 90

Kitchens & Bathrooms Programmes 1,000 1,000 1,022 22

Re-Roofing 1,100 1,132 1,125 (7)

Electrical Rewires 250 250 160 (90) Works delayed due to need to remove asbestos materials

Replacement Door Programme 80 80 84 4

External Wall Insulation 0 0 0 0

New Build Properties 790 758 232 (526)
During the year pre-build works have commenced on 7 schemes.  Cost of 

completion of these has been incorporated into the 2019/20 budget.

Property Development 5,000 5,000 779 (4,221)

Purchases in the year have been made on 2 houses and a site on  Swinegate and 

conversions have been carried out on 4 properties.  Negotiations have begun on 5 

other sites. £4.130M has already been slipped into the 2019/20 budget.

Communal Rooms 70 70 88 18 Some works completed related to capital bid on revenue.

Central Heating Repairs 0 0 3 3

Sewage Refurbishment 40 40 15 (25) Works were delayed in starting, these have been incorporated in 2019/20 proposals.

TOTAL 10,004 10,004 4,949 (5,055) 90

173



HRA Capital Programme 

Financing Statement 2018/19

Appendix F

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

Description Original Adjusted Draft

Budget Budget Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000

Captial Programme

   Stock Improvements & New Builds 9,680 9,680 4,765

   Purchase of Vehicles 324 324 184

10,004 10,004 4,949

HRA FINANCED BY:

Major Repair Reserve 4,214 4,214 4,202

Property Development Reserve 5,000 5,000 277

Capital Receipts 790 7,490 470

TOTAL - HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME 10,004 16,704 4,949

174



Reserves Statement - General Fund

2018/19  Outturn
Appendix G

GENERAL FUND RESERVES STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Balance Transfer Transfer Actual Balance 

as at to Reserve from Reserve as at 

31 March 2018 in year in year 31 March 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund

Discretionary Reserves

1 Stamford Arts Centre 33 (33) 0

2 Training and Development 15 15

3 Events and Festivals 233 (116) 117

4 Apprenticeships 36 (36) 0

5 Waste and Recycling initatives 156 (80) 76

6 ICT investment 173 147 320

7 Economic Development & Growth 169 (41) 128

8 Service Improvement Reserve 1,065 (1,065) 0

9 Community Fund 150 (72) 78

10 Local Priorities Reserve 10,921 2,086 (3,327) 9,680

11 Invest to Save 802 198 1,000

12 Housing Delivery 347 565 912

13 Ward Members 56 (56) 0

14 Property Maintenance 110 110

15 Regeneration 1,213 1,213

16 Food Waste 170 (125) 45

14,326 4,319 (4,951) 13,694

Governance Reserves

17 Insurance Reserve 336 (28) 308

18 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 466 (45) 421

19                                - Current EmployeesPensions Reserve - Current Employees 1,768 (757) 1,011

20 Business Rates Volatility 1,729 175 (397) 1,507

21 Building Control (7) 37 30

22 Football 3G Pitch 25 25 50

23 Special Expense Area Reserve 259 (45) 214

4,576 237 (1,272) 3,541

24 Total General Revenue Reserves 18,902 4,556 (6,223) 17,235

Homelessness 21 178                    199

Parks 89                      89

GLEP 357                    357

New Burdens Grant 111 11                      122

Neighbourhood Planning Grant 74 1                        75

Garden Towns & Villages 90 90

Custom Build 30 30

Planning Delivery 90 (14) 76

DHP top  up 7 7

Individual Electoral Registration 118 5                        123

LGA Commercial 6 6

Garden Village 385 (117) 268

Historic England 56 56

Grantham Growth 69 69

Welfare Reform 100 100

25 Government Grants Received 1,057 741 (131) 1,667

26 Working Balance 2,835 2,835

27 Total Revenue Reserves 22,794 5,297 (6,354) 21,737

28 Capital Reserve

29 LAMS Reserve 304 (286) 18

30 St Peters Hill Development 2,607 1,673 (2,321) 1,959

31 General Fund Capital Reserve 1171 1,336 (732) 1,775

32 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 3,794 866 (2,073) 2,587

33 Total Capital Reserves 7,876 3,875 (5,412) 6,339

34 Total General Fund Reserves 30,670 9,172 (11,766) 28,076

175



Reserves Statements - HRA

2018/19 Outturn

Appendix H

HRA RESERVES STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Balance Transfer Transfer Balance 

as at to Reserve from Reserve as at 

31 March 2018 in year in year 31 March 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

Revenue Reserves

1     Insurance Reserve 200 200

2     Service Specific Funds: 686 (250) 436

3     HRA Improvement Reserve 561 95 656

4     Residents Involvement Reserve 30 30

5     Working Balance 2,489 (482) 2,007

6 Total HRA Revenue Reserves 3,936 125 (732) 3,329

HRA Capital Reserve

7     HRA Capital Receipts Reserve 3,331 3,798 (470) 6,659

8     Loan Repayment Reserve 16,350 (15,000) 1,350

9     Major Repairs Reserve 10,328 6,532 (4,202) 12,658

10     Property Development Reserve 15,000 (277) 14,723

11 Total HRA Capital Reserves 30,009 25,330 (19,949) 35,390

12 Total HRA Reserves 33,945 25,455 (20,681) 38,719

176



Cabinet
9 July 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees
This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by Council or the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 11 June 2019, as set out in Appendix 
1.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 24 June 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 24 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 25 June 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the 
matters referred to in Appendix 1.

177

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
Council

1.1 No matters have been referred to Cabinet by Council since Cabinet’s last meeting on 11 
June 2019.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees
1.2 The Council operates Executive decision-making arrangements as set out in the Local 

Government Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least one scrutiny committee 
in place. The Council currently has four Overview and Scrutiny committees. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees meet regularly and may hold additional meetings as necessary 
to discuss items within their remit.

1.3 Any recommendations made, or an overview of the topics discussed, by the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last meeting of the Cabinet are contained in 
Appendix 1. 

1.4 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee meets after the publication of the Cabinet 
agenda, any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will be provided in an 
addendum to the Cabinet meeting if the matter relates to an item of the Cabinet’s agenda, 
or a synopsis provided with the agenda for the next Cabinet meeting.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 Where an item has been considered as part of pre-decision scrutiny, the 

recommendations of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will either be captured 
within the Cabinet report, or, where the time does not permit, as part of a verbal update 
made during the Cabinet meeting.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters that have been raised by 

other Members at meetings of the Council and Committees that operate within the 
Executive function of the Council. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising from this report.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report an no specific high risks were identified in 

its production.

178



8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

9 Background Papers
9.1 There are no background papers to this report.

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Matters referred from Council (Part A) and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees (Part B)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 11 June 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not required

179



This page is intentionally left blank



MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL AND 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

PART A: MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL

There are no matters referred by the Council to the Cabinet on this occasion.

PART B: MATTERS REFERRED FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES

CULTURE AND VISITOR ECONOMY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 4 June 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Judy Stevens

Markets

Considerations:

 South Kesteven District Council’s Market Strategy, which covered the four main 
towns in the district

 The launch of a new market in Market Deeping on 20 April 2019
 Markets offered a way of attracting people into town centres
 Markets were subsidised by the Council
 Opportunities to hold specialised markets and link them with special events

Outcomes

 It was suggested a mix of footfall and social media could be used to gauge the 
impact of markets on retailers and the local economy

 To incorporate the need to link the Market Strategy with visitor economy, town 
centres and the emerging cultural strategy within the committee’s work 
programme

Recommendations:

 None

Deepings Literary Festival

Considerations:

181

Appendix 1



 The second Deepings Literary Festival ran between 23 and 26 May 2019
 Ticket sales exceeded 1,200 with twenty authors attending across 12 venues
 There would be a de-brief on 20 June 2019 
 Ensuring a seasonal programme of activity to continue the legacy of the festival 

throughout the year
 The delivery of the festival had been achieved through the support of the local 

community and local businesses
 Discussion about how the festival could be replicated and developed to take 

literature throughout the district
 Ways in which capacity could be built to support other communities delivering 

similar activities

Recommendations:

 None

ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 17 June 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations

Considerations:

 The report of the Cabinet Member, Commercial and Operation on recent 
consultations relating to the Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy for 
England

 A response was sent from South Kesteven District Council on 3 May 2019
 Work had been done with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership to produce a 

response to the consultation
 Presentations made to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

during the previous term of office
 The proposal that by 2023 legislation would provide for everyone to have access 

to at least a separate weekly collection of food waste
 Further consultation was planned for September 2019

Outcomes

 A copy of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership response to be circulated to 
members of the Committee

Recommendations:

 None

Link to relevant papers:

182



 Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operational on Resources 
and Waste Strategy Consultations:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23021/ENV717.pdf 

 Appendix 1:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23022/Appendix%201.pdf 

 Appendix 2 – consistency:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23031/Appendix%202%20
-%20LWP%201%20Defra%20-%20Consistency%20-
%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v4%20-%20FINAL.pdf 

 Appendix 2 – deposit return scheme:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23032/Appendix%202%20
-%20LWP%202%20Defra%20-%20Deposit%20Return%20Scheme%20-
%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf 

 Appendix 2 – producer responsibility:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23033/Appendix%202%20
-%20LWP%203%20Defra%20-%20Producer%20Responsibility%20-
%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf 

 Appendix 2 – plastic tax: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23034/Appendix%202%20
-%20LWP%204%20HM%20Treasury%20-%20Plastic%20Tax%20-
%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf 

Food Waste Trial

Considerations:

 An update on the pilot food waste trial, which was given by the Cabinet Member, 
Commercial and Operational

 The take up of the scheme was between 80-85%, which was consistent across 
urban and rural areas

 The government’s view to make food waste a collectable item from every county 
from 2023

 The scheme had seen a reduction in contamination of the waste streams and 
grey bin contamination

 The cost from the collection of food waste needed to be balanced against the 
benefits it brought

Outcomes



Recommendations:

 None

Approach to climate change

Considerations:

 A presentation that was made to the committee

183

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23021/ENV717.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23022/Appendix%201.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23031/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%201%20Defra%20-%20Consistency%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v4%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23031/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%201%20Defra%20-%20Consistency%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v4%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23031/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%201%20Defra%20-%20Consistency%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v4%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23032/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%202%20Defra%20-%20Deposit%20Return%20Scheme%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23032/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%202%20Defra%20-%20Deposit%20Return%20Scheme%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23032/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%202%20Defra%20-%20Deposit%20Return%20Scheme%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23033/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%203%20Defra%20-%20Producer%20Responsibility%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23033/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%203%20Defra%20-%20Producer%20Responsibility%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23033/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%203%20Defra%20-%20Producer%20Responsibility%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23034/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%204%20HM%20Treasury%20-%20Plastic%20Tax%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23034/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%204%20HM%20Treasury%20-%20Plastic%20Tax%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23034/Appendix%202%20-%20LWP%204%20HM%20Treasury%20-%20Plastic%20Tax%20-%20LWP%20RESPONSE%20v3%20-%20FINAL.pdf


 The need for action about climate change continued to rise up the Government’s 
agenda

 Lessons learned from work undertaken by other local authorities
 Technology could drive innovation to provide carbon savings if utilised correctly

Outcomes

 To hold a series of workshops to gather evidence and explore what direction the 
committee wished to take

Recommendations:

 None

FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE SERVICES OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meetings: 4 June 2019 and 14 June 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Graham Jeal

Proposed development at Stamford North – Statement of Common Ground

Considerations:

 The Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning and the draft Statement of 
Common Ground for proposed development of land at Stamford North

 The Duty to Cooperate established by the Localism Act 2011
 The requirement to co-operate on major cross-boundary development schemes 

set out in the National Planning Policy Framework
 The development of the neighbourhood plan for Stamford
 A development brief would be produced for the site which would be subject to 

public consultation and adopted by all of the relevant councils
 Applications for planning permission for the site would be dealt with by the 

relevant council’s planning committee as normal
 The requirement to submit an infrastructure delivery plan as part of the Local Plan 

process
 The housing allocation for the whole site would contribute to meeting South 

Kesteven District Council’s housing need
 If it was determined that the full allocation should not go to meet the housing need 

for SKDC then sufficient other land had been allocated within the draft Local Plan 
to prevent the need to find additional sites

 Proposals relating to governance arrangements and risk management
 The consultants who had prepared the draft Statement of Common Ground had 

first written a report that identified national good practice in the preparation of 
such documents

 Communications would be co-ordinated to ensure consistency but managed by 
each individual council

184



 The Statement of Common Ground would need to be adopted all three 
constituent councils: South Kesteven District Council, Rutland County Council 
and Lincolnshire County Council

 A full traffic assessment was required 

Outcomes

 Appendix C of the draft Statement of Common Ground to be circulated to 
Members of the Committee and the Cabinet when available 

 The background paper identifying good practice in the preparation of Statements 
of Common Ground to be shared with Cabinet Members

Recommendations:

 To recommend the adoption by Cabinet of the Statement of Common Ground for 
the Land at Stamford North subject to the inclusion of Appendix C to the 
document and provision of the background report on best practice to support 
Cabinet Members in reaching their decision

Link to relevant papers:

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning on the Draft Statement of Common 
Ground in respect of a proposed development at Stamford North:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22956/Stamford%20North.
pdf 

 Appendix to the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning – Draft Statement of 
Common Ground: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22957/Draft%20Land%20
North%20of%20Stamford%20MoC%20with%20comments%20addressed%200
50918%20v4.pdf 

[Item considered by Cabinet on 11 June 2019]

Call-in – Cabinet Member Decision – utilisation of the Invest to Save Reserve

Considerations:

 The reasons submitted by those Members who called in the decision
 Report CFM490 of the Assistant Director, Resources on the utilisation of the 

Invest to Save Reserve for three projects and the Decision Notice
 The commitment to undertake service reviews which was made during the 

2019/20 budget-setting process
 Potential savings that could be achieved by aligning resources in the Financial 

Services Team and identification of opportunities to raise income by providing 
services for other organisations 

 If the call-in was upheld, another funding source would need to be identified for 
the Financial Services review

 The rationale behind the creation of an Invest to Save Reserve
 The work of Digital Catapult facilitating opportunities for innovation in the public 

sector

185

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22956/Stamford%20North.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22956/Stamford%20North.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22957/Draft%20Land%20North%20of%20Stamford%20MoC%20with%20comments%20addressed%20050918%20v4.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22957/Draft%20Land%20North%20of%20Stamford%20MoC%20with%20comments%20addressed%20050918%20v4.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22957/Draft%20Land%20North%20of%20Stamford%20MoC%20with%20comments%20addressed%20050918%20v4.pdf


 Savings to be achieved through the replacement of conventional streetlights with 
energy efficient LED 

 Benefits of data collected through the testing of prototype intelligent streetlights
 Ownership of intellectual property rights should a product the Council helped 

develop be marketed
 Data collected by prototype intelligent streetlights would provide evidence to 

indicate whether the technology could be scaled up
 The three-month deployment to test any solution could begin within 7 months
 Publitas LLP had been rolled into Incandore Ltd, which traded as Publitas 

Consulting
 References taken prior to the appointment of Publitas to carry out the audit of 

advertising income
 The Council had paid £10,000 for completion of the audit of sponsorship 

opportunities; there was no contractual obligation to engage the services of 
Publitas beyond this

 Prior to the appointment of a company, due diligence was carried out to ensure 
that they had adequate professional indemnity and liability insurance

 The Council could set out a Code of Practice establishing the parameters of any 
advertising activity

 Appropriate consultation with town and parish council would be undertaken 
where needed

Outcomes:

 Applications for funding from the Invest to Save Reserve should include as much 
information as possible, with commercially sensitive information supplied on pink 
papers where necessary

 Operational processes around tendering to be added to the Committee’ work 
programme

Recommendations:

 To not uphold the call-in for those parts of the decision relating to the Financial 
Services Review and the ‘internet of things’ meaning they were both effective 
immediately

 Subject to no adverse feedback form the chairman or vice-chairman on the 
sponsorship and advertising initiative, the Committee did not uphold the call-in. 
Should the Chairman or Vice-Chairman raise any concerns, they should be 
reported at the Committee’s next meeting on 16 July 2019 so that the Committee 
can re-consider its conclusion

Link to relevant papers:

 Report CFM490 of the Assistant Director, Resources: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22979/CFM490NKDinvest
%20to%20save.pdf 

 Decision notice for the utilization of the Invest to Save Reserve:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22980/AS%20CFM490%2
012.04.19.pdf 

186

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22979/CFM490NKDinvest%20to%20save.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22979/CFM490NKDinvest%20to%20save.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22980/AS%20CFM490%2012.04.19.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22980/AS%20CFM490%2012.04.19.pdf


RURAL AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 13 June 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Ray Wootten 

Crowdfunding

Considerations:

 Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council on crowdfunding

Outcomes

 To add the Community Fund to the committee’s work programme

Recommendations:

 That the Governance and Audit Committee makes an allocation of £30,000 from 
year end balances to fund the Spacehive platform and that a further allocation of 
£70,000 is made from year end balance to contribute towards community interest 
ventures through the Spacehive platform.

Link to relevant papers:

 Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council on crowd funding 
 Arrangements for the South Kesteven Community Fund which provides grants 

for community initiatives and events and the opportunity to extend its reach 
through the introduction of crowd funding

 The successful use of crowdfunding by other Councils including Leicester City 
Council, Swansea City Council and Sefton Metropolitan Council

 The incorporation of Spacehive in 2011 to provide crowdfunding services to 
community ventures

 An annual subscription fee to Spacehive of £30,000
 Council’s utilizing the approach had typically seen an impact within two years, 

with the first projects often completing within 6 to 9 months of the launch
 The contract would be a three-year rolling contract but it was proposed to run the 

scheme as a 1-year pilot as it was the first time that it had been attempted in a 
rural area

187



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
9 July 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members
Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 24 June 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 24 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 25 June 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting was held on 11 June 2019.

189

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Under the strong Leader model of governance, the Leader can allocate decision-making 

power to the Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. Decisions of the Cabinet will be 
made during Cabinet meetings while individual Cabinet Members may make decisions at 
any time in accordance with the relevant Regulations.

1.2 All of the decisions made by individual Cabinet Members since the Cabinet last met are 
attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the decision was based, 
and the decision notice are attached.

1.3 Since the Cabinet met on 11 June 2019, the following decisions have been made:

 Framework Agreement for adaptations under disabled facilities grants
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 12 June 2019
Date decision effective: 21 June 2019 (call-in expired)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 1

 Consultation and proposed new lease of the former Arnoldfield Bowls Club, Grantham
Non-key decision taken by the Deputy Leader of the Council on 27 June 2019
Date decision effective: 8 July 2019 (subject to call-in)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 2

1.4 Any decisions made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next 
meeting of the Cabinet.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The report that is presented to the decision-maker includes information on consultation 

and feedback received in respect of the matters to which the decisions listed in this report 
relate.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered. 

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 The financial implications are set out within each decision.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the Leader are set 

out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Strong Leader and Cabinet model to carry out 
executive functions was adopted by the Council in accordance with the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been made. Each individual report 

on which a decision is based will consider any equality or safeguarding implications. 

7 Risk and Mitigation

190



7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report an no high risks were identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

9 Background Papers
9.1 None; relevant background papers are referred to in the report for each decision. 

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Framework Agreement for adaptations under disabled facilities grants

10.2 Appendix 2: Consultation and proposed new lease of the former Arnoldfield Bowls Club, 
Grantham

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 11 June 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

191



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing 

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV716

DATE:

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Framework Agreement for Adaptations under Disabled 
Facilities Grants

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Housing

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Minor

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek approval to utilise the County Wide Framework Agreement for 
contractors to deliver home adaptations funded by disabled facilities grants.

193

Appendix 1

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Housing approve the use of the 
Countywide Framework Agreement (up to a maximum of 4 years) to appoint 
Contractors to undertake home adaptations funded by disabled facilities grants 
in accordance with that Framework.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 As part of the streamlining of the disabled facilities grant process a county wide 
Framework to create a list of pre-qualified Contractors and a standardised 
schedule of rates has been established.  This negates the need to go out to 
quotation and reduces timescales for the completion of works, resulting in a 
quicker more efficient service for Clients.  It also ensures that all Contractors, 
regardless of where they work in the county are pre-qualified to the same 
standards and work for the same rates of pay. 

3.2 Prior to the establishment of the Framework, works have been priced based on 
a schedule of rates (last fully reviewed in 2012), but with no formalised 
arrangement with Contractors the tender process resulted in delays and 
reduced interest from Contractors who have struggled to deliver the 
requirements against these rates. As part of the new Framework, the Schedule 
of Rates has been reviewed and updated to reflect current market prices and 
will be fixed for the 4 year Framework period.  

3.3 The Framework has been procured in conjunction with the other Lincolnshire 
Authorities and Lincolnshire Procurement and in accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rules.   The tender was divided into geographical lots for each 
District area, with Contractors selecting the localities they were interested in 
working within in accordance with the pre-determined schedule of rates.  Within 
the scope of works are: bathroom adaptations, internal works and external 
works, concrete ramps and conversions.  Other larger schemes such as 
extensions will still be subject to a formal tender process and stairlifts and 
modular access ramps are installed under a separate Contract with a sole 
supplier.

3.4 The Framework is renewable annually up to a maximum of 4 years. Twenty 
three Contractors have met the criteria to be included in the Framework for 
South Kesteven. The Contractors are not guaranteed a minimum level of work 
through the Framework.

3.5 The Government Grant allocated to South Kesteven for Disabled Facilities 
Grants for 2019/20 has been announced as £859,556.

194



(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 Funding for Disabled Facilities Grants is paid to the Council as a grant via the 
Government’s Better Care Fund. The use of a Framework with a pre-determined 
schedule of rates ensures that best value is achieved.     

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The use of Framework Agreements is allowed for in the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules.  The Framework Agreement has a clear set of bespoke terms 
and conditions and detailed call off procedure.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard
e-mail:  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Telephone:  01476 406319

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

If the decision is made on Wednesday 12 June 2019, then it can be implemented 
on 21 June 2019 so long as it is not called in by the Chairman of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five members of the Council.

195

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for the use of the Countywide Framework 
Agreement (up to a maximum of 4 years) to appoint Contractors to 
undertake home adaptations funded by disabled facilities grants in 
accordance with that Framework.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to utilise the County Wide Framework Agreement for 
contractors to deliver home adaptations funded by disabled facilities grants

(2) Considerations/Evidence

As part of the streamlining of the disabled facilities grant process a county 
wide Framework to create a list of pre-qualified Contractors and a 
standardised schedule of rates has been established.  This negates the need 
to go out to quotation and reduces timescales for the completion of works, 
resulting in a quicker more efficient service for Clients.  It also ensures that all 
Contractors, regardless of where they work in the county are pre-qualified to 
the same standards and work for the same rates of pay. 

(3) Reasons for Decision:

Prior to the establishment of the Framework, works have been priced based 
on a schedule of rates (last fully reviewed in 2012), but with no formalised 
arrangement with Contractors the tender process resulted in delays and 
reduced interest from Contractors who have struggled to deliver the 
requirements against these rates.  As part of the new Framework, the 
Schedule of Rates has been reviewed and updated to reflect current market 
prices and will be fixed for the 4 year Framework period.
  
The Framework has been procured in conjunction with the other Lincolnshire 
Authorities and Lincolnshire Procurement and in accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rules.   The tender was divided into geographical lots for each 
District area, with Contractors selecting the localities they were interested in 
working within in accordance with the pre-determined schedule of rates.  
Within the scope of works are: bathroom adaptations, internal works and 
external works, concrete ramps and conversions.  Other larger schemes such 
as extensions will still be subject to a formal tender process and stairlifts and 

197



modular access ramps are installed under a separate Contract with a sole 
supplier.

The Framework is renewable annually up to a maximum of 4 years. Twenty 
three Contractors have met the criteria to be included in the Framework for 
South Kesteven. The Contractors are not guaranteed a minimum level of 
work through the Framework.

The Government Grant allocated to South Kesteven for Disabled Facilities 
Grants for 2019/20 has been announced as £859,556.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 12 June 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 13 June 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

21 June 2019

198



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Kelham Cooke – The Deputy 
Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR: Lianne Smith
Property Officer – General Fund Assets
Tel 01476 40 61 77
Email: lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

REPORT NO. PD0115

DATE: 21 June 2019 

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Consultation and proposed new lease of the former 
Arnoldfield Bowls Club, Grantham

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT Council Assets

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Any empty property may be vandalised or subject to anti-social 
behaviour or unauthorised occupation.

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via the Your Council and 
Democracy link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

n/a

Full impact assessment 
required?

n/a
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

Previous Report No. PD0065

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the current tenure of the former 
Arnoldfield Bowls Club premises (The Site) and to obtain approval to enter 
in to an additional new lease to Grantham Tennis Club Ltd. (The Tennis 
Club) of The Site for a period to end on the 19th April 2112, being consistent 
with the expiration date of the current lease of the club’s adjacent premises. 

199

Appendix 2

mailto:lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=23233&optionId=0


(2) RECOMMENDATION

2.1 In accordance with statutory procedure under Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 because the land is designated as statutory open 
space the Council will advertise The Site in the local newspaper for two 
consecutive weeks to ascertain whether there are any objections to the 
proposed transaction given to the grant of a new lease to Grantham Tennis 
Club Ltd of the former Arnoldfield Bowls Club, (The Site) edged red on 
Appendix A, attached to this report, for a period to commence as soon as 
practicably possible and expiring on the 19th April 2112. 

2.2 Any objections received will then be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration and determination prior to any lease being granted. If no 
objections are received, the lease will be completed in accordance with the 
recommendation in this report.  

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The freehold of the site at Arnoldfield sports ground, Gonerby Road, Grantham 
is owned by the District Council and has a variety of leisure facilities located 
upon it. The former Arnoldfield bowls club situated on The Site has been 
unoccupied since the bowls club ceased to operate on the 6th June 2014. 

3.2 The Tennis Club has previously been granted a lease from the 20th April 2013 
for a term of 99 years for the existing tennis club site and has expressed an 
interest in the vacant bowls club premises on a lease term consistent with their 
current lease. This would enable The Tennis Club to proceed with a plan for 
developing their facilities to incorporate The Site for use as hardstanding courts 
to Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) Standards.  

3.3 Since the agreement of The Tennis Clubs 99-year lease in April 2013 the club 
have significantly increased their membership subscriptions. The security that 
the lease has given The Tennis Club has enabled them to invest and assist with 
the council’s objective to promote leisure in the local community and provide a 
wide range of events and initiatives for the area. 

3.4 Examples of some of these initiatives are coaching groups for all ages and 
abilities including a full disability programme, Active at 60’s, Feeling Good 
project, tennis leaders, courses for teenagers, community schools programme. 
The Tennis Club are also investigating funding opportunities to develop park 
courts at Wyndham and potentially Dysart Park.

3.5 The Tennis Club will be responsible for the utility costs associated with The Site, 
maintenance and upkeep of any irrigation and drainage system serving The Site 
and will be required to maintain the existing buildings on The Site or to arrange 
for their removal and termination of all utility services currently supplied to the 
satisfaction of the Council.

3.6 As part of its obligations the Club will erect a fence between points A & B 
marked blue on Appendix A attached plan to an agreed specification.

200



3.7 The Council will continue to maintain the hedge surrounding the premises, 
rather than segmenting the maintenance of sections of the existing footpaths 
and vegetation surrounding The Site that would remain the Council’s 
responsibility. 

3.8 The lease is proposed at an initial rental of £600pa with an upward only rent 
review on every 5th anniversary of the lease commencement date. This will bring 
a regular income into the Council’s general fund portfolio and bring the vacant 
site back into use.  

3.9 The Tennis Club will be required to use The Site solely for the purposes of 
hardstanding tennis courts.

3.10 Should approval not be granted, The Site will continue to remain vacant, and 
will result in a continuing loss of potential income whilst empty, further 
marketing costs and potential damage to the premise from vandalism.

3.11 In accordance with the provisions with Section 123 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the Council must advertise the intent to lease the land to the Tennis 
Club. Any objections would be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration.

(4) COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

The financial details of the proposed lease arrangement are contained in the 
report. The specific elements of the lease have been negotiated with the 
proposed lessee and reflect that the site has been vacant for a period and this 
proposal will bring the site back into use.

5) COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The proposed disposal by way of lease must be advertised in accordance with 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. Any objections received must 
be considered before a lease can be granted.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Lianne Smith – Property Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
Email: lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If the decision is taken on 27 June 2019, the date effective will be 8 July 
2019 subject to no call in being implemented

201



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2013
Ordnance Survey 10018662

Scale 1/1031 Date 28/3/2019

Proposed Lease of Former Arnoldfield Bowls Club

Centre = 490949 E 337060 N

Report No. PD0115

203



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That in accordance with the statutory procedure under Section 
123(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the site referred to in 
report PD0115 will be advertised in the local newspaper for two 
consecutive weeks to ascertain whether there are any objections 
to the proposal to grant a new lease to Grantham Tennis Club 
Ltd of the former Arnoldfield Bowls Club for a period to 
commence as soon as practicably possible and expiring on 19 
April 2112.

Any objections received to be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration and determination prior to any lease being 
granted. If no objections are received a lease will be completed 
in accordance with the content of report PD0115.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for advertisement and to enter into a lease if no objections 
are received for the land at the former Arnoldfield bowls club.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The freehold of the site at Arnoldfield sports ground, Gonerby Road, 
Grantham is owned by the District Council and has a variety of leisure 
facilities located upon it. The former Arnoldfield bowls club situated on The 
Site has been unoccupied since the bowls club ceased to operate on the 6th 
June 2014. 

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The Tennis Club has previously been granted a lease from the 20th April 2013 
for a term of 99 years for the existing tennis club site and has expressed an 
interest in the vacant bowls club premises on a lease term consistent with 
their current lease. This would enable The Tennis Club to proceed with a plan 
for developing their facilities to incorporate The Site for use as hardstanding 

205



courts to Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) Standards.  

Since the agreement of The Tennis Clubs 99-year lease in April 2013 the 
club have significantly increased their membership subscriptions. The 
security that the lease has given The Tennis Club has enabled them to invest 
and assist with the council’s objective to promote leisure in the local 
community and provide a wide range of events and initiatives for the area. 

Examples of some of these initiatives are coaching groups for all ages and 
abilities including a full disability programme, Active at 60’s, Feeling Good 
project, tennis leaders, courses for teenagers, community schools 
programme. The Tennis Club are also investigating funding opportunities to 
develop park courts at Wyndham and potentially Dysart Park.

The Tennis Club will be responsible for the utility costs associated with The 
Site, maintenance and upkeep of any irrigation and drainage system serving 
The Site and will be required to maintain the existing buildings on The Site or 
to arrange for their removal and termination of all utility services currently 
supplied to the satisfaction of the Council.

As part of its obligations the Club will erect a fence between points A & B 
marked blue on Appendix A appended to report PD0115 to an agreed 
specification.

The Council will continue to maintain the hedge surrounding the premises, 
rather than segmenting the maintenance of sections of the existing footpaths 
and vegetation surrounding The Site that would remain the Council’s 
responsibility. 

The lease is proposed at an initial rental of £600pa with an upward only rent 
review on every 5th anniversary of the lease commencement date. This will 
bring a regular income into the Council’s general fund portfolio and bring the 
vacant site back into use.  

The Tennis Club will be required to use The Site solely for the purposes of 
hardstanding tennis courts.

Should approval not be granted, The Site will continue to remain vacant, and 
will result in a continuing loss of potential income whilst empty, further 
marketing costs and potential damage to the premise from vandalism.

In accordance with the provisions with Section 123 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the Council must advertise the intent to lease the land to the Tennis 
Club. Any objections would be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration.

206



Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and Property

Date of Decision: 27 June 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 28 June 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

8 July 2019 

207



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
9 July 2019

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

        

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2019 to 30 
June 2020
This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2019 to 20 June 
2020.

Report Author

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406152

j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support 
Assistant 24 June 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 24 June 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 25 June 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

209

Agenda Item 13

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum requirements for publicity in connection 
with key decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 
publication of its Forward Plan.

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 
Council or review the contents and take any necessary actions. Whilst it is not a 
requirement to publish this information in the Forward Plan, it is the Council’s practice to 
do so.

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 
consideration have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan (attached Appendix 1 to 
this report). The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the 
Council meetings due to be held within the plan period. 

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

have been considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The Forward Plan is published each month on the Council’s website. Cabinet Members 

will work with their officers to direct the timeline for each matter, taking account of 
opportunities to consult with the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees where 
appropriate.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirement to which the Council must 
adhere. Councils may use their discretion to publish information that exceeds the 
minimum requirements.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be undertaking. Where 

appropriate, analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions 
will be presented to Cabinet as individual issues come forward.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

210



9 Background Papers
9.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made 

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Cabinet Forward Plan, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 11 June 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not required

211

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. They may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 
the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

213

A
ppendix 1



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – 9 July 2019

Housing Strategy 12-month progress update (Monitoring Report)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider progress of the 
implementation plan

9 July 
2019

To refer any matters as 
necessary to the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Rural and 
Communities 

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Tenancy Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Tenancy 
Strategy for South 
Kesteven

9 July 
2019

To adopt a new Tenancy 
Strategy

Rural and 
Communities 

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Tenancy Agreement (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the draft 
Tenancy Agreement for 
consultation

9 July 
2019

To approve the Tenancy 
Agreement for consultation

Rural and 
Communities 

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Tenant Involvement Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Council’s 
Tenant Involvement Strategy 
as outlined in the approved 
resident involvement 
framework

9 July 
2019

To approve the strategy Rural and 
Communities 

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

214

mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Outturn (Monitoring Report)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Financial outturn report for 
2018/19

9 July 
2019

Make recommendations as 
necessary to the relevant 
overview and scrutiny 
committee

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services
16 July 2019
AND
Governance and 
Audit Committee
21 June 2019

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

Consideration of the draft 
Housing Delivery Test Action 
Plan

9 July 
2019

To adopt the Housing Delivery 
Test Action Plan

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 10 September 2019

Housing Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 

10 Sept 
2019

To approve the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 

Rural and 
Communities

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Local Plan (Policy Framework Proposal)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To approve a period of 
consultation on modifications 
arising from the Inspection of 
the Local Plan

10 Sept 
2019

To agree to go out to 
consultation on any 
modifications arising from the 
Local Plan Inspection

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
5 September 2019

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

215

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Proposed development brief for land at Stamford North (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the proposed 
development brief for land at 
Stamford North prior to 
consultation 

10 Sept 
2019

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land at 
Stamford North for consultation

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy

10 Sept 
2019

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 8 October 2019

Housing Delivery Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Cabinet 
Member for Housing

To consider the Council’s 
strategy to address the need 
for the provision of new 
social and affordable homes

8 Oct 
2019

To approve a Housing Delivery 
Strategy for the Council and 
approach to the provision of 
new social and affordable 
homes within the district

Rural and 
Communities
11 September 2019 Ken Lyon

Tel: 01476 40 60 52
E-mail: ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 12 November 2019

Customer Access Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Hannah Westropp, the Cabinet 
Member for Communications and 
Engagement

To consider the updated 
customer access strategy

12 Nov 
2019

To approve the Customer 
Access Strategy

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services

Nova Roberts
Tel: 01476 40 65 06
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

216

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:ken.lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – 10 December 2019

Council Tax Base 2020/21 (Recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To agree the Council Tax 
base for 2020/21, which will 
form the basis of the Budget 
proposals for the year

10 Dec 
2019

To determine the Council Tax 
Base to form the basis of the 
2020/21 Budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Draft Budget proposals
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Draft Budget 
proposals for 2020/21

10 Dec 
2019

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for 2020/21 for 
consultation 

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – 30 January 2020

Local Plan (Policy Framework)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

Consideration of the revised 
South Kesteven Local Plan 
following examination and 
notice of modifications

30 Jan 
2020 

To adopt the revised Local 
Plan for South Kesteven

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – 18 February 2020

Budget proposals 2020/21 (Budget framework – recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the final Budget 
Proposals for 2020/21

18 Feb 
2020

To approve the Cabinet’s 
budget proposals and 
recommend them to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

217

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Other items – dates pending

St. Peter’s Hill Re-development – office remodelling (Key Decision and recommendation to Council)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider proposals for the 
refurbishment of the offices 
at St. Peter’s Hill, following 
the first phase of works to 
provide high quality public 
realm through to the new 
cinema 

Not 
before 
1 Aug 
2019

To approve proposals and 
seek budget approval from 
Council

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

Information relating to this 
decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended because it 
contains information which 
relates to the financial or 
business affairs of an 
individual or organisation

Not 
before 
1 Aug 
2019

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Paul Thomas

Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the Rectory 
Farm Supplementary 
Planning Document following 
consultation on a draft 
document

Not 
before 
1 Aug 
2019

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
of Rectory Farm 

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Sylvia Bland

Tel: 01476 40 63 88
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council

To consider the draft Cultural 
Strategy for South Kesteven

Not 
before 
1 Oct 
2019

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy
12 July 2018 Michael Cross

Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk  

218

mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Housing Strategy 12 month progress update (Key Decision)
	Housing Strategy 1 year delivery Plan App 1 PDF

	5 Tenancy Strategy (Key Decision)
	Tenancy Strategy App 1 final images
	Tenancy Strategy - App 2

	6 Tenancy Agreement (Key Decision)
	TENANCY AGREEMENT App 1
	Tenancy Agreement - App 2 EIA

	7 Tenant Involvement Strategy (Key Decision)
	Tenant Involvement Strategy 2019 to 2024 final App 1 pdf.docx

	8 Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Key Decision)
	SK HDT AP - Final Report

	9 Outturn 2018/19
	Outturn report appendix 18-19 Final

	10 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	OSC_App1

	11 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	ENV 716 DFG framework
	BD ENV716 12.06.19
	PD0115 - 280319 - NKD Arnoldfield GTC
	Appendix A 280319
	KC PD0115 27.06.19

	13 Cabinet Forward Plan
	1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020


